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A Bank projected for development whose added 
value is framed within its essence and origin, is the 
distinguishing premise under which this Report  
is prepared.  

In this edition, testimonies of some clients from 
agricultural, livestock, industry-trade and service 
and individuals are found, which fill pages with their 
enthusiastic vision telling us who their effort and work 
led them to business success and how Banco Regional 
was an active part for these achievements  
by supporting them in each stage.  

The four chapters comprising this Report reflect how  
the management of Banco Regional supports the country 
through people. Thanks to the integral support provided 
through the entire process of development, the Bank  
is a platform for the achievement of personal and corporate 
goals.  

“Sow your success” is the concept that Regional takes  
to its business model, explained in detail in this publication, 
whereby the commitment to drive the growth of the client  
is consolidated in a trust relationship and collective work. 

ABOUT 
THIS  
REPORT

“We have the 
commitment to promote 
the growth of clients”
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Raúl vera
bogado

Dear shareholders,  

2017 has been, for Banco Regional, a period of 
consolidation and strengthening, thanks to the start of a 
greater dynamism in agribusiness where our institution 
excels in its leadership. The climate favored particularly 
the productivity of soybean that reached historical records, 
and international average prices above the  the minimum 
prices seen in 2014-2016 determined a more satisfactory 
scenario for a greater part of the agricultural sector. 
 
The livestock sector had also a very auspicious year, with 
a stable and sustained dynamism of exports and with very 
favorable prices that strengthened towards the end of 2017. 
The need to increase the cattle herd creates opportunities in 
the sector which will be supported by the Bank in the coming 
years. 
 
The primary sector had a real growth estimated in 4.8%, with 
agriculture, around 5.7%, being one of the main growth drivers 
in the Paraguayan economy alongside the manufacturing and 
commercial sectors.  
 
 

The banking sector had a challenging scenario, in which a slow recovery  
of the credits demand  started at the beginning of the second semester.  
The main characteristic in 2017 was a sustained reduction in interest rates, 
both in terms of lending and borrowing, reflecting the high liquidity which 
has prevailed in our domestic market and which, alongside the scarce 
dynamism of demand of funds in national and foreign currency,  
has resulted in a decrease of the financial margin.  

In line with our stablished goals, in 2017 our bank has  maintained its 
conservative character in credit management to sustain the quality of its 
portfolio, whose  delinquency ratio dropped to 2.17% lower than the 2.67% 
average in the banking system. In fact, we have limited our exposure to 
agricultural credit risks, whose demand for funding has only been gradually 
recovering since the start of this agricultural campaign around September 
2017, and we have also given priority to the reformulation of obligations 
from those clients who still required support after adverse impacts in 
prices from previous years. 
 
The prudent strategy and the scarce dynamism of credit had a conjunctural 
impact in our profitability that resulted in a ROE of 17.02%, lower than the 
21.24% ratio from the previous year. 

 At the same time, our balance sheet has continued to be robust with 
adequate liquidity and default coverage indicators, as well as strong 

solvency ratios of 14.60% and 17.66% for Tier I and Tier II, respectively, way 
above the minimum regulatory requirements.  

Certainly, in the Board and the Management we aspired to higher levels of 
profitability, but under the circumstances we considered it important to 
carry out a  a special effort to consolidate the strength and stability of our 
institution.
 
Even with a moderate profitability, the effort towards an ordered 
management and a cautious commercial appetite has been recognized by 
international rating agencies such as Standard and Poor’s and Moody’s, 
which have confirmed their respective ratings for our Bank. In addition, 
Banco Regional has been given the “Bank of the Year in Paraguay” Award 
by Latin Finance, an international magazine specialized in finance, for 
the strength shown in a challenging economic environment and due to its  
resilience amid the drop in agricultural commodities until 2016. 
 
Our Bank has a  promising margin  for business growth for the next few 
years with our current liquidity and solvency ratios . In fact, we forsee 
a moderate recovery of the demand for credits as a result of positive 
domestic and regional growth projections. 
 
In 2018, we estimate that the dynamism of the banking system will be 
influenced by the impact of the political situation as defined by the general 
elections and the transition to a new government, as well as the economic 
recovery of Brazil and Argentina. Our traditional corporate banking business 
will evolve in line with the sources of growth of the economy.  
 
The agricultural sector should face a positive external conjuncture with  
a relative stability of international prices , while the industrial sector should 
be influenced by the growing integration in supply chains with Brazil, and 
the fiscal positive impulse  will be key for the infrastructure sector. 
These factors, along with foreign trade stimulated by international prices 
and a more positive regional environment, should favorably affect the 
income per capita, subject to the projected stability in inflation and 
exchange rates, and all that in turn should expand the services sector  
and private consumption. 
 
This supposes that we will also find growth opportunities in the retail 
banking business, for which  we will continue to invest in new business 
models and value propositions, with a significant impulse in technological 
innovations to strengthen our digital banking capabilities. With this 
strategic orientation, we will expand our business scale to increase our 
income, and a greater operational efficiency with the continuity of a 
rigorous control of expenses will strengthen our profitability. 
 
 

In 2018, the financial market will find scenarios  
of opportunities and new challenges: the growing influence 
of non-traditional competitors such as “fintechs”, name given 
to those who provide digital financial services; regulatory 
changes of the new Banking Law approved in 2017; and  
a more rapid adjustment of international interest rates. In this 
scenario, the strength and stability of our institution will be 
key to consolidate access to international capital markets. 
 
The dynamism of business, the long-term commitment to 
our clients and the determination to drive the development 
of our communities have defined the strategic vision of our 
shareholders since the origin of our Bank. On behalf of the 
Board of Directors and the Management Team, I offer our 
deepest  appretiation to the Shareholders for their support  
and the conviction in building  a solid financial institution,  
well-known as the most significant for the development  
of our country’s productive f sector. 
 
Our origin and identity are valuable differentials that our 
clients and business partners recognize and inspire us  
to commit ourselves to solid values: honesty and integrity, 
professional focus and positive attitude. We will continue 
to uphold these values in each dialogue with clients and 
partners, in each daily activity, and we will continue to forge 
an institution with an ever-stronger vision: a vision  
of leadership in the financial industry and reliability with  
our clients, with our shareholders and with our communities. 
 
On behalf of the Board, our thanks to the Management Team 
and each of the Bank’s collaborators, for their conviction with 
this vision and their daily efforts in making it a reality with 
their commitment. 
 
Sincerely, 

Raúl Vera Bogado
Executive President

*President of Banco Regional

Message from
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memoria y balance 2017

“Our heritage inspires us  
to support clients to turn their 
efforts into achievements”

1. THE BANK
Inspired by its essence
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víctor 
Maehara

“Having the support of  
a bank that knows the 
field is very important”

“We approached the Bank due 
to the good disposition and the 
business focus it offers. When 
you have an institution that 
understands business in front 
of you, it is easier to make it 
real, because it comprises and 
knows what you are doing 
and where you can get to”.  

Agroganadera Ita Ka’avo is a family 

company producing bovine meat. In 2002, 

we started to explore other fields to diversify 

our business and it was on a trip to the 

Mennonite Colonies in Loma Plata that the 

livestock sector awoke my curiosity.  

As we come from a more complex and 

dynamic field such as the poultry industry, 

where a significant investment in technology 

is required, we took that way to face 

projects to livestock. A lot of planning  

was required.  

 

His profile:  

Bachelor of Business Administration from the 

National University of Asunción. He was awarded  

a scholarship to study in a university  

in Hiroshima, Japan, for a year. Upon his return, 

he joined the family business. He is the President 

of Agroganadera Ita Ka’avo S.A., the General 

Managing Director of Maehara S.A., the producer 

of Huevos Yemita and President of Financiera 

Paraguayo Japonesa S.A.E.C.A. He was also the 

President of the Brangus Breeders Association 

of Paraguay and a trade unionist in the Poultry 

Farmers Association of Paraguay. 

Our country offers too many opportunities to be  

an entrepreneur but one has to do a lot of research, 

plan and develop the idea. In this process, having the 

support of a bank that knows the field and which can 

help is very important. A lot of times, we have good 

ideas and the knowledge needed but, if we do not 

have resources, it is more difficult. It is also needed  

to have the bank’s trust and willingness to bet  

on the project.  

Regional is betting on the development and  

so are we. For Ita Ka’avo, development not only 

means producing, but also the professional growth 

of collaborators, the infrastructure and 

the incorporation of technology”. 
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THE BANK
Banco Regional is born to drive the 
development of people and companies, 
contributing through them to the progress of 
the country. It is inspired by the support to its 
clients to turn their efforts into achievements. 

1.1.

DESCRIPTION
 
Regional provides the necessary tools in the process of growth towards 
success. Our essence is based on that, the fundamental basis for all  
of our actions.  

In Encarnación, in 1991, the first chapter to set out a legacy of development 
for the country started, thanks to the work and dreams of our clients.  

Facilitating access to credit for producers of the department of Itapua  
and having a competitive financial institution close to clients and aware  
of their reality to take care of their specific needs as to agricultural products 
and services were the reasons that motivated the creation of the Bank.  

In light of this need, a group of businessmen of the area undertook the 
challenge to create the first Bank focused on agricultural business with 
headquarters outside of the capital of the country. Its founders set out  
a banking institution that offers financial solutions and also provided  
a source of jobs for its areas of influence.  

Thanks to the effort and the trust from clients, Banco Regional expanded  
its horizons managing to set out in the main cities of the interior  
of the country, as well as in Asunción and the Metropolitan Area. 

Name of the company

Collaborators

Branches

Address of the company

Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A.

649

36

Carlos Antonio López  Nº 1348 
e/ Arq. Tomás Romero Pereira 
y 14 de mayo, Encarnación
(Department of Itapua)
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NETWORK OF CORRESPONDENTS  
AND INTERNATIONAL MARKET
 
Dynamism and innovation are the main characteristics  
that left their mark in the management of business at the 
Bank throughout its evolution. For the purposes of complying 
with this vision of committing to the success of clients, 
the institution continuously sets out agreements with 
institutions of the field that serve as a platform to expand 
their businesses. Currently, Regional has the participation 
of Rabobank from the Netherlands as shareholder (38.40%). 
Another of the operations of reference was the acquisition  
of ABN AMRO Paraguay (100%).  

The Bank maintains a strategic alliance to comply with  
the commitment to support its clients with Correspondent 
Banks and Multilateral Organizations. 

Correspondent Banks: 

  Bank of America, USA
  Wells Fargo, USA
  Citibank, USA
  JPMorgan Chase & Co., USA 
  Rabobank, Holanda
  Commerzbank, Alemania
  SMBC, Japón
  Bank of China, China

Multilateral Cooperation Organizations:  

  IFC, Corporación Financiera Internacional
  IIC, Inter-American Investment Corporation
  USAID: Agency for International Development
  OPIC, Overseas Private Investment Corporation
  Responsability Investments AG
  BNDES, Banco Nacional de Desenvolvimento Economico e Social – BNDES
  DEG, Deutsche Investitions und Entwicklungsgesellschaft mbH
  BIO
  OFID, Fund for International Development
  CAF, Banco de Desarrollo para América Latina
  PROPARCO, Groupe Agence Francaise de Developpement
  FMO, Nederlandse Financierings- Maatschappij
  Bladex - Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior
  BID, Banco Interamericano de Desarrollo

With the vision to commit 
to the success of clients, 

the institution continuously 
sets out agreements with 

institutions of the field that 
serve as a platform to  
expand their businesses. 

NOTe

Vision

Mission

Values

To permanently innovate to be the Bank  
of successful and leading people  
of the development of the country.

To be committed to the success  
of our clients.

  Integrity 
  Professionalism
  Positive Attitude

INSTITUTIONAL 
STATEMENTS

1.2

 
FATCA: The FATCA Act is a law approved by the U.S. Congress in 2001  
that has the purpose of identifying American citizens and residents  
with assets overseas in financial institutions, to avoid tax evasion.  

Banco Regional is committed to compliance with this law, considering 
the close relationships that our institution maintains with international 
organizations and banks, many of whom are in the United States.  

Since 2015, Banco Regional has been successfully complying with annual 
reports and processes set out by this regulation. In March of last year, 
the corresponding report was filed, then continuing with the due diligence 
processes set out in the guidelines of this law. 
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LAUNCH OF REGIONAL WEB COMPANIES

Under the premise of being the Bank with presence in all channels, Banco 
Regional worked to strengthen its 24-hour service channels such as 
Regional Web and Regional Mobile for smartphones, so that clients can 
manage their accounts from wherever they are and whenever they deem 
convenient.  

For that reason and for the purposes of providing the best tools and 
functionalities in the market, Banco Regional launched a new version of its 
digital platform, exclusively for the management of companies. 
The site provides, among its main characteristics, the possibility to pay 
a wide variety of public and financial services, cards, etc., as well as the 
authorization in lots of several operations, streamlining processes and 
optimizing the time of users.  

The distinguishing factor offered to companies is that the access to 
features is more intuitive, in addition to schemes of steps to follow. 
The new platform presents a complete reengineering of Regional Web 
Companies, whose development implied the joint work of several areas of 
the Bank involved in this project for 12 months.  

From this single tool, one can access all of the products and features 
offered by the Bank, such as: balance inquiry, movements, payment of 
wages, payment to providers, loans, transfers in the country and abroad, 
registering and deleting employees from the payroll, among other actions. 
Other great advantages are the easiness to personalize the site placing 
the accounts in accordance with the client’s priority, practicality and 
adaptation as they can be used from any device and the incorporation 
of tags in movements of accounts and cards that will allow companies 
to organize their debits, expenses and investments in a better way, also 
obtaining a monthly graphic representation of them.  

The simplification of processes, upon request of users, was one of the 
central focuses when developing the web, which is why the site was 
consolidated grouping similar operations and providing the easiness of 
making one or several operations in just three steps. 

Under the premise of being the Bank with presence in all 

channels and for the purposes of providing the best tools  

and functionalities in the market, Banco Regional launched 

a new version of its digital platform, exclusively for the 

management of companies. 

 

 

MAIN  
EVENTS

1.3.

CHECKS TRUNCATION PROJECT

Checks truncation is a new mode for check clearing nationwide 
that replaces physical clearings of checks in national currency 
in the Clearing Chamber.  

With this project, check clearing in guaranies will be achieved 
digitally, using I.T. tools provided and administered by Bancard 
and supervised by the Central Bank of Paraguay. 

With its running, the following points shall be reversed:  
      The inefficient system for clearing due to its costs and  

  times required for liquidation.  
  Discontinued necessary equipment for processing.
  High operational costs from processing centers with limited 

geographic coverage (Asunción, Encarnación,  
Ciudad del Este). 

Banco Regional actively participates in the project as to the 
standardization of checks, inter-banking agreements, I.T. and 
technological process, testing and training as well as the 
planning of market communications, employing a team of 
collaborators dedicated to this task.  
 
 
 
 

Advantages for clients: 
  The risks of loss, destruction and delays of documents are  
  mitigated in transportation. 
  The times of clearing of checks are improved for all clients of branches        
  of the country with availability of funds in their accounts in the day or in 
  24 hours. 
  More efficient time of response to requests from clients on data or  
  deposits of cleared checks. 
  Redesign and standardization of checks, including magnetic characters 
  and security components to reduce frauds.

Significant milestones of the project

  Transfer of the physical clearing chamber of the central bank of  
  paraguay to bancard in the three affiliates: encarnación, asunción and 
  ciudad del este (april 2017). 
  Change to the new standardized format of checks for the entire financial 
  system (June 2017). 
  Enforcement of checks of the old format until November 2017. 
  Implementation of digital clearing of checks of HIGH VALUE (over  
  or equal to 3,000 million guaranies) for the liquidation in the day  
  (December 2017). 
  Implementation of digital clearing of checks of LOW VALUE liquidated  
  within 24 hours and liquidation of checks of HIGH VALUE (over or equal  
  to 1,000 million guaranies) in the day (March 2018). 

Banco Regional actively participates 
in the Checks Truncation Project 
thanks to a team of collaborators 
dedicated to this task. 

in 2017

MEETING OF THE INTER-AMERICAN  
DEVELOPMENT BANK

The Meeting of Governors of the Inter-American Development 
Bank was held from March 30 to April 2, in Paraguay. It was 
one of the most important meetings in the area of economic 
and social development of Latin America and the Caribbean. 
More than 2,000 international participants attended the 
meeting, among them, the Ministers of Economy and Finance 
of the 48 member-countries, leaders from the public and 
private sectors, representatives of civil society and the main 
Banks and Investment Funds around the world.  

The event was declared as one of National Interest by Decree 
No. 4240. The axis of development for the Meeting were: 
Youth, Innovation, Competitiveness. It has to be mentioned 
that after 52 years, Paraguay was once again the host of this 
meeting.  
 
In the Meeting, Banco Regional participated in around 40 
meetings with several Banks and Multilateral Organizations. 
The President, Directors, Managers and collaborators of 
Regional attended said meetings.  

From the Marketing area, there were a series of activities 
around the 58th Annual Meeting of Governors of the Inter-
American Development Bank and the 32nd Annual Meeting of 
Governors of the Inter-American Investment Corporation held 
in the Paraguayan Olympic Committee.  

The actions carried out and supported by Banco Regional are 
detailed below: 

Pre-Inauguration of the Meeting
 
Banco Regional was present alongside other official partners 
in the launch of the Meeting held on March 13, in the facilities 
of the Olympic Committee. 
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Press Conference

With the presence of the Ministry of Finance, Santiago Peña, 
and the President of the Central Bank of Paraguay, Carlos 
Fernández Valdovinos, Banco Regional called journalists for  
a Press Conference on March 28, in the Sheraton Asunción 
Hotel. The Executive President and the General Manager  
of the Bank also participated. 

Inauguration of the Meeting

After the accreditation of participants, the IADB Meeting started. The 
presence of the Regional brand was remarked in the several common 
areas of the Paraguayan Olympic Committee as well as in external areas. 
As an interesting action, bags were given by the Bank to each person in 
attendance who was registered as a souvenir.  

Regional-Rabobank Welcome Cocktail 

A Welcome Cocktail was held for 200 people on March 30 at the Museum 
of Clay to celebrate with the participants from several delegations. The 
event was attended by directors of the Bank, representatives of Rabobank 
and government authorities, alongside directors from local institutions. 
The catering service was entrusted to Talleyrand, and there was an artistic 
performance by Juan Cancio Barreto and his group.  

Meetings with multilateral institutions and government representatives 

In the 4 days of the Meeting, more than 30 meetings were held with teams 
of the Bank and multilateral organizations. The meetings took place at the 
World Trade Center and the Olympic Committee, where specially equipped 
and decorated rooms were prepared for that purpose. 

Paraguay was the host, after 52 years, of the 58th Annual 
Meeting of Governors of the Inter-American Development 
Bank and the 32nd Annual Meeting of Governors of the 
Inter-American Investment Corporation.  
Regional actively participated with activities exclusively 
designed for that purpose. 

SIPAP (PAYMENT  
SYSTEM OF PARAGUAY) 

National transfers via SIPAP are transfers that are processed 
among local financial institutions through a system provided 
by the Central Bank of Paraguay. Banco Regional actively 
collaborated in the implementation of this system and will 
continue to bet on it to provide an excellent service.  

Clients can make their payments to their own or third-party 
accounts in a safe and quick manner, in real time or through 
clearing. With an extended time for operations, from 8:30  
to 17:00, using options from Regional Web and Regional Mobile, 
payments do not have associated charges and do not have 
delays in internal processes as they are connected online.  
In the platform, one can inquire at all times on the vouchers 
and reports from previous transactions.  

In 2017, Banco Regional has processed, in relation to the other 
banks of the system and considering the amounts, 13%  
of payments in guaranies and dollars, and 10% in euros. It is 
important to note that as of November 2017, 23,542 transfers 
were made through Regional Web, while 1,811 operations  
in all currencies were made via branches.  

The trend is clearly leaning towards digital services, which 
presents an increase in the number of clients that migrate  
to the devices to perform their banking operations due  
to the comfort and speed they offer. 

Regional

Regional

Regional

Transfers between clients in guaranies

Transfers between clients in USD

1%

8%

10%

13%

5%

14%

5%

24%

21%

1%

1%1%

1%
1%

7%

17%

9%

3%

8%
7%4%

7%

7%
4% 11%

11%

2%

6%

1%4%

3%

2%
7%

2%

5%

1%

42%

14%

13%

Transfers between clients in euros
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Quantity – Transfers received in all currencies

Quantity - Transfers issued in all currencies

Quantity – Transfers issued in all currencies

30.000

30.000

25.000

25.000

25.000

20.000

20.000

20.000

15.000

15.000

15.000

10.000

10.000

10.000

5.000

5.000

5.000

1.047

1.782

14.300 15.404

19.264

15.659

18.784 18.957 19.548
21.210 21.353 22.019

23.542

1

1

1

2

2

2

3

3

3

4

4

4

5

5

5

6

6

6

7

7

7

8

8

8

9

9

9

10

10

10

11

11

11

15.976

15.037

2.519 2.172 2.620 2.106 2.458 2.503 2.377 2.297 2.037 1.909 1.811

15.088

16.197

20.159

20.201

16.785

16.386

16.113

19.754

20.446

19.822

20.446

20.417

22.528

22.007

22.378

22.060

23.500

22.775

24.889

24.177

Total Low Value

Total Low Value

Total Operations via WEB

Total High Value

Total High Value

Total Operations via 
Branches

474

1.379

1.910

1.683

2.884

1.379

3.326

1.488

3.241

1.638

3.017

1.508

3.447

1.500

2.859

1.330

3.235

1.153

3.070

1.176

LAUNCH OF THE VISA INFINITE  
REGIONAL CARD

The new Visa Infinte Regional was presented, which is the first credit card in 
the Paraguayan market that incorporates contactless wireless technology, 
providing speed to transactions, exclusive services and benefits around the 
world.  

The launch event was held in Encarnación with a cocktail party  
for exclusive private banking clients. The evening had music  
from the Cateura Recycled Instruments Orchestra.  

There was also a conference on “Economic Perspectives” in the La Misión 
Hotel in Asunción, lectured by Economist Manuel Ferreira. The new credit 
card was also presented to invited clients. 

Under the premise of adding to 
constant innovation, Banco Regional 
launched Visa Infinite. 

LAUNCH OF THE AGRICULTURAL GUIDE

CWith the goal of fostering social and economic development 

with good practices and environmental responsibility seeking 

the continuous improvement in productive processes, Banco 

Regional presented the Environmental and Social Guide 

 for the funding of national agricultural activity, a document 

prepared by the Sustainable Finances Desk of Paraguay. 

 
The manual was launched before authorities, agribusiness leaders and 
journalists. The presentation was led by Raúl Vera Bogado, President  
of Banco Regional, Huib-Jan de Ruijter from the Bank of Development  
of the Netherlands (FMO), Jorge Sienkawiec and Silvia Fernández, 
respectively as President and Manager of the Sustainable Finances Desk.  

The Agricultural Guide sets out the minimum guidelines for the analysis 
of environmental and social risks while granting credits for new clients 
and projects based on six criteria: conservation of forests remaining in the 
Eastern Region, opening of land for harvesting in the Western Region, using 
agricultural defense not allowed by local and international law or with high 

toxicity, management of dangerous waste and containers  
of agrochemicals, sustainable management of water 
resources and work and human rights conditions.  

As to clients with current operations, the process of adaptation 
occurs with renewals and/or extensions of their credit lines; 
through action plans in accordance with the provisions  
in their respective environmental licenses and plans  
for forest management. 

OPENING OF THE KRESSBURGO BRANCH

With the goal of providing ever more personalized products 
and services, as well as integral and close service, a new 
branch was opened in the city of Kressburgo, district of Carlos 
Antonio López, department of Itapúa.  

Located in Km 24 of the Maestro Fermín Road, the place  
is serviced by a specialized team of collaborators, who provide 
advice from 8:30 to 13:30. The facilities have all services 
opened from December 4. The branch is equipped with ATMs, 
SSTs and other devices to meet the demands from users 
immediately. 
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BANK OF THE YEAR IN PARAGUAY

Banco Regional was awarded as 
“Bank of the Year in Paraguay” 
by the international magazine Latin 
Finance due to its solid financial 
results and the favorable opinions 
from market analysts supported by 
ratings agencies”.  

 
“Few banks in Paraguay are as closely related to the agricultural sector  
as Banco Regional, in the country that is the fourth largest exporter  
of soybean in the world”, said Latin Finance. The level of capitalization,  
the total number of assets, the capital and assets profitability and the 
details of transactions were among the analyzed financial data.  

The magazine mentions that another of the main strengths of Regional  
is its resilience facing the drop in the commodities market in 2016.  
“The bank quickly moved to support clients due to the changing economic 
reality. With the restructuring of its loans, Regional maintained its 
defaulting rate at only 2% last year, which is below the average of the 
system whose defaulting ratio was 2.8% according to the Moody’s risk 
rating agency”. 
 
This award is given to the banking institutions in Latin America and the 
Caribbean that showed excellence in retail, commercial and investment 
services in the period between July 1, 2016 and June 30, 2017. 
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memoria y balance 2017

“Our Vision is to be the Bank 
of successful and leading people 
in the country”. 

2.CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
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Cristina 
Kress 

*Frutika 

“We need and have a 
bank that supports us in 
the agricultural industrial 
dynamics and we find that 
in Regional” 

“Banco Regional was present  
in the life of the company from  
its beginnings. During my term in 
office, I was invited by Rabobank  
twice to go to The Netherlands and 
Australia, where I learnt about the 
philosophy of the bank and realized 
that Regional shares the same 
principles of being there for producers, 
understanding them and supporting 
them”. 

“Frutika has been producing concentrates 

and finished products for the local market 

and export for 20 years. We have been 

working with producers in the field for 40 

years as pioneers in fruit farming. Currently, 

we export to Europe approximately 90%  

of the production and we do nectars and 

juices from the rest. Then, we started export 

in Tetra, which means that your product with 

your brand is available in a shelf in several 

languages.  

We are working with Regional as our lead 

bank and the opening of their branch here  

in Kressburgo is also our pride and we hope 

it to be a success. We are not big yet, but we 

have the potential.  

 

 

Her profile: 

Cristina Kress works in Frutika since she was 

20 years old. She is the Executive Director  

of the Kress Group for 10 years now. 

There had to be a visionary that projected towards 

growth, considering that the Bank always has 

development as a premise.  

We value the big bet of Regional with this new 

branch, which motivates us to help each other.  

In addition, many of our producers thanked us for  

the arrival to our city because they will no longer have  

to make long trips for their transactions. The 

feedback was very positive and it is still a Bank  

for the people, with good projections.  

If we compare it, it is the same bet that Banco 

Regional makes for a project with potential:  

it is a hope. Paraguay needs to have mid-term 

and long-term visions. We should all work on that, 

performing actions that have a greater impact  

in the development of our country”. 
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GOVERNANCE  
STRUCTURE

2.1.

Banco Regional adopts a creative and flexible style  
of management, although it has a vertical structure,  
as it allows and promotes participation of its members  
in the development of the business and the organization itself.  

The changes of the market and the trends marked by the new 
technologies generate daily challenges that can only  
be known and serviced through the active involvement  
of each collaborator.  

In our hierarchical line, the governance structures are: 
The General Meeting of Shareholders, which meets annually  
to analyze and discuss the financial statements and the way 
to use the dividends; and the Board of Directors, which  
is responsible for the direction and supervision  
of the functioning of the Bank following the defined strategic 
objectives. Directors have a managerial staff which is in charge 
of managing the many areas that comprise the organization 
and they are supported by auxiliary committees that are  
a specialized technical support unit. 

As of the end of 2017, 
the Board of Directors  
was comprised as follows: 

Executives:
Eugenio Oze de Morvil

General Manager

Matheus den Exter

COO

Óscar Elieser Godoy Silvero

Financial Manager

Walter Duarte Kallus

Corporate Banking Manager

Cynthia María Sotelo Galeano

Branches and Business Development Manager

Juan Carlos Meza Castro

Internal Audit Manager

Antonio Alejandro Giménez González

Compliance Manager

Marcos Dalla Fontana Cortessi

Internal Legal Counsel Manager

Jorge Sienkawiec Szostak

Corporate Banking Risks Manager

Per Mats Olof Hernegard

Individuals and SMEs Banking Risks, Recoveries  

and Models Manager

Katya Spiridonoff Benítez

Human Resources Manager

Isabel María Galiano Báez

Operations Manager

Mirtha González Espinoza

I.T. Manager

Fabio Sitzmann Hein

Administrative Manager

Anahí del Rocío Heisecke Rivarola

Private Banking Manager

Nelson Daniel Cibils Farres

Treasury Manager

María Fernanda Carrón de Pederzani

Correspondents and Foreign Trade Manager

Erica Bettina Werner Schmidt

Operational Risk Manager

Executive President

Vice-President

Regular Trustee

Alternate Trustee

Board of Directors and Trustees

Regular Directors

Alternate Directors

Raúl Vera Bogado

Cornelis Beijer

Roland Wolff

Sandra Yshizuka

Alfredo Raatz Becker
Petrus van Jaarsveld
Wolfgang Brönstrup Weiher

Irene Memmel de Matiauda
Erik Heyl
Francisco Yanagida
Adrián Lorenzutti 
Mirian Raatz de Soley

Committees: 
HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE
It is an executive body in charge of approving the implementation of sub-systems 
and practices of human resources according to the needs of the organization and the 
strategic plan of the Bank as approved by the Board.  

CREDIT COMMITTEE
It is responsible for ensuring compliance with the best practices, policies, 
proceedings, laws and standards set out by regulators to maintain a healthy and 
prudent administration of undertaken risks.  

RISKS COMMITTEE
Its objective is overseeing that the performance of the operations is adjusted to the 
objectives, guidelines and policies for the administration of operational risks and 
security of the Bank, as well as the limits of risk exposure (risk appetite) which had 
been previously approved by the Board. 

ALCO COMMITTEE
It is in charge of making decisions regarding the administration of transactions of 
assets and liabilities, receiving the support of duties performed by Treasury and 
other Departments in terms of report and analysis of expositions. It is also the 
tactical body to ensure the normal development and sustainability of the institution 
in the long term.  

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE 
It is responsible for the approval of the Manual of Anti-Money Laundering/Funding 
of Terrorism and Proliferation of Weapons of Mass Destruction. Said Committee has 
to analyze issues related to the area of Compliance that by regulatory implications 
or reputation may affect the Bank. In addition, it is in charge of verifying cases 
presented by the Compliance Area, determining the submission of the Report on 
Suspicious Operations to the Secretariat for the Prevention of Money Laundering. 

IT COMMITTEE 
It is in charge of formalizing the formation, responsibility and duties of the 
Committee for the Management and Planning of Technology Services (Technology 
Committee). 

INTERNAL AUDIT COMMITTEE 
It is an executive body with the main objective of supervising the management 
procedures for risk, control and government, especially those referred to the 
generation and issue of financial information, internal control system, vigilance 
procedure, compliance with legal requirements from regulators and the Code of 
Conduct of the Bank. 

MANAGERIAL COMMITTEE
It has the main objective of analysing issues related to the Budget and Financial 
Management, Commercial Management, Strategic Management, Operations 
Management, Administrative Management and I.T. Management; as well as 
undertaking internal resolutions within the limits of its competencies and submitting 
Minutes of resolutions to the Board.  
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STRUCTURE OF 
THE COMPANY   

Organizational Chart

RISK  
MANAGEMENT

2.2. 2.3.

The percentages of participation as to votes are distributed as follows: 61.60% for local 
shareholders and 38.40% for Rabo Development B.V. from The Netherlands as foreign 
shareholder. 

LIST OF SHAREHOLDERS

As of December 31, 2017, the shareholders are: 

Shareholders Percentage of  
participation in votes

Nationality / Country 
of incorporation

Minority local shareholders 51,43% Paraguay

Grupo Raatz 10,17% Paraguay

Rabo Development B.V. 38,40% The Netherlands

Likewise, the next table provides details about the shareholder that is part of the share capital 
of shareholding company Rabo Development B.V. 

Shareholder Percentage of  
paticipation in votes

Nationality / Country 
of incorporation

Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. 100% The Netherlands

SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Attention to the Social and Environmental Risk Management is focused on 
strengthening the relationship with the client, identifying, evaluating and 
managing risks generated by the activities of its endeavors. This is done to 
minimize possibilities of becoming indirect accomplices. The Bank has a 
list of non-fundable activities and a Risk Matrix based on an estimation of 
the risk of the funded activity and a determination of the exposure of the 
institution to that risk. The intensity of due diligence and the depth of credit 
conditions are defined with these two factors.  

Since 2016, Regional has incorporated satellite monitoring as an additional 
tool in Social and Environmental Risk Management to evaluate and 
supervise the environmental risks to which the Bank may be exposed.  

In 2017, the Environmental and Social Guide for Funding of Livestock 
Activities in Paraguay was implemented. It was devised by several banks 
in the market, members of the Sustainable Finances Desk of Paraguay. 
Likewise, last year, the Environmental and Social Guide for Funding of 
Agricultural Activities in Paraguay was developed alongside the members of 
said Desk, and its application started late last year. 

LIQUIDITY ADMINISTRATION RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Bank sets out this criterion based on the measurement of Liquidity 
Gaps, projecting its balance through time to calculate the minimum 
reserves of Liquid Assets (Buffer) in local and foreign currency so that 
liabilities can be complied with ease. The indicators that serve for early 
detection of future events that allow the advanced and timely reaction 
by risk managers are also controlled and analyzed. One of them is 
the Herfindahl Hirschman Index, which sets out a measurement for 
the concentration of deposits and the participation of the 50 largest 
depositors, in addition to other indicators such as ALN/DV, Loans/Deposits.  

The control of liquidity risks demands an exhausting process that allows 
management of liquidity in the short term and the need of funds in time, 
including the Commercial, Finance, Risks and Treasury areas with the 
purpose of complying with the goals proposed by the institution.  

Banco Regional, from 2008, is a Publicly-
Traded Company (Sociedad Anónima Emisora 
de Capital Abierto), mainly integrated  
by local shareholders.  

The focus on liquidity control has allowed the compliance in 
2017 with the stated goals, keeping a comfortable liquidity 
situation. 
It shall be mentioned that Regional has an area of Recovery 
& Restructuring which assists clients who are with financial 
imbalances so they can return to normal operations. 

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT

The exposure to price variations, such as the Exchange Rates 
and Interest Rates, are part of the integral risk management  
of Banco Regional. For that reason, in the Policy of Market 
Risks, the models of measurement, control and risk limits 
from the price variation are determined with accuracy. The 
Exchange Rate Risk includes models consolidated through 
limits of Value at Risk (VAR) of the positions in foreign 
currency. The individual positions are also controlled 
automatically. The limits proposed for the risk of quotation  
are more demanding than those set out by the Central Bank  
of Paraguay in its regulations.  

To measure the Interest Risk, there are models based on 
the measurement of sensitivity of the balance sheet to the 
variation of a basic point of the Interest Rates in the market 
(Present Value Basic Point – PVBP) and a VAR of Interest Rates 
as an auxiliary indicator of management. These measures 
allow us to project the Management of Assets and Liabilities 
of Interest Rates and to assess the risks for lending and 
borrowing positions undertaken and, therefore, to specifically 
manage the coverages and mitigation. 
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CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

The area of Credit Risk Management has proceedings and 
tools that make it possible to evaluate, undertake and control 
credit risks for the types of debtors, considering the many 
segments targeted by the Bank.   

In addition to the Recovery & Restructuring area, which 
assists Corporate clients, SMEs, Individuals and Small 
Companies, there is also an area of Portfolio Overseeing 
and Monitoring, which is in charge of the follow-up of early 
warning indicators in the Portfolio of Clients. The main basis 
for the analysis is the ability to pay for the debtor,  
as expressed by the regulator, the Central Bank of Paraguay, 
for the purposes of maintaining the credit portfolio of the 
Bank rated and establishing allowances that cover losses 
estimated in the recovery of the credits. 

OPERATING RISK MANAGEMENT

The Operating Risk management in the Bank has a 
governance structure based on three lines of defense and 
each line has its responsibilities clearly set out. Policies, 
standards and tools were defined to regulate management 
and support risk holders to identify, measure, assess, 
monitor, control and mitigate the operating risks and losses.  

The department of Operating Risk is led by the Operational 
Risk Management, which reports to the General Manager 
and the Risk Committee and is related to all of the other 
departments of the Bank. The incidents identified as 
Operating Risk are registered in a Database that allows  
to identify and manage opportunities of improvement  
to mitigate relevant risks. 

Ethical behavior and compliance with 
local laws in force.  

Avoiding participation or involving  
the Bank in a situation of conflict  
of interests.  

Professional and upright behavior. 
 
Respect to confidentiality and protection 
of the integrity and security of assets, 
communications, information and 
transactions. 
 
The treatment to all people related  
to the Bank, whether they are clients, 
providers, collaborators or others, must 
occur with justice, equality  
and professionalism. 
 
Respect to the commitments of the Bank 
with the society where it operates. 

CODE OF 
CONDUCT  

2.4.

Regional consolidates corporate values 
and conduct standards that must 
characterize each of the collaborators. 
The Values that guide us are: Integrity, Professionalism 

and Positive Attitude, which translate into these six 

basic principles in practice: 



40 4140 41

Jorge 
Samaniego 

“Banco Regional 
contributed to our growth 
throughout our history”. 

“With Banco Regional, we are 
working side by side. We have always 
been supported by the Bank and 
we are grateful for it. We have 
a personalized service which is the 
strength of Regional for our company. 
We receive the complete service that we 
need and we always receive it”. 

My wife and I created Reimpex in 

September 1992. We were both 32 

years old when we joined our strengths, 

administration and foreign trade, to create 

our own business unit and to contribute, 

through it, to the country’s economy.  

In the first ten years, we were exploring 

the internal and external market and we 

found the ideal product in motorcycles. 

We entered at the right moment when 

Chinese-made motorcycles reached 

competitive levels in terms of quality and 

price. In 2012, we expanded to three wheels 

with three-wheelers. Then, our Chinese 

providers suggested us to install an 

assembly line of multi-model cars.  

His profile: 

Jorge Samaniego calls himself an introvert, 

family-man, admirer of intelligence, 

innovative, constant and creative. He is 

the president of Grupo Reimpex, which is 

comprised by the companies Reimpex S.R.L., 

Sambarie S.R.L., Clifton S.A. and Fundación 

Álvaro Arturo. He is also the President 

of the Paraguayan Industrial Chamber of 

Motorcycles and Automobiles (CIPAMA, for its 

Spanish initials).

We are currently focused on providing 

Paraguayan families with their first cars 

which will be national products.  

From our perspective, we see that 

Paraguay is a country that is free from 

numerous economic restrictions that have 

been created in the region. It is easy to be 

an entrepreneur locally because there is a 

legal framework that facilitates business.  

 

Ethics are our main principle when working 

and negotiating. We are very proud to 

contribute to the Paraguayan automotive 

industry. 

*Grupo Reimpex
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Our Mission: 
To be committed to the 
success of our clients. 

3. A BANK
projected for development
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Luis 
Ramírez

*Center for the Development of Intelligence (CDI-Centro para el 
Desarrollo de la Inteligencia)

“There is an 
extraordinary synergy 
with Regional”. 

“The relationship with the 
Bank was made possible 
mainly because we have  
the same principles:  
we want development, 
education and a better 
society”. 

We have been working on and dreaming 

about a space that responds to the 

innovative educational method for 15 years 

and today, it is a reality. In the world, few 

achievements are magically done, there is 

more sweats, effort, work and consistency; 

values which take you to the goal.  

Few support the projects when they are 

being sowed, it is a challenge that can  

only be taken based on the construction  

of mutual trust.  

Today, it is most important to teach on how 

to think, and that is the main axis for school. 

As a second issue, learning is carried out 

considering the development of the person, 

and in third place, the type of intelligence  

to be developed is determined so that the 

teenager can be oriented based on what  

His profile: 

Luis Ramírez is a psychologist, educational counselor and 

learning coach. He was one of the founders of the Center 

for the Development of Intelligence and is an expert on 

theories of intelligence development. He is part of many 

Latin American commissions on educational development 

from early childhood and is a member of the Worldwide 

Association of Childhood Educators. He also works in the 

development of projects related to sport such as Partidí, 

which uses football to educate in vulnerable communities. 

He is the founder of the South American and World 

Network of Street Football and Together for Education.

he or she knows to be and do.  

For that reason, we are very happy that Banco 

Regional joined this work, because it is not just 

supporting a construction: it is funding the future,  

it is helping to build a better country with an 

educational model that provides more opportunities.  

 

The schools of today and the future have to develop 

young people in their life projects. There is no magic, 

but a vision of the future.  

The transformation is carried out betting, investing, 

and the investment has two main aspects: an 

economic vision and a human vision. This is what  

we have managed to encapsulate with this project,  

the human development as a central axis coinciding 

with the essence of Banco Regional”. 
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WE ARE 
A GREAT TEAM

3.1.

PROFILE

The professional development of each of our collaborators is 
one of the main objectives, considering that this guarantees 
the success of our company. 

SUMMARY OF TRAINING EVENTS

Type of activity Participants

Training on Adjustments to the Process of Renewals, 
Refunding and Restructuring of Loans (3R)

223

Training on Products of Transactional Banking 129

Training on Use and management of agenda for 
campaigns, Guide for the allocation of managers and 
Alternative Channels Roundtable

118

Training on Transfers abroad – Personalized commission 
by range

56

Training on Prevention of fraud in methods of payment 47

Training on Credit Risk Analysis 42

REGIONAL UNIVERSITY

In addition to the training carried out within the Annual Plan, we 
implemented the following virtual courses on our E-learning Regional 
University Platform: 

Course Participants

Transfers issued for abroad and within the country, SIPAP 330

Security of information: Threats to users 722

Business Continuity Plan 767

Compliance, Level V 720

As of December 2017, the list was comprised by 649 
collaborators. Renewing the commitment with society  
and seeking to have a seedbed of talent, we received 52 
interns this year from universities and high schools. 

ORGANIZATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

We have an Annual Training Plan whereby the applications  
of courses presented by each area are consolidated. 
In addition, activities are planned with the objective of 
strengthening the skills of our collaborators to support 
strategic initiatives of the Bank.  

In 2017, 156 training courses were carried out internally  
and externally, led by instructors from the Bank and external 
instructors, reaching an average of 93% of the total  
of collaborators. The total investment was of PYG 2,249,019,812. 

MenWoman
238 411

INTERNAL RECRUITMENT

Betting on the growth of the members of our team and complying with our 
Career Plan, in 2017, there were 33 internal competitive selection processes 
and 60 promotions to cover vacancies.  

SUPPORT TO SPECIALIZATIONS

Six collaborators were given support based on the Postgraduate Studies 
Support Policy last year, from the following areas: 

  Individuals and SMEs Risks
  I.T. 
  Legal Counsel
  Compliance

It was implemented with the goal of promoting professional growth of our 
collaborators, undertaking 50% of the total cost of the chosen program 
according to the defined criteria for assessment. 

RABOBANK TALENT PROGRAM

This training of two months in the Offices of Rabobank in Utrecht, The 
Netherlands, is one of the most attractive ones for collaborators. A page was 
opened in the intranet where interested parties could file their applications 
if they complied with the required profile. The final selection was carried out 
by the Managerial Committee.  

The intensive training program helps participants to know more about the 
strategic challenges of Rabobank in the management of its businesses. 
It also provides the benefit of cultural exchange in leadership and a more 
integral and efficient view of banking business.  

In addition, the training offers coaching sessions for personal development 
with an external advisor to identify strengths and learn new skills and 
behavior on leadership and management with the support of a coach of 
Rabobank during the entire process.  

The latest representative of the Bank in this Program highlighted the sense 
of belonging of all collaborators and that they are in line with the vision and 
mission of the institution. 

LEADERSHIP TRAINING PROGRAM  
– JOHN MAXWELL TEAM

Advancing towards the big challenge we have proposed to ourselves, which 
is reinforcing and consolidating the leadership of our collaborators, plus the 
habit of planning as a practice that opens up numerous possibilities, we 
started to form our “Leadership School” of Banco Regional.  

This program is certified by “The John Maxwell Team” and was led by 
consultant firm Paraguay Leadership Team, the official representative of 
the programs in Paraguay. All Branches and Regional Managers of the Bank 
participated in the six events held for full days. 
 

COLLABORATORS

We reinforce and consolidate 
the leadership of our 
collaborators. 

Important social support projects were presented to close the 
event, carried out by participants with the following titles: 

  For children’s happiness
  Sharing one day with children from a home or school
  For children’s smiles
  The education of children as a basis for the future
  Happy face
  The balance of a smile
  Visit to the indigenous community of Santa Rita
  Support to poor schools with the provision of products 

that supermarkets take off shelves but which are fit for 
consumption.

“WE BUILD THE ROAD TOGETHER” 
WORKSHOP 

Seeking to strengthen Positive Attitude, trust and improve 
communication, two team workshops were held with 136 
members of the commercial and support areas. They were 
carried out in Asunción and Encarnación with the support  
of consultant firm Gómez Insúa. 

CASCADING COMMUNICATION WORKSHOP

Since 2017, we have the support of the company BW 
Comunicación Interna for all actions related to strengthening 
and optimizing communication activities in the Bank. One of 
the main works of the year was a Cascading Communication 
Workshop, attended by the entire Managerial Team.  

It had the goal of raising awareness on and learning about the 
importance of communication in its role, which represents a 
significant vehicle for information, the importance of active 
listening and how to broadcast ideas correctly. We currently 
have a “Cascading Manual” which is in process of being 
implemented. 
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BREAKFAST WITH THE GENERAL MANAGER

Another initiative within the Internal Communication Plan 
was carrying out Dialogue Breakfasts between the General 
Manager and collaborators from different areas of the Bank. 
In addition to communicating the results of the business, 
participants had the opportunity to share experiences and 
opinions on several issues.  

These meetings were held in the Headquarters and in the 
Offices in Villa Morra and Ciudad del Este, adding up to 15 
meetings attended by 195 collaborators selected at random. 

“REGIONAL SAVINGS TIPS” COMPETITION

In commemoration of the Savings Day, there was an internal 
competition with the purpose of promoting the importance 
of savings in the families’ economies and personally. 
Collaborators sent their Savings Tips and the top 20 were 
awarded with money boxes and their advices were published 
on the Bank’s social media. 

WE WEAR THE SHIRT

To strengthen the team spirit and the practice of our values, 
shirts were given to all members of the Bank and they were 
invited to send photos alongside their partners wearing the 
shirts inside the offices. To promote the “Regional Identity”, 
collaborators can wear the shirts in the many activities 
promoted by the Bank or in which the Bank participates. 

“ENJOY SPRING YOUR WAY” COMPETITION

This activity had the objective of promoting participation  
and leadership from collaborators through photographs.  
An assessment committee chose the picture that represented 
the Regional Spring best, considering the institutional colors 
and the issue of the values of the Bank. 

“TODAY, WE ALL WEAR THE SHIRT TO 
HELP” INITIATIVE.
“ALL FOR ÑEEMBUCÚ” INTERNAL DRIVE

Banco Regional joined the Paraguayan Red Cross in the drive 
named “All for Ñeembucú” to support those affected by the 
 

Medical Insurance: Coverage of 80% of the cost for the beneficiary and 
the basic family group. 

Life Insurance:  Coverage of 100% of the cost of the life insurance. 

Marriage: 5 working days off and a subsidy for marriage.

Maternity and Childbirth: 126 calendar days of license for maternity. 

Breastfeeding period of 90 minutes per day for 6 months from the date 
of return. 

A present is given for the newborn.

License for illness of children: 10 working days per year for the mother 
and father. 

Family bonus:  6% of the minimum wage of the Bank, for children up to 
17 years-old, paying the double for children of widower workers. Addi-
tional 50% family bonus for employees with children with disabilities. 

Subsidies: For the death of a spouse, children or parents of the employee
   For the birth of a child of the employee
   For marriage.

Day care benefit: Amount set out by the Collective Contract, for the 
payment of day care of children up to 4 years-old. 

License for college exams: 12 annual working days off paid for people 
who undertake college education and who must take regular exams are 
conceded.

Monthly stipend: Amount set out according to the Collective Contract.

Uniforms: Twice a year (one for winter and another one for summer).

Birthdays: Right to a day off for birthday, to be exercised in the month of 
the birthday. 
A birthday present is given to each collaborator. 

Workers’ Day: Celebration of the workers’ day per region.

End-of-year present. 

Presents for Mother’s Day and Father’s Day: Presents are given for 
Mother’s Day and Father’s Day. 

Providing benefits to promote the integral development  
of our team and retaining our talent. 

 flooding in the south of the country. We proposed to delivery 
 700 food kits, 321 of which were donated by collaborators and directors 
and the rest was completed by the Bank,  
for the families that were in most need in the Cerrito locality in Ñeembucú. 
On August 19, the food was given to the affected families alongside with 
volunteers of the Red Cross. The help reached 3,500 people. 

ADDITIONAL BENEFITS: 

We comply with all benefits stated in the Law for collaborators and their 
families. In addition, we invest in other additional benefits to promote the 
integral development of our team and retain our talent. The main benefits 
are:  

BENEFITS GRANTED

OUR 
CLIENTS

3.2.

Inspire us

GENERAL PROFILE OF CLIENTS

We ended 2017 with 103,515 clients, 95% of which correspond 
to Individuals and 5% to Companies. The ranking of distribution 
of clients from the 36 branches per zone is as follows: 

  Central, 49%
  Alto Paraná, 21%
  Itapúa, 19%
  Guairá, 3%
  Caaguazú, 3%
  Canindeyú, 2%
  Amambay, 2%
  San Pedro, 1%

As to the age range, we prove once again that the 20-40 years 
(Client Profile) range is top one with 60%. 

WHAT DO WE OFFER?

Thinking of the new needs of our clients, in 2017, we continued 
to innovate on the existing tools, offering new products and 
services.  

We detail the new developments as follows: 
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PRODUCTS: 

Credit cards
In 2017, we introduced the Visa Infinite Regional, the first 
card that incorporates contactless technology of wireless 
communication in Paraguay, granting speed to transactions, 
exclusive services and benefits worldwide.  

Regional was the first bank to implement this technology 
in the country and it also collaborated with businesses 
for its gradual incorporation. Currently, more than 10,000 
businesses already have operational contactless technology 
in the country, with more than 500,000 partner businesses 
around the world.  

Contactless is an innovative technology of connection with 
the card’s antenna with the POS from the business. The client 
making a purchase puts its card close to the POS, types the 
PIN number and the transaction is carried out. However, this 
technology is not excluding, as the transaction can also 
be made using the chip or the magnetic band as the card 
maintains its traditional features.  

Aware of the fast advancement of the digital era, Banco 
Regional keeps adding value to its large portfolio of products 
and services, reinforcing its bet on innovation and promoting 
new technological tools.  

Direct benefits: With the purpose of generating unique 
experiences and providing facilities for the daily life of clients, 
Regional made an exclusive personal assistant service 
available for users of the new Visa Infinite.  

Another of the advantages is the access to Visa Luxury Hotel 
Collection, the most complete program of exclusive benefits, 
present in the most prestigious hotels around the world, 
offering the status of VIP guest, guarantee of best fee, upgrade 
of room, extended check-out, free access to internet, Valet 
Parking and other services.  

Travelers can also access the best program of VIP Rooms at 
airports through the Priority Pass that allows to enjoy all of 
the comforts of more than 1,000 VIP rooms in more than 500 
cities and more than 130 countries.  

The Visa Infinite Regional also offers the special benefit 
of adding up points with purchases made locally and 
internationally. Cumulative points can be exchanged as part  
of payment in partner businesses in the country. 

Manhattan Project: 
The Bancard processing company opened the Manhattan project to 
increase the number of partner businesses to its network, allowing the 
Bank to get new clients and promote new additional services to the existing 
ones, in addition to channeling the flow of sales of businesses through 
Credit and Debit Cards. 

Digital Loans: 
Banco Regional has expanded its channels for the reception of loan 
requests, entering the digital world. For that reason, it has started mass 
campaigns in social media to facilitate access to credit with one click.  
The main focuses are personal loans, travel, automobiles and housing.  

Advanced Vacation Loan: 
In December, the Advanced Vacation Loan was launched, exclusively for 
active employees of Itaipú Binacional. It consists of specific operations with 
fixed-term with a single expiration date. Terms go from 30 to 180 days, and 
the collection of interests and commissions is advanced.  
 

Cash back: 
From August of last year, clients have the possibility of accessing the cash 
back service. It is a return of cash back for purchases with their Debit Card 
of the Bank in partner businesses of the network.  
 

Local guarantees granted on the order of construction 
companies with the intention of consortium: 
Seeking to constantly innovate and promote growth, Banco Regional 
allows construction companies that bid for government projects to have 
the support of the Bank as guarantee without the legal establishment of a 
consortium.  

FOREIGN TRADE: 
 
We strengthened the “funding for import and export” service (before and 
after loading) with preferential rates up to 360 days, allowing the client  
to make a flow of payments and collections in accordance with the behavior 
of the nature of the business, also facing its obligations with providers  
and clients from abroad in due time and manner. 

With this special funding, it can also combine payments/collections  
of letters of credit and collections.  

We support the commercial action with visits to clients and leads offering 
technical support as to the international systems of payment and 
guarantees, getting more operations concluded with 24% of effectiveness.  
 

We also sped up the service of forms of Foreign Trade, facilitating clients 
with digital access to said forms from the website of the Bank, saving time 
managing and providing more practicality when filling them. 
 
On other issues, we have trained importer/exporter clients in “Fraud in 
International Trade”, in a workshop alongside specialists from Wells Fargo 
Bank of America. Collaborators of the commercial sector of the Bank also 
attended the event.  

Keeping up with the strengthening of the knowledge in International Trade, 
we have participated in the Tampa Citibank Workshop, which offers an 
annual update on payments, fraud, risks, new correspondent services  
and the future international business of banks.  

We led the “Presidency of the Commission of Banks of the International 
Chamber of Commerce - Paraguay” based on Paris, France, where we set 
the objectives that we will pursue in the following years of administration 
alongside with the other partners and the Association of Banks of Paraguay 
(ASOBAN). We promoted the unification of technical criteria of Foreign Trade 
and the International Certification of people in charge of local banks, for 
which we obtained alliances with foreign providers.  
 
We undertook the “General Coordination of the Committee on Foreign Trade 
of ASOBAN”, reactivating said organization whose main activities last year 
were the unification of the process of notice of letters of credit  

of export between national banks; the process of execution 
of banking guarantees in favor of the State Sub-Secretariat 
for Tax and the opening up of a channel of communication 
with representatives of that State Sub-Secretariat and the 
Ministry of Finance to consider issues such as electronic 
payments, support of export operations, among others. 
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TREASURY:  

Exchange Desk: 
The Exchange Desk is responsible for offering current and 
available Treasury products, such as: FX Spot (Cash Forex 
Exchange) and FX Forward (Future Exchange Contract).  

2017 was a year of review of the business model due to 
the little volatility of the exchange rate, which affected the 
traditional activity of changes in the Spot market. It was also  
a year to present the FX Forward product to clients, seeking  
to provide depth and liquidity to said market. The little volatility  
of the exchange rate leads to the reduction of the spread. 

FX Spot (Cash): 
It is the main market operating in Paraguay. The main 
currencies negotiated by the Exchange Desk are USD/PYG and 
EUR/PYG. The Treasury Operators are among the most used 
distribution channels, who perform daily contacts via phone 
as main channel, as well as through e-mail, branches and 
visits to clients. In 2017, this last channel was the focus with 
the purpose of strengthening bonds, identifying business 
opportunities and marking the presence in the market. 
 
Exchange operations can be made through Regional Web, 
facilitating self-management of clients and helping with the 
efficiency of processes. 

FX Forward: 
It is a less developed market than Spot so last year, we were focused 
on presenting the product to clients, showcasing its advantages when 
mitigating the exchange rate risk and offering certainty aiming to the 
future and the projection of business.  

Since 2018, the valuation of this product will be made with market 
prices. This has an accounting and result impact and shall be the 
start of adjustments in the valuation of assets at market prices to be 
implemented.  

Also, in 2017, upon request from Rabobank, the Volcker Rule Program 
was implemented. It aims to prevent that financial institutions perform 
trading operations (Negotiation) on their own, seeking to benefit from 
price movements. With team work in the areas of Treasury, Market Risk, 
Compliance, Operational Risk and Correspondents, the Program and the 
Policy were applied. The analysis must be reported quarterly to Rabobank 
and once a year, there shall be an agreement for the compliance with  
the Rule. 

Money Desk: 
The liquidity position of the Bank, the interest rate risk, the financial 
match and interest rates are managed in the Money Desk. The Money 
Desk, in 2017, had local and foreign currency interest rates with a 
downward trend, an excess of liquidity and an active secondary market. 

The main transactions performed were: placements in the Overnight of the 
Central Bank of Paraguay, Interbanking REPO, Interbanking CALL Money, 
negotiation of savings certificates in the secondary market; auctioning  
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of fundraising of institutional investments and definitive sale of Letters  
of Monetary Regulation to financial institutions.  

For the Money Desk, 2017 was a year of growth in its activities, due to 
the excess of liquidity of the financial system and Banco Regional during 
practically the entire year. As a counterpart to this increase, interest 
rates dropped throughout the twelve months, aligning with the rate  
of the Targeted Monetary Policy of the Central Bank of Paraguay, which 
closed at 5.25%. 

CORPORATE BANKING: 

Livestock Banking: 
Throughout the year, there was active participation and support from 
the Bank and executives in the many events of the livestock sector, 
being sponsors of auctions/fairs from important livestock companies 
who are clients of Regional. Likewise, strategic alliances continued with 
the Paraguayan Association of Nelore Farmers and Association of Angus 
Farmers of Paraguay.  

We maintained the Bank’s good relations with the Paraguayan Rural 
Association (ARP, for its Spanish initials) and its different regional 
entities. We participated as sponsors to the Annual Conference of the 
Beef Meat International Alliance (International Seminar) organized by 
the ARP and we also have, since last year, ads in the LED screen of the 
Headquarters of the ARP on Transchaco road.  

Likewise, we maintained an optimal commercial relationship with the 
main leaders of the meat industry, operating with lines of credit and  
in constant improvement of the products offered to the refrigerating 
sector. 

There was a sustained growth of the livestock portfolio  

of the Bank, incorporating new clients with products  

and services tailored to the current need. Likewise,  

we continued with actions with pre-approved lines  

to get new clients. 

As a change to the process of annual review of credit risks or opening 
of new credit lines, there were visits to the livestock establishments 
of clients accompanied by the commercial executive and credit risk 
analysts or social and environmental analysts.  

We participated in the main exhibits targeted to the livestock sector, 
having usual dinners with clients within the framework of the Expo 
Mariano Roque Alonso, as it was the most heavily attended. Likewise,  
we also sponsored the 2017 CEA Congress.  
 
 

The following actions are also remarked: 
  The main managerial team of the Bank made a visit to three 

Mennonite colonies in the Paraguayan Chaco to define the 
place for the opening of the Chaco Branch to be completed  
in the first semester of 2018. 

  In October, representatives from the Risk area and the 
Commercial area visited the city of Sao Paulo, Brazil, for an 
event called Minerva Day, organized by said multinational 
company, to get to know the businesses of the group 
as well as its industrial plants and to visit the livestock 
establishments. 

Transactional Banking: The department of Transactional 
Banking is part of the Corporate Banking and it has the 
purpose of providing services mainly oriented to companies, 
to offer solutions that satisfy their needs of transactional 
services. The following services are highlighted from those 
currently available:  

Regional Salaries: It covers the salary and wages payment 
needs of the company. The collaborators of our clients that 
collect their salaries through our services have access to 
special benefits.  

Payments to Providers: It allows clients to move the circuit 
of payments of their company to the Bank. The service 
is run through debits from the account of the amounts 
corresponding to the invoices for the provision of goods and 
services.  

Transport of securities: It provides the service of transport 
of securities in an alliance with one of the most prestigious 
transporter of securities in the country. The service enables 
our clients the management of deposits and withdrawals of 
large amounts, protecting them from operating risks.  

Direct Debit: The service is available for clients that wish to 
move to the Bank their service of collection. It is a system 
through which the Bank deposits to the account of the client, 
the contracting company, the amounts of the installments or 
collections from their clients.  

Custody and management of checks: It is for companies that 
perform their sales on credit and manage a significant volume 
of checks with advanced dates, drafted against local banks.  

Payments to Businesses: Available for clients that have a 
POS in their businesses to carry out sales with credit or debit 
cards, choosing to direct said transactions to their accounts in 
the Bank.  
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We have also signed new agreements with: 

Cool Seed is an industry located in Santa Tereza, Parana, in Brazil, where 
post-harvesting equipment and technology, such as air handlers, 
coolers and seed dryers are manufactured. Important local companies 
already have equipment with this brand and we hope to make significant 
businesses through this agreement in 2018. 

A commercial agreement was signed with these two important local 
companies to fund machinery and construction equipment of several 
brands for road works. Both Rieder and Motormarket are known for the 
excellent level of service provided to clients, as well as the world-renowned 
brands they represent. 

Presence in Exhibits and Fairs: 
As a corporate bank with origins in the agricultural and livestock sector 
and which is strong in this segment, the Marketing area promoted an 
active presence in the main fairs and exhibits in the country and worked 
alongside the commercial area to obtain positive results. The participation 
in the following events can be noticed: 

  Agroshow Copronar (Naranjal - Alto Paraná)
  Expo Curuguaty (Curuguaty - Canindeyú)
  Feria Innovar (Colonia Yguazú - Alto Paraná)
  Expo Itapúa (Encarnación - Itapúa)
  Expo Canindeyú (La Paloma - Canindeyú)
  Expo Santa Rita (Santa Rita - Alto Paraná)
  Expo Mariano Roque Alonso (Mariano Roque Alonso - Central)
  Agrofest (Naranjito – Alto Paraná)
  Festival del Agro en San Alberto (San Alberto – Alto Paraná) 
  Expo Guairá (Villarrica - Guairá)
  Agrodinámica (Colonias Unidas - Itapúa)

 

Petrobras Flota: Through an agreement with Petrobras, 
our clients can buy fuel and lubricants for their vehicles, 
providing information that allows them to have a more 
efficient logistic management. 

Strategic alliances: 
The Strategic Alliances Management is in charge of 
managing agreements with several international factories 
and local firms. These commercial alliances were formalized 
with the purpose of supporting the sale of agricultural 
machinery, construction equipment and sundry machinery, 
to improve the level of service offered to clients of the 
companies (dealers) and Banco Regional. The results 
achieved were very positive, as through the joint effort of 
the factory/dealer and the Bank, very favorable financial 
conditions can be offered to clients. 

CNH:

Total of funded units: 427

This alliance was executed in October 2012. CNH has its 
main office in Curitiba, Brazil, in the same city where there  
is a significant factory of the New Holland brand. 

AGCO:

Total of funded units: 24

This agreement was formalized in November 2016 and the 
first campaign was started in early 2017. The main office  
of AGCO is in Canoas, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil. There, it has  
a factory of the Massey Ferguson brand. 

It is important to highlight, as a plus, that there was a talk for clients in Expo 
Santa Rita this year. For that purpose, there was the special participation 
of Professor Silmar Peske of the company Cool Seed, an expert on grains 
for farming and with a vast experience in research to improve them. 
The subject chosen for the talk was “The Value of the Seed”. The entire 
conference was broadcast live through Facebook Live.  

There was a similar event in Agrodinámica as part of the conference 
program, and Regional offered a talk on “Economic Projections” lectured 
by Economist Manuel Ferreira. Funding products via the Financial 
Development Agency were also presented by a representative of said 
institution. 

PRIVATE BANKING: 
 
We provided an excellent service in the advice in management of equity. 
2017 was a very important year to consolidate the relationship with our 
clients, strengthening the bonds of trust needed to achieve more and 
better results in the management of their equity.  

The trust of clients is a fundamental pillar that leads us to a sustained 
growth of assets under management.  

Through professional, efficient and personalized advice, we offer the best 
investment alternatives, always focused on the need, profile and risk  
of each client; making their business experience satisfactory. 
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INSURANCE: 

Our insurance broker maintains agreements with the following 
Insurance Companies: Regional Seguros S.A., Mapfre Paraguay 
S.A. and Sancor Seguros Paraguay S.A.  

Based on rising numbers of businesses, we take action to 
improve the return for commissions and compensations for a 
better result in the year. 

Types of insurance offered: 

Life and Personal Accidents: Natural or disease-caused death; 
double compensation in the event of death by accidents; total 
and permanent incapacitation; 24-hour coverage and amounts 
and plans in accordance with the needs.  

Home Policy: Fire of the building and content; robbery and/
or assault; material damages due to electric storms; water 
damage; crystal coverages; third-party liability; and personal 
accidents.  

Cars/Trucks/Agricultural Machinery: Third-party liability; 
injuries or death of the driver or passengers; partial or total 
damage due to accident or fire; robbery of the vehicle; green, 
blue card; and tow and light machinery service.  

Commercial Multi-risk Insurance: Fire of the building and 
content; robbery of merchandise; robbery of securities from 
safety box; robbery of securities in transit; personal accidents 
and third-party liability.  

Agricultural: Hail; excess rain; water logging at time of 
harvesting; draught; high temperatures; strong winds; 
freezing; fire; insurable crops (soybean, corn); and basic 
coverage. Hail + Reseeding (20%).  

Hail: It covers crops from traumatic damages caused by hails.  

Reseeding: It provides compensation (20%) when there is a 
loss caused to a covered risk, produced in the stage from the 
emergency of the crops to the start of the full coverage. The 
payment of the compensation for reseeding does not affect 
the protected crop for the remaining insured amount. 

Additional coverages: 

Fire: Damages caused to the crop or adjacencies.  

Wind: Due to wind exceeding 60 km/h, with or without rain. 
It covers the insured crop up to the amount insured covered 
against hail. 

Freezing: Damages caused to crop as a consequence of temperatures 
equal or lower to the point of water freezing. It covers the same amount 
insured against hail.  

Draught: It covers the crop that, due to the lack of rains, suffers a loss in 
the profitability, in the period insured.  

Insurable crops: Soybean, corn, canola, sunflower, sorghum, wheat and 
rice. 

24-HOUR SERVICE CHANNELS: 

Banco Regional has these channels available to clients: 
   Regional Web: www.regional.com.py
   Regional Mobile: App for smartphones (Google Play and Apple Store)
   ATMs
   SSTs
   Mass, Corporate and Premium Call Center
   Free number: 0800 11 1800, *734 (*REG) from cellphones
   Social networks: 
        Facebook
        Twitter
        Instagram

 Email: info@regional.com.py

INNOVATION: 
In recent years, technological advances have made the digital revolution 
transform from a possible threat to a matter of survival for banks in 
general, with greater focus on consumer banking. With the introduction 
of “fintech” (technology companies offering financial services) and the 
incursion of telecommunication companies in services limited to traditional 
banking, it is ever more necessary for conventional banks to face the 
situation with urgency in order not to lose ground before new players 
in the market. For those reasons, Regional is aware of the need to have 
the resources, services and technology that allows to support changes, 
fulfilling a significant role in the market.  

One of our main objectives is being a leading bank for clients to strengthen 
their loyalty for the building of long-term relations, which is only possible 
by obtaining a high degree of satisfaction. For that, we must have the ability 
to innovate quicker, moving with more speed, always thinking of clients  
as our maximum priority to offer a friction-less experience and exceeding 
their expectations. 

To comply with clients who are ever more demanding and sophisticated, 
the Bank has decided to focus on interaction, so that access to our services 
offers a uniform experience in all available channels. With this goal in mind, 
we are convinced that we will become a significant leader in the market  
as to Digital Banking.  
 

With the purpose of generating products and services aimed at the 
new trends that come with the digital age, the Innovation Team took the 
following actions during 2017: 

  Roundtables with the participation of the Innovation Team and external   
  providers for the development of new products. 
  User Experience Workshop (UX) with the participation of the Innovation 
 Team and external providers, whereby there was an explanatory process 
  of ideas to develop from the perspective of the client. 
  User Experience Workshop (UX) with collaborators from several sectors 
  of the Bank through the Mockups methodology, measuring the user  
  experience in the evaluation of prototypes. 
  Meetings and presentations with different financial service providers to 
  assess proposals of software and digital technology. 
  Agile Methodology Workshop (Scrum) with the participation of the  
  Innovation Team and colleagues from several sectors. One of the main  
  principles of the methodology is “people and interactions over processes 
  and tools”, which allows to analyze processes from a more flexible and 
  agile perspective. 
  Innovation Projects Methodology Workshop with members of the  
  Innovation Team and colleagues from several sectors of the Bank. 
  Preparation of the Manual of Duties of the Innovation Team, subject to  
  approval. 

 
What was done in 2017 was only the beginning of a process to aims to 
make a cultural transformation in our institution. With the support of 
the Board, the Innovation Team must promote and maintain a culture 
of innovation with a long-term perspective, aware that, in the entire 
innovation process seeking significant changes, there will be successes 
and stumbles that will actually be learning experiences.  

The Innovation Team will keep promoting the generation and development 
of initiatives of innovation that must fulfil significant roles in the 
technological, financial fields, and with customer experience, with the firm 
goal of turning innovation into something that is strategic and transversal 
to the entire organization to generate the essential basis for the creation of 
a new innovation culture that drives cooperation between several areas of 
the Bank. 

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT IN PROCESSES: 
Leaders from several areas received training on the Process Improvement 
Methodology (Lean Six Sigma), getting the “Green Belts” certification. This 
methodology seeks to improve times of response to clients, provide added 
value and avoid waste without undertaking risks for the Bank, creating  
a culture of Continuous Improvement.  

Throughout the year with visits to the main branches of Regional, the 
O&M team revealed opportunities of improvement in processes, taking 
advantage of the occasion to spread and promote the practice  
of continuous improvement in the entire organization.  
 

Define

Measure

Improve

Control

Analyze

Under the premise that “Everything that can be measured can 
be improved”, there is still work to strengthen concepts such 
as the service levels agreement (SLA), an initiative promoted 
with the implementation of tools that allow to information 
on line and chronologically on the volume and time of 
response to the requests of clients, as well as the percentage 
of reprocessing and its causes. These data allow to set out 
measures to refine processes, improve client experience and 
make participation in each level more effective. 

Process improvement workshop: A group of 18 collaborators 
was chosen to participate in the Process Improvement 
Methodology Workshops and will be in charge of supporting 
the initiatives of improvement in each sector. During the 
training, four work groups were formed that will lead the 
projects until their implementation: 

Transfers issued for abroad
 ABM of Companies 
 Cancellation of Credit Cards 
 Digitalization of Real Guarantees
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SECURITY: 

2017 has been a great challenge for the implementation of the Control Center of Physical Security in the 
Headquarters. With this system, the alert signals and alarms generated by the devices installed in the 
Bank are monitored. This brought important changes in daily works in the area, with important benefits 
that will help future controls, prevention and improvements. 
In addition, it marks the beginning to optimize electronic security.  

Training on: 

 Training against fires inside
 Operational training in flashover simulator 
 Use of fire extinguishers
 Analysis of risks in physical security 
 Security and prevention  
 Participation in the event to open the ASIS Paraguay chapter, dependent on ASIS International, gathering 

security professionals from around the world. 

TABLE OF MANAGEMENT OF SECURITY

Type of event Año 2015 Año 2016 Año 2017

Robbery attempt to Banking Branches 0 cases 0 cases 0 cases

Robbery attempt to ATM 1 case (skimming) 1 case (skimming), person 
detained by National Police

0 cases

Bank leaks. 0 case. 2 cases (capture) 2 cases involved, collabo-
ration with the National 
Police-Economic Crimes

5 Cases 3 cases

Accidents in the facilities of the Bank (slips, 
faints, others)

6 cases (referrals to health 
centers)

4 cases (referrals to health 
centers)

2 cases (referrals to health 
centers)

Accidents in vehicles, working hours 0 cases 0 cases 0 cases

Accidents in public places, working hours 0 cases 0 cases 0 cases

Number of Evacuation drills 6 6 4

Hours of Training in related issues (first aid, 
use of extinguishers, hostage situation, rob-
bery attempt, etc.) 

E-learning training E-learning training Live training in branches, 
˃50 staffers

*Improvement implemented as to robbery attempts to ATMs: Implementation of physical reviews of ATMs. 

As to Security of Information, we can highlight that in 2017, as a result 
of an assessment work carried out by the Technical Assistants of 
Rabobank, we worked alongside several departments of the Bank to 
align our internal procedures to the ISO 27002 International Security 
Standard, which allowed us to validate controls implemented and 
determine existing gaps to comply with the standard; adding controls, 
modifying existing ones and documenting all related processes.  
 
This project is still ongoing, as it also includes the adoption of new 
methodologies of work. The standard included a review of security 
of information processes in areas such as Physical Security, 
Administration, Legal, HR, IT, Providers, among others.  

As to electronic fraud, we worked hard and continuously in the 
communication to clients on Security Advice to focus on prevention. 
These communications were coordinated with the Marketing and 
Commercial areas, with wide scope and using social media, printed fliers, 
SMS messages/e-mail and the institutional website as forms of contact. 
Seeking experiences and innovative technologies in terms of Security 
of Information, we participated in the Rabobank Security Seminar held 
in the city of Oosterbeek, The Netherlands. This event allowed us to 
be updated as to worldwide trends, creating closer ties with Rabobank 
colleagues and compare technologies implemented in our Bank in a 
smaller-scale. We were allowed every day to have direct contact with 
specialist colleagues for advice on several issues that arise with the 
new technologies that we wish to implement. An example of that was 
the analysis of the Cloud application (cloud services and data), whereby 
they assisted us with documentation and conference calls telling us 
about their experiences.  

In addition, we attended the McAfee Security Experience Day, held in the 
McAfee Innovation Center in the city of Córdoba, Argentina. This event 
allowed us to know the new security tools of the mark and seeing them 
working. 

COMPLIANCE: 

Anti-corruption Practices: Banco Regional is committed to society, 
seeking to comply at all times with the regulations in force from local 
supervisors and recommendations from international organizations. 
We have a business focused on the values of transparency and honesty. 
In that way, we have policies, procedures and tools that identify and 
mitigate the risks that may cause the institution to be related to 
corruption cases.  
 

The Code of Conduct implemented in 2016, following the 
recommendations received from Rabobank N.V. as strategic 
ally of the Bank, includes procedures and guidelines  
to be applied by all members of the institution, the most 
important of which is maintaining an ethical behavior 
inside and outside of the institution, avoiding conflict  
of interest situations and maintaining a professional 
behavior at all times.  

The Human Resources Department is in charge of verifying 
compliance with the Code of Conduct and it has the support 
of the Compliance Department for its implementation. 

KROLL ASSOCIATES Evaluation: In addition to the internal 
and external audit processes, the anti-money laundering 
and funding of terrorism policies and procedures of Banco 
Regional are evaluated every year, since 2013, by the 
international company KROLL.  

KROLL is a world-renowned company for the evaluation 
of policies and procedures of Prevention of Money 
Laundering, Funding of Terrorism and Proliferation of 
Weapons of Mass Destruction of several types of entities, 
including financial institutions.  

The last survey, based on the integral review of our 
systems of prevention of money laundering, funding of 
terrorism and proliferation of weapons of mass destruction 
concluded satisfactorily in 2017, obtaining a continuous 
improvement as to the processes and policies applied  
by the institution. 

Training on Compliance:  Training on issues of prevention 
of money laundering and funding of terrorism has always 
been important for Banco Regional. To comply with 
regulations in force and to expand the knowledge of the 
members of our institution on the regulations, policies and 
procedures related to said issues, there was continuity 
to the processes of training implemented, successfully 
completing the annual plan approved for 2017.  
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During the year, the Compliance Manager, the Assistant 
Compliance Manager and several members of the department 
have made numerous visits to the branches in the country 
with the purpose of working closer with the commercial area 
to strengthen channels of communication between these two 
areas.  

Training aimed at all members of the institution and additional 
training for the Commercial area -considering the direct 
contact of this unit with clients- were held. Training events 
were made through talks, virtual channels such as Regional 
University (Module V) and constant communication with the 
many areas of the Bank, to broadcast the knowledge needed 
for the performance of the daily tasks. In addition, there were 
evaluation tests to measure the level of learning.  

Members of the Compliance Department also participated in 
conferences and meetings nationally and internationally on 
the prevention of money laundering, funding of terrorism and 
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction to stay updated 
with the knowledge and techniques needed to perform their 
work. 

Topaz Trace: The Topaz Trace tool, implemented in Banco 
Regional since 2013, offers a technological solution to 
procedures of prevention of money laundering and funding of 
terrorism.  

It is a monitoring system connected to the main system of the 
Bank, allowing the identification of operations made that are 
not adjusted to the profile of our clients. This tool facilitates 
the control of the Commercial area and the Compliance area to 
detect suspicious operations assessing if the submission of 
reports to competent authorities corresponds. 

Additional monitoring and control: This tool allows to 
perform and adapt the monitoring system, implementing 
additional controls, getting a constant update to the system 
of prevention. As of today, the tool has had six phases of 
optimization, which allowed to specify controls based on new 
regulations, typologies and/or defined criteria. 
Last year, there was hard work on the execution of controls 
and the monitoring of operations, seeking new alternatives of 
control not limited to the stated procedures, fundamentally 
focusing on the operations of International Transfers and Client 
Profiles. 

Bearer shares/Progress of Regulations: Law 5895/17 “Which sets out 
rules of transparency in the regime of companies incorporated by 
shares”. On October 5, 2017, Law 5895 was enacted and it eliminates 
bearer shares and sets out the obligation to corporations (sociedades 
anónimas) to exchange bearer shares for registered shares within a 
term of 24 months. 
In alignment to this principle of transparency, we have continued the 
processes of updating and controlling corporate documents of our 
clients, to comply with provision in force that highlight the importance of 
knowing the client. 

CLAIM MANAGEMENT: 

The entirety of the claims filed by clients of the Bank related to alleged 
infractions to Law 1334/98 of Consumer and User Protection, among 
others, were duly considered and timely responses from Regional were 
satisfactorily received by clients.  

The Bank has a trained team of collaborators working on giving a quick 
solution to the claims from many aspects and channeling the larger 
ones to the respective areas. 
 
Claims may be filed in all service channels that Regional makes available 
for clients: branches, agencies and customer service points, as well as 
the phone lines, the website and electronic media. 

WE PROMOTE  
LOCAL  
PROVIDERS  

3.3.

PROCUREMENT: 

 Project of Corporate Building of Regional in Asunción – Juan XXIII Building: 
To improve the experience of clients from several bank sectors, optimize 
costs, improve synergy of resources unifying the physical space that the 
many centralized areas occupy today, sufficient parking places including 
possibilities of future growth and a larger presence in the capital, the nego-
tiation for the purchase of a corporate building, located behind Shopping del 
Sol at calle San Juan XXIII y Cecilio Da Silva Lovera progressed. It should be 
mentioned that the building is near the new commercial and financial area 
of Asuncion. It is estimated that the operation and move will be finalized in 
the first semester of 2018. 

 Project of Corporate Building in Ciudad del Este: Also, to optimize the 
experience of the client from several bank sectors when approaching a 
branch, to have exclusive parking places with large capacity and a larger 
presence of the brand, maintaining a provision of costs for the next 10 
years that is similar to the current one, there was an agreement with the 
owner of the land and the work started for the development of a corporate 
building in Ciudad del Este, located at Avenida Monseñor Rodríguez casi 
esquina Jorge Anisimof, next to BBVA. Upon conclusion, it will be the first 
visible building of the new financial center of Ciudad del Este. Its opening is 
estimated for the end of the first semester of 2018.  

 Headquarters: Extension of the 4th Floor and freeing the 6th Floor (HR 
Department): Continuing with the optimization of physical spaces and 
saving costs, with the “OPEN SPACE” scheme, the implementation of the 
model in the 4th floor of the Headquarters freed up space in the 6th Floor.

Openings in 2017:  

 TIGO CURVA Service Point: A new banking service point (BSP) 
was opened in new building of Tigo in August 2017 at Avenida 
Mariscal López casi Insaurralde, in Asunción, supporting  
our clients.  

OTHER RELEVANT ISSUES: 
 
Installed groups of generators: In 2017, 3 electricity generators 
were installed in the branches of Coronel Bogado, Pirayú and 
Súper Seis, therefore covering 100% of the branches in the 
country with contingent energy.  

Optimization of branches: The closure and transfer of all 
operations of the Capiatá branch to the San Lorenzo branch 
were carried out to optimize resources. 
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MANAGEMENT OF PROVIDERS OF BANCO REGIONAL S.A.E.C.A.

Result as of December, 2017                     Millions of PYG

Total of Administrative Expenses 166.963

Total of estimated reductions/savings 11.697

% of effectiveness in 2017: Total of estimated reductions or savings / Total of administrative expenses 7,01%

  

Year 2017 Millions of PYG

Nr. Type Reference Initial  
proposals / 
Previous  
invoicing

Total of  
Reductions / 
Savings

Average 
Impact in 
percentage

Estimated 
effect, 2017

Estimated 
effect, 2018 for 
continuity

1 New New contracts (Initial quote 
v. closed final)

48.565 3.436 7,07% 3.436 -

2 Renewed Renewals of contracts for 
products or services

30.414 4.751 15,62% 1.392 3.359

3 Change Changes of provider or pro-
ducts and/or services

10.916 2.433 22,29% 471 1.962

4 Elimination Total elimination of products 
or service

4.210 695 16,50% 280 415

5 Internal Reductions for “internal” 
savings measures

1.736 382 22,03% 382 -

Totales 95.841 11.697 12,20% 5.961 5.736

 

Information per area Millions of PYG

Areas Initial proposals / 
Previous invoicing

Total of Reductions / 
Savings

Average Impact in 
percentage

Estimated effect, 
2017

Estimated effect, 
2018 for continuity

Administration 66.813 6.635 9,93% 3.159 3.477

Technology 7.580 1.804 23,80% 1.804 -

Logistics 3.056 1.395 45,64% 171 1.223

Operations 1.078 207 19,18% 207 -

Security 11.761 1.332 11,32% 358 974

Risks 3.003 154 5,12% 131 23

Compliance 2.212 151 6,81% 111 39

HR 299 18 6,08% 18 -

Audit 39 2 4,01% 2 -

Total 95.841 11.697 12,20% 5.961 5.736

The management of our purchases and the bond with our providers is another aspect that is seriously attended seeking to reach success  
in the business. As we improve procurement, by seeking that our providers of good and services comply with the labor and tax obligations,  
we take care of our own company and contribute to the formalization of companies in the country. 

OUR SOCIAL AND  
ENVIRONMENTAL  
ACTIONS   

3.4.

SUSTAINABLE FINANCES DESK: 

The Sustainable Finances Desk promotes the responsibility of the financial 
sector in the support and strengthening of the transformation into a 
sustainable economy, considering the leadership in the joined efforts of 
all interested parties (clients, collaborators, authorities, NGOs and the 
general public), to face risks and take advantage of the opportunities in 
sustainable risks in Paraguay. It is comprised by all member banks of the 
Association of Banks of Paraguay (ASOBAN) and it is coordinated by Banco 
Regional.  

The following activities performed are highlighted: 
  Social and Environmental Risks Analysis Workshop, aimed at the staff  
    of financial institutions.   

 Launch of the Social and Environmental Guide for Sustainable Funding  
    of the Agricultural-Livestock Sector and Workshop to present and explain     
     the Guide. 
  Specialization Course on the IFC standards.  
  Inter-institutional meetings with the Secretariat for Environment (SEAM,   
    for its Spanish initials), the Inter-American Development Bank, the United  
    Nations Environment Programme, the Paraguay Rural Association,     
    among other institutions.  
  Training course on environmental legislation, with lecturers from SEAM   
    and the National Forest Institute (INFONA, for its Spanish initials).  
  Signing of a framework agreement for inter-institutional cooperation  
    by SEAM and the Sustainable Finances Desk.  
  Participation in the Sustainable Meat and Soybean Platforms of the   
    Department of Itapúa, among others. 

Banco Regional led the action that 
included the launch of the Environmental 
and Social Guide for funding of national 
agricultural activity, as previously 
mentioned in this report. 
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Aleixo 
Targanski 

“Banco Regional always 
provides an integral 
support and financial 
security”

“We approached Regional because 
we saw that it is comprised  
by people with our same ideals 
and way of thinking, and they 
work like us. This is why our 
relationship grew with time”. 

“I work in agriculture. Having seen this 

beautiful land in Paraguay, I moved here 

when I was 23 years old and I have worked  

in many sectors since then. We had a 

business first, then, a supermarket that 

worked for 30 years and afterwards, we 

strongly worked on agriculture.  

Agropecuaria Estrella del Norte S.A. was 

born for a better organization that would 

be familiar within the productive and 

administrative fields. We have agricultural 

production as well as livestock, which we 

look after with care. We are always thinking 

about the growth of our business.  

The needs that we eventually had were 

remedied with lines that gave us a positive 

His profile: 

He has been living in Paraguay for 43 years, 

in the city of Naranjal in the department of 

Alto Paraná. He is the owner of Agropecuaria 

Estrella del Norte S.A. He is also a shareholder 

of Banco Regional. 

and concrete answer. The Bank is always 

present and willing to collaborate.  

I believe that development is a synonym of 

fight, organization, honesty, transparency and 

the future of progress, growth and evolution. 

With all certainty, I recommend all people 

in good faith to carry on their projects and 

endeavors with Banco Regional, as it always 

provides an integral support and financial 

security.  

We live calmly, working for our country in our 

dear Paraguay were we formed our family with 

children and a long list of grandchildren”. 
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“The values that inspire us are 
Integrity, Professionalism and 
Positive Attitude”. 

4.Economic
and financial performance
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National and  
International 

4.1.

economic analysis and outlook
WORLD VIEW

United States
The Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA) reported that the growth of the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) of the third quarter of 2017 
was 3.2%, which adds to the growths of 1.2% in the first quarter and 3.1% of the second quarter. The cumulative growth as of the 
third quarter of 2017 was 2.2%, a slightly lower than the current projection of 2.4% of the Federal Reserve for the year, before the 
end of the last quarter of the year. 
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Evolution of the US GDP

Unemployment and Job Creation

Source: MF Economía with data from BEA

(*) Bibliographical source: MF Economía

The growth of the GDP reflects increases in consumption, investment and exports. In addition, imports with increases that are 
deducted from the GDP, decreased. Besides these specific positive aspects for the economy, quarterly corporate revenue increase 
4.3% in the third quarter, sending signals of dynamism.  

The U.S. dollar was debilitated through the year. The index of the value of the dollar against the main currencies of the world (DXY) 
shows a weakening between January and September, followed by a slight recovery as of December.  

The labor market in the US also shows a significant dynamism. These high levels of job creation might be related to the recovery  
in the real economy after hurricanes Irma and Harvey impacted significantly in September. 
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As of the end of 2017, the US Congress approved a significant tax 
reform as part of the government strategy to strengthen economic 
recovery through a consolidation of added demand, with the increase 
of available income, job creation and repatriation of capital.  
On December 22, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted. One  
of the main features of this law is the reduction of tax rate for people 
with income that is above some cuts. For example, the tax rate that 
affects income above US$ 500,000 per year was reduced from 39.6% 
to 37% and then sections with lower ranks had successive cuts.  
The most important aspect of the reform is probably the decrease in 
the corporate income tax which had a maximum rate of 35% but will 
now have a sole rate of 21%. 

It is estimated that the tax reform will drive the US 
economy. Now on, its impact will be different in the short 
and medium-term, as its implementation will be gradual.  
 
In fact, the effective decrease in individual and corporate 
income tax will be applied in 12 months, and this is one 
of the main factors driving the added demand through 
consumption and investment. In the meantime, the 
benefits offered to companies for the repatriation of their 
capital would start faster, which could include a higher 
domestic investment of companies or the distribution  
in dividends, among other possibilities, which could 

Source: MF Economía with data from BLS.

Unemployment rate Job creation (right axis)

*



70 71

SOW   SUCCESS2017 REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS your

stimulate employment and consumption with subsequent 
positive effects in added demand. 

This stimulus to economic growth would affect  
the value of the US dollar and inflation. In fact, the inflow  
of repatriated capital would induce the strengthening 
of the American currency that would be anticipated 
by markets in the short-term and it may reduce the 
dynamism of exports and inhibit their contribution to 
the economic growth in the short-term, increasing the 
trade deficit. Likewise, markets could anticipate that the 
increase of added demand would have an inflationary 
effect, forcing the Federal Reserve of the U.S. to have a 
higher increase in the interest rate of monetary policy to 
avoid an increase of prices above their goal.  

Subsequently, the positive impact of tax reform in 
economic growth may be moderate with the increase  
of interest rates and the strengthening of the dollar. 
 
However, there are risks that could deepen, as a 
contradiction, the volatility of the dollar, weakening it due 
to geopolitical risks, controversies with its main trade 
partners, a higher fiscal deficit due to the tax cuts with 
the tax reform undertaking a weaker domestic economic 
growth than expected before its implementation, a more 
stable recovery from Europe and Asia that grants more 
trust to investors and can take interest rates back  
to positive numbers, the perception of overvaluation  
of stock assets in the United States and the imminent 
price adjustments, capital repatriation of companies that 
have allegedly kept their revenue overseas invested in 
Treasury bonds and which must be sold to obtain fiscal 
benefits, political instability that may arise from legal 
processes in course.  

A very weak dollar would not positively contribute  
to economic growth, as it may drive exports but its 
negative impact would arise from the inflationary effect  
of the most expensive import, particularly oil. 
Subsequently, the Department of Treasury and the 
Federal Reserve would seek a better coordination for a 
normalization of the monetary policy and a lower volatility 
of their currency not to induce contradictory elements  
for economic recovery. 
 
The Federal Reserve of the United States (Fed) increased 
the reference rate of the monetary policy again  
to the 1.25%-1.5% range in December. This was the third 

increase of the year and it is part of a policy of normalization  
of the reference rate in the United States. The Fed closely monitors 
the level of employment and the rate of inflation. Considering the full 
job conditions and relatively high growth rates, it is expected that this 
normalization policy will continue in 2018 when, under the current 
conditions, three new increases are expected, taking the reference rate 
to 2.0%-2.25% by the end of 2018.  

Europe

The eurozone continues with an important economic dynamic. 
 In 2016, the annual GDP had a growth of 1.8% while in 2017, it had  
an average growth of 2.4% through the first three quarters.  
The interannual quarterly variation was 2.6% in the first quarter  
of the year. The components with the highest interannual growth  
in the third quarter were exports (5.2%) and imports (5.1%). 
Investments increased 4.2% and private consumption, 1.9%. The annual 
inflation rate in November 2017 was 1.5%. The levels of inflation are 
higher than those from 2015 and 2016, when they were close to zero.  
The increase of prices in this case is a signal of recovery of demand 
and more economic dynamism. This dynamism is also reflected  
in the levels of unemployment, which dropped to 8.8% as of November 
2017, the lowest rate since the unemployment peak of approximately 
12.0% in 2013.  

In December, representatives from Mercosur and the European Union 
tried to move forward with negotiations to obtain a trade deal within  
the framework of the summit of the World Trade Organization (WTO) 
 in Buenos Aires, on the week of December 11. The negotiations 
between the two blocks have been ongoing for more than 20 years and 
the agreement would seal the trade exchange of 95% of goods produced 
in the blocks without customs barriers in 10 years. For traditionally 
protectionist countries like Argentina and Brazil, this would be a very 
big step towards commercial liberation. The productive sectors that are 
the most conflictive are meat and ethanol that Mercosur would export 
to Europe. Discussions continue on the volumes of these products that 
could be exported without duties. It was expected that the agreement 
would be announced by the end of December, but negotiations are still 
delayed.

China

The Chinese economy grew 6.8% in the third quarter of 2017, slightly 
lower than the 6.9% rate of the first and second quarters of the year. 
These growth rates are higher than the average rate of 6.7% in 2016  
and higher than the growth target of 6.5% of the government. Historically, 
the main basis for the growth in China have been the expansion of credit 
and public spending. However, China is currently going through a period 
of redistribution or rebalancing of its economic structure whereby  
it would focus less on investment and infrastructure as motor for 
growth, towards a service and consumption-based economy.  

In this context, the government says that it intends to mitigate risks  
in the financial system where there are abundant credits in favor of state 
companies with limited profitability and productivity. The reforms would 
restrict financial activities and credit conditions, reducing the levels  
of debt in the corporate sector. Therefore, the dynamism in the main 
world economies has strengthen the external demand of Chinese 
products supporting the economic activity towards a reduction  
of the expansion of credit in the corporate sector. 
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EE.UU. China Eurozone

Currencies and Commodities

In Europe, after having record low values at the start  
of the year, the Euro has strengthened consistently, specially  
in the second semester of 2017, where it quoted at 1.2 
US$/€, a value it did not have since the end of 2014.  

On the other hand, in the U.S., there was a significant 
appreciation of the dollar at the end of 2016, related to the 
expectations with the new government. But then, after 
the delay of the economic agenda of the Presidency, the 
economic agents changed their perception selling dollars 
in the exchange market, taking its value down against the 
main currencies. 

Interannual inflation
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In the last report of the year on world supply and demand of 
grains, the US Department of Agriculture projects a 2017/8 
campaign or production of 351.3 million tons of soybean and 
some stocks of 98.3 million tons. This equals a reduction in 
production of approximately 1% and an increase of 1.8% in 
stocks with respect to the 2016/7 campaign. Considering 
some of the main producers, the United States is the only that 
maintains an increase in production with respect to the last 
campaign, while Brazil and Paraguay would produce a lower 
volume.  

The production of corn as well as the final stocks would 
be below the recorded in the 2016/7 campaign, that was a 
record. Despite this, the availability of the grain is still high. 
In the 2017/8 campaign, 1044.8 million tons will be produced 
and stocks will get to 204.1 million tons when the campaign 
finishes. Meanwhile, the projection of the production of wheat 
is above the product of the 2016/7 campaign, just like the 
volume of final stocks. The 2017/8 harvest would get to 755.2 
million tons with a stock of 268.4 million tons. 
On the other hand, rice would get a similar production than 
the one registered in the 2016/7 campaign, with around 
483.5 million tons. The final stock would be above 2% 
compared to the previous year and there would be 140.7 
million tons.  

Towards the end of 2017, the weather and ground conditions in the main 
producing countries of South America have incorporated a degree of 
uncertainty on the production of the main agricultural crops. Some regions 
have received large volumes of water, while others have not registered rain 
and both situations have led to delays in harvest.  

As to the quotes of commodities, in the first quarter, soybean was quoted 
in average in 376 US%/ton, corn in 145 US$/ton, wheat in 162 US$/ton and 
rice in 298 US$/ton. In the second quarter, the average quotes were US$/
ton 346 for soybean, 146 for corn, 167 for wheat and 241 for rice. Then, for 
the third quarter, the average quotes were US$/ton 357 for soybean, 142 
for corn, 168 for wheat and 247 for rice. In the last quarter of the year, the 
average prices were US$/ton 363 for soybean, 137 for corn, 157 for wheat 
and 228 for rice.  

Currently, there are no solid reasons for the drive of prices, and variations 
respond to temporary situations. The great volume available still creates 
some resistance for the increase in prices. 
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Soybean Corn Wheat

As to oil, the prices are more solid after an agreement signed by the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC), 
Russia and the main producing countries that are outside of the Organization, to freeze and then reduce production, seeking to 
stabilize prices. Considering the good results, the agreement has been renewed once and it is estimated that it would be renewed 
once again in its next expiry in March 2018.  

Brent Oil prices this year have increased consistently except for temporary reductions. The average quote of the year was 54.6 
US$/barrel.  
 
A factor that could lower prices in 2018 is the production of shale oil, as prices above 50 US$/barrel would make its production 
more profitable. 
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World growth
The slight world economic upturn that the International 
Monetary Fund (IMF) had highlighted in April was 
strengthened this year, although the performance varies 
between countries. In this context, the IMF corrected its 
projections with respect to those made in April and July 2017.  

The world growth forecast for this year increased from 3.5 
to 3.6%. The expectations of growth for the US were adjusted 
from 2.1 to 2.2%, for the Eurozone, from 1.9 to 2.1% and for 
Japan, from 1.3 to 1.5%. On the other hand, the outlook for 
the emerging economies were still with an estimated growth 

of 4.6%, improving projections for Russia from 1.4 to 1.8%. On the other 
hand, the projection for the Chinese economy grew from 6.7 to 6.8%.  
For Latin America, the forecast was risen from 1.0 to 1.2%, mainly due  
to a better performance from the Brazilian economy, estimated 
upwards from 0.3 to 0.7%.  

In general, forecasts for 2018 are relatively better: the world would grow 
3.7%, the Eurozone, 1.9%, the US, 2.3%, Latin America would grow 1.9% 
and Brazil would have a higher GDP which would be around 1.5%. 

REGIONAL OUTLOOK

Brazil
The Brazilian political context is still complex. However, after 
the crisis from May 2017, the political and economic scenario 
reflects a relative stability although it is not firm.  

As to the economics, after ending the first quarter without 
growth and the second with a slight growth of 0.4%, in the 
third quarter, the Brazilian GDP reached US$ 519 billion, 
which represents a 1.4% growth with respect to the same 
period of the previous year, and the second positive result 

after twelve quarters with drops. 
Analyzing the economic sectors, the results are different, and the 
agricultural and livestock sector had the best result with an interannual 
growth of 9.1%, mainly driven by corn, tobacco, soybean and rice. On the 
other hand, industry and trade also had positive results, while the majority 
of services had negative results.  
 
As to demand, there was an increase of 2.2% in private consumption but a 
drop of 0.6% in public consumption. As to private investment, it registered  
a drop of 0.5%, mainly due to the drop in construction. 

3.6

World U.S. Japan China India BrazilLatin 
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Eurozone

2017 forecast

2018 forecast
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GDP Growth Forecasts (in %)

Evolution of the GDP of Brazil

Inflation keeps improving since 2016. As to the end of December, it is 2.78% in interannual terms. The fewer levels of inflation allowed the 
Central Bank of Brazil to reduce its interest rate on several occasions to 7.0%, a value that is close to the minimum on record, to stimulate 
the economy.  

As to the Brazilian real, after 2016 when it was quoted in a solid downward trend, specially in the first quarter, it was stronger in 2017, 
maintaining an average of 3.14 R$/US$ in the first quarter. Then, on May 18, the day of the political scandal, it was quoted at 3.38 R$/
US$ to then recover and reflect until the end of September a quote around 3.19 R$/US$. In the last quarter, the real was weakened 
moderately, quoting to an average of 3.24 R$/US$ in this period. 
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Argentina
After growing 0.4 and 2.9% in the first and second quarters of 2017, the Argentine GDP grew 4.2% in the third quarter. Analyzing sectors, 
it is seen that in the third quarter, the agricultural and livestock sector had a growth of 2.9%. Industry, which represents 30% of the GDP, 
grew 4.1% and construction grew 12.8%. Meanwhile, in the service sector, almost all sub-sectors grew. Trade, financial intermediation 
and real estate activities stood out.  

Inflation as of the end of November was 22.9% in interannual terms, which is lower than in previous years. However, it exceeds the 12  
to 17% range set by the government for this year. 
 

Source: MF Economía with data from IBGE

Fuente: MF Economía con datos de FMI
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LOCAL OUTLOOK

Real Estate Sector
The Paraguayan economy stood out in the region once 
again with one of the best performances, which has been 
internationally highlighted for reflecting not just the strength 
before our big trade partners who in the past contributed with 
their negative cycles significantly, but due to the sustained 
character of economic growth, which did not reach record 
levels of dynamism but reflects a stability driving the increase 
of private investment, both domestically and externally.  
 

The continuity of the trend of economic growth is remarked with solid 
foundations, with reduced inflation, fiscal deficits that are still moderate 
with respect to the size of the economy, stability of the exchange rate 
supported by a significant balance of international reserves and a surplus 
in the current account with a positive balance of our foreign trade of goods 
and services.  

The challenge is still the distribution of income per capita, which has been 
tripled in the last 14 years but still reflects a significant disparity that can 

After an important support in the legislative elections in Octo-
ber, President Mauricio Macri presented his plan for economic 
and institutional reform to reduce the deficit and promote job 
creation.  

In the last week of December, the Senate approved a series 
of laws proposed by the government and there were also 
reforms including a social security reform, a fiscal responsi-
bility law, a tax reform. In addition, a Fiscal Budget for 2018 
was approved aligned with the convergence towards a more 
sustainable macroeconomic scenario and an adjustment  

in the goal of inflation but this has generated controversies on the indepen-
dence of the Central Bank.  

As to the quote of the Argentine peso, it has been stable until the end  
of May, quoting around 15.62 $/US$, From then, there was a sustained 
weakening which was accentuated in December when the exchange rate 
exceeded 18 $/US$ and days later, after the announcement of the  
adjustment of the inflation target, it exceeded 19 $/US$. 

Fuente: MF Economía con datos de Bloomberg

Source: MF Economía with data from the Central Bank of Paraguay

$ Arg/US$ OFFICIAL Real/US$
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generate threats to the social support of economic measures that pretend 
to maintain the macroeconomic stability. 

Another challenge refers to the quality of fiscal spending, where the 
largest proportion of current expenses inhibits the contribution that the 
fiscal management can make to economic growth with capital expenses 
and at the same time it affects in the increase if internal debt which is 
still in sustainable levels but should not be the main source of capital 
expenses funding needed to reduce obstacles that still persist for a better 
competitiveness of our economy, such as a better logistical infrastructure 
to take our trade products abroad.  

The perception of international capital markets on the Paraguayan economy 
is still progressing, and an improvement of the sovereign risk outlook 
announced by the Fitch rating stands out.  

After increasing 7.1% in the first quarter of this year and 1.1% in the second, 
the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) had a growth of 3.0% in the third quarter 
with respect to the same quarter of the previous year.  

Industry grew 8.3% driven by the subsector of food industry, among them, 
beverages and tobacco, mills. This growth is below the average of the last 
five years.  

Agriculture, on the other hand, grew 3.7%, mainly driven by the 
performance of rice, tobacco and beans. After growing 5.3% in the first 
quarter and dropping on the same proportion in the second quarter due  
to rains, livestock grew 1.3% in the third quarter.  

As to construction, there was a growth of 22.6% in the first 
quarter, a drop of 6.8% in the second, also due to rain, and a 
recovery of 0.7% in the third.  

Services grew 5.7%, aligned with the good performance of the 
previous quarters. The performances of trade, transport and 
lodging and restaurants stood out.  

A reduction in the generation of energy from the binational 
entities was registered with -12.7% but comparable to record 
levels of 2017.  

As to added demand, there was a growth of 4.2% in private 
consumption and 3.0% in public consumption. On the other 
hand, the gross formation of capital increased 7.5% in its sixth 
consecutive quarter of growth.  

We should remember that in April, the Central Bank  
of Paraguay raised its forecast of growth for the Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP) from 3.7 to 4.2% of expansion. Then, 
in the second and third revisions in the months of July and 
October, the estimation was maintained. In December,  
the expected growth of the GDP was adjusted to 4.3% and 
the first forecast for 2018 was announced with an expected 
growth of 4.5%. 
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Agriculture
The soybean harvest locally ended with record figures, both 
as to area sowed and average performance, which exceeded 
3000 kg/Ha for the first time. This allowed production to grow 
around 15.7% with respect to the previous campaign. The areas 
with the most growth would be Amambay, Concepción and 
Caazapá. The crops had an optimal development, especially in 
Canindeyú and Alto Paraná.  

The sowing of off-season soybean was important once again, 
as the delay in the soybean harvest led to the situation 
whereby it was late to sow corn in some areas due to the 

risk of winter coming before sufficient development, in addition to the 
discouragement generated by low international prices of corn. 
As to corn, the crop area was reduced significantly which meant that, 
although the performance was around average, production was reduced 
around 30%.  

As to wheat, the crop area was smaller than in the previous campaign and 
the performance has been affected by frosts leading to a drop of around 
30% in production. 

Concept 2015/16 est 2016/17 est Var. % 2017/18 proj Var. %

Soybean Hectares 3.264.480 3.388.709 3,8% 3.490.370 3,0%

Tons 9.216.937 10.664.613 15,7% 9.598.518 -10,0%

Ton/Ha. 2,823 3,147 11,5% 2,750 -12,6%

Off-season corn Hectares 1.009.226 675.000 -33,1% 800.000 18,5%

Tons 4.541.517 3.037.500 -33,1% 4.000.000 31,7%

Ton/Ha. 4,500 4,500 0,0% 5,000 11,1%

Wheat Hectares 493.924 430.000 -12,9% 350.000 -18,6%

Tons 1.185.418 800.000 -32,5% 770.000 -3,8%

Ton/Ha. 2,400 1,860 -22,5% 2,200 18,3%

Livestock
The production in the January to October period this year was of 1,928,651 
heads of cattle, a figure that is 2.1% higher than last year. The average  
production per month is that of 193 thousand heads, 90% of which are  
produced in freezers and the rest is produced in slaughterhouses. Of the 
total produced, 1086 thousand heads were male and 842 thousand were 
female, so there was an increase of 7.9% in female. T 
herefore, the participation was that of 56% of males and 44% of females.  

Other sectors
The freight related to agriculture and livestock sectors can be taken as an 
indicator of the performance of the transport sector, which were similar 
in the January to October period this year as to the same period in 2016. 
On the other hand, the construction sector is still showcasing a good 
performance, although its dynamism has been stopped in the second 
quarter. So, sales of cement dropped 10.2%.  

Family consumption was affected by two factors that occurred in the same 
period: the disappearance of the positive difference of prices of mass 
consumption products with Argentina and the implementation of the Law 
on Cards.  

The end of the entry of mass consumption products to Paraguay, mainly  
as a consequence of the unification of the exchange rate in Argentina and 
the persistence of high levels of inflation in that country was seen in the 
level of employment of people working on the sale of those products and 
the prices of goods. For many homes, it represented increasing the cost  
of consumption as they were no longer benefiting from the arbitrary price 
to purchase them in the formal economy with relatively higher prices.  

As to the new interest rate applied to the use of credit cards, they stopped 
being profitable for financial entities as to relatively low lines of credit, 
resulting in the non-renewal of plastics for many users with lower income.  

For others, credit cards stopped being attractive, 
as commercial promotions were reduced since the 
implementation of the Law on Cards. People who lost their 
cards and must now keep paying the debt generated from the 
use of the plastic and fund their purchases with higher prices 
had a reduction in their available income, which led  
a small percentage to decide to tighten up their budgets while 
others are forced to go to credit companies or commercial 
companies, where interest rates are even double to those 
they were paying for the use of cards. On the other hand, the 
commercial sector has been dynamized due to the important 
foreigners influx, mainly Argentines, drawn by the difference 
in inflation (which exceeds 50%) and Brazilians, due to the 
recovery of the real.  
 

Fiscal Sector
As of the end of November of this year, the total income of the 
Central Administration added up to PYG 27.7 trillion, 8.5% more 
than in 2016. Tax income represented 72% of the total, seeing 
a growth of 12.8%. Collections from the Secretariat of State 
for Taxation increased in 7.3% while those from the National 
Directorate for Customs increased 20.8% in this year, driven  
by the recovery of imports and the activity in border cities. 
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The expenses incurred by the Central Administration as of the end of November add up to PYG 28.8 trillion, which represents  
an increase of 8.6% compared to the previous year. Analyzing the type of expenses leads us to see that the execution of current 
expenses, equivalent to 84% of the total, increased 7.1%, while physical investment grew 17.4%.  

The deficit as of the end of November was PYG 1.2 trillion. However, if you take annual values, the deficit represents 1.4% of the 
GDP projected for this year, just at the top range stated by the Law on Fiscal Responsibility. 

In September, the Ministry of Finance presented to Congress 
the project for the National General Budget (NGB) for 2018.  
The total of expenses budgeted was PYG 73.1 trillion, 
equivalent to some US$ 12,323 million and it represents 43.4% 
of the GDP projected by the Ministry of Finance for the next 
year. To prepare the 2018 NGB, the Government estimated that 
next year, the economy will grow 3.9%. The 2018 NGB is higher 
in 10.1% than the one in force for 2017.1 As to income, there 
was an increase budgeted of 8.1% of tax income. The 2018 
NGB had a deficit equivalent to 1.5% of the GDP, to fund this 
result, there were provisions on the disbursement of external 
loans, the issue of Treasury bonds and the use of funds from 
sovereign bonds placed abroad.  
 

The project was discussed in Parliament and finally, the Senate approved a 
version with changes, some of them not complying with provisions of the 
Law on Fiscal Responsibility2. These were: 
• Additional increases of US$ 39 million (1.7% of deficit). 
• Pay rises in salaries: 
 • 8% for medics of the Ministry of Health
 • 16% for teaches of the Ministry of Education and Sciences (12%  
 from the Executive + 4% from the Senate)
 • PYG 600,000 for each employee from the National Electricity  
 Administration
 • Gradual 25% for administrative staffers of the National   
 University of Asunción. 

The Senate sent the approved project to the Executive Branch and it partially vetoed it, mainly arguing that “the budget sent by the 
Senate was not funded and had a significant restructuring of expenses, as allocations of investments were changed into current 
expenses (salaries of employees). The increase of the rigidity of salary expenses approved by Parliament as to the version presented  
by the Executive Branch represented approximately US$ 87 million, which had to be funded with taxes.  

As of the end of October, the balance of total public debt was US$ 7,092 million, equivalent to 24.1% of the GDP estimated for this year.  
It was comprised in 78.1% by external debt.  

External Sector
TRADE BALANCE

In 2017, there was an interannual increase of registered imports and exports. With this, the trade balance had a deficit by the end  
of the year of US$ 2,347 million.  
 
As to reexports, they recovered importantly, growing 29% interannually by the end of 2017. This is mainly explained by the recovery  
of the real, which increases the purchasing power of Brazilians, on one side, and due to the higher level of sales to Argentines considering 
the difference in inflation. When considering the total exports and imports, the trade balance has reflected as of the end of 2017  
a surplus of US$ 479.9 million, which is 65% lower than the surplus of the same period in 2016, due to the important growth of imports  
of intermediate goods and capital goods. 

 1 As to the National General Budget of 2017, it must be reminded that during the discussion on it, there were several changes and after much discussion, the Executive Branch decided to 

veto it, so the National General Budget for 2016 was in force.
2 The Law on Fiscal Responsibility states that: 

 -The annual deficit of the Central Administration, including transfers, shall not be higher than 1.5% of the estimated GDP. 

 -The annual increase of primary current expenses of the Public Sector may not exceed the interannual inflation rate, plus 4%. 

 -There shall not be pay rises in salaries unless there is an increase in minimum wages. The increase shall be on the same proportion, as a maximum. 
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EXPORTS

Exports registered in 2017 added up to US$ 8,680 million, 2.1% more than the annual amount registered in the previous year.  

During said year, 9.1 million tons of soybean and sub-products (grains, flour, oil) were exported, which was 6.4% more than the 
submissions of 2016, for a value of US$ 3,337 million. Analyzing each product, 6.1 million tons of soybean grains were exported 
for a value of US$ 2,130 million, figures which were 13.9% and 17.3% higher than in 2016. As to sub-products, the exports of oil 
dropped 1.8% as to volume while flour fell 7.6%. 
 
Negative figures in the export of mentioned sub-products of soybean compared to the previous year, despite the record harvest 
of grains, were due to several factors, including the important increase of grain soybean exports towards Argentina¹. 
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On the other hand, as of the end of last December, exports of meat added up to 299 thousand tons and US$ 1,203 million.  
The exported volume is 2.7% lower than last year, but 4.8% higher as to income in foreign currency, considering the  
price increase. 

 1 In January, 2016, Argentina reopened the temporary admission of soybean grains for processing and subsequent export.

As to frozen meat, a total of 154 thousand tons, equivalent to US$ 575 
million, was exported. Said figures are lower than in 2016. This evolution 
was due to the reduction of demand of our main buyers: Russia, Vietnam 
and Israel. The average price of export for frozen meat has increased 6.4%, 
at 3,725 US$/ton.  

On the other hand, chilled meat grew in volume and value. 115 thousand 
tons were exported, 3.3% more than the 2016 volume. In values, it added  
up to US$ 571 million, 10.2% higher than in 2016. In average, the price of 
export was higher in 6.6%, around 4,965 US$/ton. The main importers of 
said type of meat are Chile, with 77%, Brazil and Lebanon.  

The type of meat with the most share in terms of volume of export is frozen 
meat. However, external sales of frozen meat increased mainly due to lower 
demand of Russia and other Asian countries; and also due to the freezing 
companies choosing to serve the higher demand of chilled meat from Chile 
and European Union countries, considering that the prices paid for this type 
of meat are higher. So, in 2017, chilled meat has gone from representing 
39% of submissions in tons to 47% in monetary terms, which is slightly 
lower than the amount received from frozen meat.  

On the other hand, non-traditional exports had a better performance. In 
2017, they added up to US$ 1,318 million, 11.3% more than in 2016. Among 
the main products comprising non-traditional exports, and in which the 

country has developed competitive advantages, one can see 
barges and tugboats, blankets, cables, plastic containers and 
dosed medicine. A significant part of these exports is carried 
out through the maquila regime, which has been growing 
in the last 10 years. Around 80% of them are destined for 
Mercosur, mainly Brazil and Argentina.

IMPORTS

As to imports, as of the end of the year, they added up to US$ 
11,027 million, 22% more than in the same period of last year. 
The recovery was seen basically in all main sectors, most 
significantly in intermediate goods (naphtha, gas, gasoil), 
capital goods (agricultural machinery, desktop machines) 
and lasting consumption goods (automobiles, electrical 
appliances). 
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EXCHANGE RATE

The exchange rate started 2017 trading in the retail market 
at an average of 5,739 PYG/US$, slightly below the average 
recorded in December of 2016. Then, in February, it was 
quoted at an average of 5,645 PYG/US$.  

Internationally, after Donald Trump’s victory in the United 
States, a significant recovery of the dollar was expected  
at the start of 2017. However, with the passing of the weeks, 
expectations were not met and the dollar lost ground. Locally, 
the payment for exports of agricultural products led the 
American currency to drop at the start of 2017.  
Said inflow of foreign currency is characteristic of the season. 
The recovery of reexports added to that due to the recovery  
of border trade. 
 
However, in March, the dollar had an upturn and started an 
upward trend, quoting at 5,600 PYG/US$ and an average of 
5,510 PYG/US$. In the days before the Holy Week, the demand 
for different currencies grew, raising the quoted price to 

then stabilize them. Between April and July, the American currency was 
maintained around 5,530 PYG/US$.  

Then, around mid-August, the exchange rate started to go up, getting  
to 5,650 and maintaining itself around 5,620 until the end of September. 
From then on, it was once again with a downward trend, ending November 
at 5,600 PYG/US$. In the last month of the year, the drop was accentuated 
even more, as after starting the month at 5,600, on December 31, it was 
quoted at 5,570 PYG/US$.  

In the period between January and December, the Central Bank of Paraguay 
made net sales for a total of US$ 273.1 million in the financial market 
to moderate some high and low peaks, considering the volatility of the 
exchange rate.  
 
Historically, international reserves had a record top of US$ 8,100 million, 
which mean a solid external position for Paraguay. With these reserves,  
the ability of the Central Bank of Paraguay to reduce volatilities in the 
exchange rate in the event of external shocks increases. 
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Daily evolution of the nominal exchange rate

Evolution of inflation

Monetary and Financial Sector
MONETARY

During the period between January and July, the main rises in price were seen in some food products like dairy products and cereals, 
while meat was relatively stable and slightly down at times. There were also increases in services related to health and education. Then, 
since August, there was a slight increase in bovine meat as adverse weather conditions in previous months affected pastures limiting 
the supply of meat. In addition, there were services increasing prices, like health, lodging, entertainment and tourism. So, inflation ends 
the year at 4.5%, slightly above the center of the target, but within the range stated by the Central Bank. 
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After a downward trend in the last quarter of 2016, ending the year at 2.9%, the average default rate of the financial system increased 
again during the first and second quarters of this year, reaching 3.4% in June, 2017. Banks registered defaulting for 3.2% and financial 
institutions, 6.9%. Then, in the third quarter, defaulting continued to rise, reaching a maximum of 3.8% in average in August. From 
September, it started to decline slightly, ending the year with an average of 2.8% for the system (2.7% in banks and 5.2% in financial 
institutions).  

As to the indicators of the banking system, the liquidity ratios are stable in the period between January and September, slightly above 
the values as of the end of 2016. In the last quarter, these values were reduced slightly. The ratio between Cash and cash equivalents 
and Deposits ended the year in 43.2%, and Cash and cash equivalents and Liabilities ended at 35.3%. Profitability ratios, which had been 
reduced in the first quarter, went up later on and are relatively higher than the figures from the previous year. In 2017, the ratio between 
Profit and Assets (ROA) is 2.3% and Profit and Shareholders’ Equity (ROE) is 24.5%.  
 
The lending interest rates in local currency in December 2017 reflected a weighted average of 15.4%, slightly below the 16.9% of the 
previous year. Borrowing rates had a weighted average of 4.4%, below the 5.4% seen in 2016. As to foreign currency, lending rates had 
an average of 7.2% in December, showing a decrease year over year. Borrowing rates were at 2.3%, similar to the figures from December, 
2016. 
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After a downward trend in the last quarter of 2016, ending the 
year at 2.9%, the average default rate of the financial system 
increased again during the first and second quarters of this 
year, reaching 3.4% in June, 2017. Banks registered defaulting 
for 3.2% and financial institutions, 6.9%. Then, in the third 
quarter, defaulting continued to rise, reaching a maximum 
of 3.8% in average in August. From September, it started to 
decline slightly, ending the year with an average of 2.8% for 
the system (2.7% in banks and 5.2% in financial institutions). 
 
As to the indicators of the banking system, the liquidity ratios 
are stable in the period between January and September, 
slightly above the values as of the end of 2016. In the last 
quarter, these values were reduced slightly. The ratio between 
Cash and cash equivalents and Deposits ended the year in 

43.2%, and Cash and cash equivalents and Liabilities ended at 35.3%. 
Profitability ratios, which had been reduced in the first quarter, went up 
later on and are relatively higher than the figures from the previous year. 
In 2017, the ratio between Profit and Assets (ROA) is 2.3% and Profit and 
Shareholders’ Equity (ROE) is 24.5%.  

The lending interest rates in local currency in December 2017 reflected  
a weighted average of 15.4%, slightly below the 16.9% of the previous year. 
Borrowing rates had a weighted average of 4.4%, below the 5.4% seen 
in 2016. As to foreign currency, lending rates had an average of 7.2% in 
December, showing a decrease year over year. Borrowing rates were  
at 2.3%, similar to the figures from December, 2016. 

FINANCIAL

Al cierre del 2017, los depósitos en el sistema financiero alcanzaron los Gs. 88,3 billones (unos US$ 15.866 millones), lo cual supera en 8% al 
As of the end of 2017, deposits in the financial system added up to PYG 88.3 trillion (around US$ 15,866 million), which exceed the value of 
the previous year in 8% in nominal terms and 3% in real terms. On the other hand, the balance of net credits of the financial system (banks 
and financial institutions) added up to PYG 77.5 trillion (around US$ 13,927 million). With this, the interannual growth in nominal values is 6%, 
while in real values, it is 1.1%. 
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CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

 A good performance is expected from this agricultural campaign, 
particularly as to the harvest of soybean. However, the agricultural GDP 
may be slightly lower considering the extraordinary levels of soybean 
productivity in 2016/7.

           There may be price variations, but significant changes  
             are not expected. 

 Growth in the livestock sector may be estimated in 2018, considering 
the good perspectives for exports. 

           An increase of the cattle herd is required for the growth  
             of the sector to be sustainable. 

 Construction would continue with good growth in 2018, mainly induced 
by follow-up in the execution of infrastructure projects.
 
           There is some concern about the execution of public works  
             in the process of change of government after the general elections         
             in April, 2018. 

 Local trade may show more dynamism in the first months  
of 2018, related to the electoral process, but would then have  
a similar behavior to the one seen in 2017. 

 The Central Bank of Paraguay announced a projection of 
growth of GDP of 4.5% and an inflationary goal of 4.0%, both  
for 2018. 

 The exchange rate would have an upward trend 
(depreciation) in 2018, so its influence on inflation may  
be slightly higher. 
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MAIN 
MANAGEMENT

4.2.

As of december 31 of 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

In millions of Guaraníes

As of the End of the Year

Assets 11.984.800 13.712.004 15.306.558 15.033.346 14.631.624

Loans 8.087.198 9.707.664 11.787.765 10.922.572 11.212.125

Deposits * 8.830.002 9.339.094 10.211.720 10.016.303 9.277.181

Shareholders’ Equity 928.460 1.090.253 1.259.462 1.455.724 1.572.702

Net Profit 150.679 134.656 211.454 236.020 193.701

Liquidity coverage consolidated funds (Buffer) 2.125.078 2.078.136 2.102.487 2.577.007 2.074.770

Number of Branches** 40 38 38 38 38

Number of Employees 711 689 680 692 649

Indicators

Return on Equity (ROE) 20,36% 15,01% 21,93% 21,24% 15,37%

Return on Assets (ROA) 1,32% 1,05% 1,50% 1,72% 1,45%

Financial Margin 442.099 486.533 651.214 702.163 629.391

Allowances 75.293 93.782 177.110 197.145 193.354

Coverage of Allowances on Non-Performing Loans 119,26% 100,01% 122,35% 117,16% 120,73%

Shareholders’ Equity as Percentage of Assets 7,75% 7,95% 8,23% 9,68% 10,75%

Efficiency 56,89% 59,80% 47,64% 46,31% 51,53%

Non-Performing Loans 2,47% 2,20% 2,36% 2,18% 2,17%

Market Share

Deposits 15,53% 16,23% 14,80% 12,82% 11,08%

Loans 17,07% 17,02% 16,69% 15,46% 15,28%

Assets 15,75% 15,34% 14,43% 13,75% 12,55%

Shareholders’ Equity 11,59% 11,31% 11,42% 11,99% 11,80%

Paid-Up Capital 15,61% 17,13% 16,23% 16,92% 17,36%

Number of Banks in the Financial System (units) 16 16 16 17 17

Exchange Rate (PYG per US$) 4.585 4.629 5.807 5.767 5.590

*Not including accrued interests
**36 Customer Service Branches, including Administrative Offices in the total.    

indicators

B) Financial Investments

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT OF BANCO REGIONAL 2017

  )  ssets

Exchange Rate Dec 13 Dec 14 Dec 15 Dec 16 Dec 17

USD 4.585 4.629 5.807 5.767  5.590 

*In Millions of guaranies

Investments

Exchange Rate US$ 5.590

Exchange Rate Euros 6.680

Composition of the Portfolio in Guaranies – Balances in PYG

Treasury Bonds 70.398.611.695

Fixed-term deposits in Other Institutions 45.417.439.507

Letters of Monetary Regulation 639.563.033.951

Composition of the Portfolio in Dollars – Balances in USD

Fixed-term deposits in Other Institutions 2.164.114

11.984.800

14,41%

11,63%

-1,78% -2,67%

22,08%

13.712.004

15.306.558 15.033.346 14.631.624

Dec 13 Dec 14 Dec 15 Dec 16 Dec 17
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C) Deposits D) Loans

8.830.002

8.087.1985,77%

20,04%

9,34%

-7,34%

21,43%

-1,91%

-7,38%
2,65%

5,06% 38,64%

9.339.094

9.707.664

10.211.720 11.787.765
10.016.303 10.922.572

9.277.181

11.212.125

Dec 13 Dec 13Dec 14 Dec 14

Time Deposits
50,12%

Deposits FC
56,17%

Sight Deposits
49,88%

Deposits LC
43,83%

Dec 15 Dec 15Dec 16 Dec 16Dec 17 Dec 17

Exchange Rate Dec 13 Dec 14 Dec 15 Dec 16 Dec 17

USD 4.585 4.629 5.807 5.767  5.590 

*In millions of guaranies. 
*Not including accrued interests. 

Exchange Rate Dec 13 Dec 14 Dec 15 Dec 16 Dec 17

USD 4.585 4.629 5.807 5.767  5.590 

*In millions of guaranies. 

Distribution of the Deposits Portfolio 
per Term

Distribution of the Loan Portfolio  
per Currency

Distribution of the Deposit Portfolio 
per Currency

Distribution of the Loan Portfolio per 
Sub-Banking

Loans FC
65,45% Large Corporate

79,67%

Retail
4,29%

Private
0,56%

SME
2,84%

Loans LC
34,55%

Medium Corporate
12,64%
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 Distribution of the Loans Portfolio per Sector

Retail and Wholesale
24,94%

Industry
8,80%

Agricultural 
Sector
40,59%

Other sectors
7,32%Consumer Banking

3,59%

Services
5,89%

Animal husbandry
8,88%

Sectors Participation in 
the System

Agricultural Sector 25,96%

Retail and Wholesale 16,91%

Industry 16,07%

Animal husbandry 12,40%

Services 12,95%

Consumer Banking 4,31%

Other economic sectors 7,66%

The composition of the following groups is detailed as follows: 
Agricultural sector: Agricultural crops in general + Agribusiness 
Services: Personal services + Services

(*) Data extracted from the Center of Information of the Superintendency of Banks. 

E) Non-Performing Loans

F) Loans Loss Allowance Coverage & Computable Value of Collateral

G) Shareholders’ Equity

Dec 13

Dec 13

Dec 13
Dec 14

Dec 14

Dec 14
Dec 15

Dec 15

Dec 15
Dec 16

Dec 16

Dec 16
Dec 17

Dec 17

Dec 17

2,01%

41,24%

2,47%

119,26%

2,20%

100,01%

2,36%

122,35%

2,18%

117,16%

2,17%

120,73%

1,84%

45,93%

2,47%

52,47%

2,80%

55,43%

2,67%

48,79%

Banco Regional

Loan Loss Allowance Coverage

Paid-Up Capital

Banking System

Computable Value of Collateral

Reserves and Income

928.460

17,43%

15,58%

15,52%

8,04%

69,39%

1.090.253
1.259.462

1.455.724
1.572.702

11.212.125

Exchange Rate Dec 13 Dec 14 Dec 15 Dec 16 Dec 17

USD 4.585 4.629 5.807 5.767  5.590 

*In millions of guaranies.
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Minimum required 12% (•••)

H) Capital Adecuacy Ratio J) Profitability and Efficiency

I) Net Profit

TIER I
ROE - ROA

EFFICIENCY

TIER II

Dec 13

Dec 13

Dec 13

Dec 14

Dec 14

Dec 14

Dec 15

Dec 15

Dec 15

Dec 16

Dec 16

Dec 16

Dec 17

Dec 17

Dec 17

947.564

947.564

11,85%

13,47%

12,82%

13,69%

11,00%

13,19%

13,82%

17,32%

14,63%

17,70%

1.113.966

1.113.966

1.216.216

1.216.216

1.483.346

1.483.346

1.606.129

1.606.129

Equity

Equity

TIER I

TIER II

Minimum required 8% (•••)

150.679

-10,63%

57,03%

11,62% -17,93%

28,55%

134.656

211.454

236.020

193.701

Exchange Rate Dec 13 Dec 14 Dec 15 Dec 16 Dec 17

USD 4.585 4.629 5.807 5.767  5.590 

Dec 13

Dec 13

Dec 14

Dec 14

Dec 15

Dec 15

Dec 16

Dec 16

Dec 17

Dec 17

1,32%

54,31%

20,36%

56,89%

15,01%

59,80%

21,93%

47,64%

21,24%

46,31%

15,37%

51,53%

1,05%

52,77%

1,50%

48,85%

1,72%

50,06%

1,45%

50,57%

ROE

Regional

ROA

Banking System
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Financial Statements 
4.3.

BALANCE SHEET AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017
Presented for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year. 
(Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes).

ASSETS  Note DECEMBER 31, 2017 DECEMBER 31, 2016

CASH AND BANKS
Cash 394,930,109,406 311,292,848,401

Central Bank of Paraguay  c.3 1,712,720,403,434 1,878,592,130,533

Other financial institutions 132,866,429,176 483,952,906,043

Checks and other documents to be cleared 149,553,628,418 94,516,345,270

Accrued interests 1,272,999,729 1,167,996,498

Allowances  c.7 (222,744,471) (3,082,878)

2,391,120,825,692 2,769,519,143,867

GOVERNMENT AND PRIVATE SECURITIES  c.4 728,974,625,667 951,701,160,424

PERFORMING LOANS FINANCIAL SECTOR
Other financial institutions 484,830,362,458 474,057,018,148

Financial derivative  c.18 15,711,408,830 106,436,255,790

Loans for overdrafts - 5,983,134

Accrued interests 10,337,791,670 6,430,962,545

Allowances  c.7 (59,917,086) (78,824,666)

 c.6.1 510,819,645,872 586,851,394,951

PERFORMING LOANS NONFINANCIAL SECTOR
Loans to private sector 10,272,875,657,920 9,980,267,600,078

Receivables from deferred letters of credit 151,039,186,814 129,057,260,831

Financial derivative  c.18 14,558,048,816 41,446,866,640

Loans to government sector 19,416,086,539 19,736,800,859

Valuation earnings not accrued (878,680,247) (7,371,657,027)

Accrued interests 169,867,942,560 200,558,816,697

Allowances  c.7 (154,881,735,630) (177,913,081,221)

 c.6.2 10,471,996,506,772 10,185,782,606,857

OTHER RECEIVABLES c.6.4 98,985,739,354 72,588,514,569

NONPERFORMING LOANS FINANCIAL 
Loans to nonfinancial sector 233,951,351,589 194,051,695,975

Loans to government sector - 32,238,564,112

Valuation earnings not accrued (2,260,883,653) (3,891,500,844)

Accrued interests 9,698,059,513 11,319,026,332

Allowances  c.7 (139,207,298,774) (100,391,975,349)

 c.6.3 102,181,228,675 133,325,810,226

INVESTMENTS
Private securities  c.8 48,450,888,678 18,913,888,872

Assets acquired in credit recovery  c.8 177,964,191,124 249,932,949,725

Other investments 3,633,806 3,748,504

Incomes from investments in the private sector 752,111,488 535,890,438

Allowances  c.7 (11,896,542,497) (10,130,439,984)

     c.8 215,274,282,599 259,256,037,555

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT c.9 107,769,540,807 67.120.977.524

DEFERRED CHARGES c.10 4,501,808,420 7,200,172,180

TOTAL ASSETS 14,631,624,203,858 15,033,345,818,153

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein.

STATEMENT OF financial SITUATION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017
Presented for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year. 
(Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes)

LIABILITIES  Note DECEMBER 31, 2017 DECEMBER 31, 2016

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
FINANCIAL SECTOR
Central Bank of Paraguay 11,514,290,649 12,145,866,538

Deposits from other banks c.15.1.b) 537,844,491,532 501,632,615,407

Correspondents - deferred letters of credit 148,673,815,800 126,203,320,379

Loans from financial institutions 1,481,196,009,946 1,101,491,728,879

ATM outstanding operations 7,857,729,470 3,654,364,771

Bonds issued abroad c.11.b) 1,677,141,000,000 1,730,079,000,000

Financial Derivative c.18 15,770,488,889 113,522,360,949

Accrued interests 75.,745,737,294 78,037,769,654

c.14 3,955,743,563,580 3,666,767,026.,577

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - NONFINANCIAL SECTOR
Deposits - Private Sector c.15.1.b) 7,763,237,246,104 8,192,626,539,516

Deposits - Public Sector c.15.1.b) 976,098,863,261 1,322,043,861,101

Other obligations 50,197,212,670 51,158,318,703

Debentures and bonds issued outstanding c.11.a) 106,543,177,260 158,844,893,440

Financial derivative c.18 14,632,615,446 41,326,314,055

Accrued interests 59,172,039,573 73,389,329,736

c.14 8,969,881,154,314 9,839,389,256,551

OTHER LIABILITIES
Taxes payable 13,498,791,956 11,985,989,298

Social security payables 566,085,385 1,078,608,556

Dividends payable 520,684,140 188,490,857

Other liabilities 92,791,733,693 21,922,662,114

Revenue Perceived Not Accrued 2,308,791,577 4,006,997,980

c.17 109,686,086,751 39,182,748,805

ACCRUALS 23,611,660,534 32,283,031,612

TOTAL LIABILITIES 13,058,922,465,179 13,577,622,063,545

EQUITY
Capital b.5; c.12 f 1,001,408,000,000 908,028,700,000

Non-Capitalized Contributions 16,445,060,000 17,339,360,000

Revaluation reserve 39,187,594,342 36,273,953,795

Legal reserve 309,881,501,648 258,061,562,370

Accumulated results 12,078,865,133 -

Profit for the year 193,700,717,556 236,020,178,443

TOTAL EQUITY D 1,572,701,738,679 1,455,723,754,608

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 14,631,624,203,858 15,033,345,818,153

CONTINGENCY AND MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS   

 Total contingencies accounts E 925,229,125,550 777,280,392,459

 Total memorandum accounts E 13,924,307,216,031 13,737,282,556,619

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein.
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STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2017
Presented for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year.
(Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes) 

 Nota DECEMBER 31, 2017  DECEMBER 31, 2016

FINANCIAL INCOME
  From performing loans - Financial sector 116,167,977,775 106,194,871,896

  From performing loans - Nonfinancial sector 1,033,616,890,237 1,131,526,140,633

  From nonperforming loans 13,818,096,712 26,425,674,436

  From listed price differences of government securities 16,949,799,783 28,453,761,244

  From valuation of financial assets and liabilities in foreign currency  f.2 3,347,508,808 -

1,183,900,273,315 1,292,600,448,209

FINANCIAL EXPENSES
  From financial liabilities - Financial sector (87,193,383,095) (95,851,450,104)

  From financial liabilities - Nonfinancial sector (463,968,572,102) (494,586,158,965)

  From valuation of financial assets and liabilities in foreign currency  f.2 - (6,791,027,467)

(551,161,955,197) (597,228,636,536)

     FINANCIAL INCOME BEFORE ALLOWANCES 632,738,318,118 695,371,811,673

ALLOWANCES
  Additions  c.7 (693,484,484,024) (873,696,717,545)

  Reversals  c.7 500,130,865,709 676,551,501,024

(193,353,618,315) (197,145,216,521)

     FINANCIAL PROFIT AFTER ALLOWANCES 439,384,699,803 498,226,595,152

NET INCOME FROM SERVICES
  Income from services 139,116,435,451 144,330,506,895

  Expenses from services (26,803,735,853) (30,795,228,695)

112,312,699,598 113,535,278,200

GROSS PROFIT 551,697,399,401 611,761,873,352

OTHER OPERATING INCOME 
  Gain for exchange and arbitrage operations 26,509,418,577 33,819,489,192

  Gain from other receivables 2,331 -

  Other income 2,060,278,132 1,828,147,846

  Valuation of other assets and liabilities in foreign currency - Net  f.2 2,388,731,100 3,076,622,101

30,958,430,140 38,724,259,139

OTHERS OPERATING EXPENSES
  Salaries and social securities (216,044,945,820) (202,165,555,217)

  General Expenses (141,297,917,406) (150,255,795,280)

  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment c.9 (13,773,823,935) (13,668,763,234)

  Amortization of deferred charges (2,454,273,129) (2,974,827,719)

  Others (29,007,078,518) (26,591,498,123)

(402,578,038,808) (395,656,439,573)

     NET OPERATING PROFIT 180,077,790,733 254,829,692,918

EXTRAORDINARY GAINS AND LOSSES
  Gains 45,265,785,835 15,495,465,473

  Losses (17,287,945,878) (11,752,886,229)

27,977,839,957 3,742,579,244

PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS
Gains 5,336,576,437 3,110,687,560

Losses (1,492,785,218) (2,583,263,331)

 d.3 3,843,791,219 527,424,229

     PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE INCOME TAX 211,899,421,909 259,099,696,391

  Income Tax  f.4 (18,198,704,353) (23,079,517,948)

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 193,700,717,556 236,020,178,443

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31, 2017
Presented for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year.

(Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes)

Concept
     Capital Non-capitalized 

contributions
Revaluation 

reserve
Legal  reserve

Retained 
earnings

Profit (Loss) for 
the year

TotalShares of
common stock

Shares of pre-
ferred stock

Balance as of December 
31, 2015 534,946,400,000 250,000,000,000 17,339,360,000 33,635,469,877 212,086,410,559 - 211,454,136,306 1,259,461,776,742

Plus (minus):

Transfer of prior year 

results
- - - - - 211,454,136,306 (211,454,136,306) -

Capitalization of 

earnings
123,082,300,000 - - - - (123,082,300,000) - -

Constitution of legal 

reserve
- - - - 45,975,151,811 (45,975,151,811) - -

Cash dividends - 

preferred shares
- - - - - (40,000,000,000) - (40,000,000,000)

Cash dividends - 

common shares
- - - - - (2,396,684,495) - (2,396,684,495)

Revaluation of 

property, plant and 

equipment

- - - 2,638,483,918 - - - 2,638,483,918

Profit for the year - - - - - - 236,020,178,443 236,020,178,443

Balance as of decem-
ber 31, 2016 658,028,700,000 250,000,000,000 17,339,360,000 36,273,953,795 258,061,562,370 - 236,020,178,443 1,455,723,754,608

Plus (minus):

Transfer of prior year 

results
- - - - - 236,020,178,443 (236,020,178,443) -

Capitalization of 

earnings
92,485,000,000 - - - - (92,485,000,000) - -

Constitution of legal 

reserve
- - - - 51,819,939,278 (51,819,939,278) - -

Cash dividends - 

preferred shares
- - - - - (40,000,000,000) - (40,000,000,000)

Cash dividends - 

common shares
894,300,000 - (894,300,000) - - (39,636,374,032) - (39,636,374,032)

Revaluation of 

property, plant and 

equipment

- - - 2,913,640,547 - - - 2,913,640,547

Profit for the year - - - - - - 193,700,717,556 193,700,717,556

Balance as of 
December 31, 2017 751,408,000,000 250,000,000,000 16,445,060,000 39,187,594,342 309,881,501,648 12,078,865,133 193,700,717,556 1,572,701,738,679

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein.
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CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017
Presented  for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year.
(Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes)

 Note DECEMBER 31, 2017 DECEMBER 31, 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 193,700,717,556 236,020,178,443

PLUS EXPENSES NOT INVOLVING USE OF CASH
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13,773,823,935 13,668,763,234

Amortization of deferred charges 2,454,273,129 2,974,827,719

Increase in allowances c.7 693,484,484,024 873,696,717,545

Accrual for income taxes f.4 18,198,704,353 23,079,517,948

Accrued interests unpaid 134,917,776,867 151,427,099,390

Net value of disposal of property, plant and equipment 12,689,791,925 2,305,680,927

875,518,854,233 1,067,152,606,763

LESS INCOME NOT INVOLVING CASH INFLOW
Effect of the valuation of accounts in foreign currency (47,273,007,483) (11,060,498,391)

Bancard dividend capitalization (3,904,918,296) (2,975,319,731)

Reversal of allowances c.7 (500,130,865,709) (676,551,501,024)

Accrued interests not collected (214,518,489,805) (258,856,320,084)

(765,827,281,293) (949,443,639,230)

Net decrease of loans (593,686,741,601) 700,236,680,823

Net decrease (increase) in other receivables (15,459,672,991) 19,539,364,654

Net (decrease) increase in financial liabilities (331,334,476,575) (638,983,419,430)

Net (decrease) increase in other liabilities 69,977,558,047 (4,727,570,405)

Net decrease in accruals (25,693,655,659) (12,241,559,358)

Income tax paid (3,597,629,634) (21,750,681,556)

(899,794,618,413) 42,072,814,728

Net cash flows generated by operating activities (596,402,327,917) 395,801,960,704

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net (increase) decrease in government securities 241,739,514,778 (137,608,328,219)

Net increase in investments 119.855,316,961 (8,419,371,114)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (64,198,538,596) (9,568,276,369)

Net increase of deferred charges 244,090,631 (1,411,951,258)

Cash (used in) generated by investing activities 297,640,383,774 (157,007,926,960)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payment of dividends (79,636,374,032) (42,396,684,495)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (79,636,374,032) (42,396,684,495)

NET INCREASE IN CASH (378,398,318,175) 196,397,349,249

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,769,519,143,867 2,573,121,794,618

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,391,120,825,692 2,769,519,143,867

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
ON DECEMBER 31, 2017

Presented for comparative purposes with the financial prior year (Figures stated in Paraguayan guaranies)

A. CONSIDERATION BY THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING AND PURPOSE OF PREPARATION OF THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements of Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. (hereinafter referred as Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. or “the Entity” or “the Bank”) at 
December 31, 2017 will be considered by the General Assembly of Shareholders to be held in 2018, within the period specified in the 
Bylaws and Article 1079 of the Civil Code.

The financial statements of the Bank at December 31, 2017 were approved by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on April 28, 2017.

B. BASIC INFORMATION ABOUT THE BANK

b.1 Legal status

Banco Regional Sociedad Anónima Emisora de Capital Abierto began under the name of Banco Regional S.A. de Inversión y Fomento, 
authorized by Decree of the Executive Power No. 4321 dated January 8, 1990, and by the Central Bank of Paraguay (hereinafter referred 
as “Central Bank of Paraguay” or “BCP”) through Resolution No. 5, Record No. 11 dated February 13, 1991.

Through Resolution No. 3, Record No. 214, dated December 1, 1998, the Board of Directors of the Central Bank of Paraguay authorized 
Banco Regional S.A. de Inversión y Fomento to amend its Bylaws, as decided by Special Shareholders’ Meeting held on April 24, 1998, to 
change its original name to Banco Regional S.A.

Through Resolution No. 1, Record No. 96, dated November 19, 2008, the Board of Directors of the Central Bank of Paraguay authorized 
Banco Regional S.A. to amend its Bylaws, as decided by Special Shareholders’ Meeting held on September 30, 2008, to change its previous 
business name to Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. The amendment was registered with the Public Registries on November 21, 2008, and with 
the CNV (Paraguayan securities commission) on such bank December 4, 2008, through CNV Resolution No. 1156/08.

On April 22, 2009, the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Banco ABN AMRO Paraguay S.A. was completed, with the purpose of integrate 
by merging such bank into Banco Regional SAECA. On September 3, 2009, the final merger agreement involving Banco ABN AMRO 
Paraguay S.A. was performed. On September 4, 2009, the Special Shareholders’ Meeting of Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. was held, during 
which the merger agreement between both banks was officially approved. In view of this process, Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A., as the 
controlling Entity, assumes all rights and obligations of the acquired entity.

At December 31, 2017 the Bank had 36 branches. (37 branches as of December 31, 2016)

b.2 Basis of preparation of the financial statements.
The financial statements are a free translation into English of those originally prepared in Spanish, expressed in local currency 
(Guaranies or PYG). 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting standards , valuation and risk classification criteria and 
presentation rules disposed by the Central Bank of Paraguay, which constitute the legal accounting standards in force in Paraguay for the 
presentation of the financial statements of financial entities regulated by the Central Bank of Paraguay.

As a result of the change in the accounting standards framework used in the preparation of the financial statements of the bank as of 
and for the year ended December 31, 2017, with respect of the one used in te preparation of the financial statements of previous years, 
no differences were indentified that require adjustments to or disclosure in the Bank’s financial statements for the current year nor for 
the previous years, considering taht the valuation, measurement, presentation and disclosure criteria, as applicable to the Bank, are the 
same than those applied in the prior years.

The accounting model is based on a conventional basis of historical cost, except for property, plant and equipment that are exposed to 
their revalued amounts, as explained in note c.9 and the trarment assigned to monetary assets and liabilities in foreing currency, as 
explained in note c.1, and do not recognize the overall effects of inflation on the financial position of the institution, or the results of its 
operations. Had a full monetary correction of the financial statements been applied, differences could have arisen in the presentation of 
the financial and patrimonial situation, in the results of operations and in the cash flows of the entity as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. 
According to the Consumer Pirce Index published by the Central Bank of Paraguay, inflation for the year ended on December 31, 2017 and 
2016 was 4.5% and 3.9% respectively. 

The accounting rules set by the Central Bank of Paraguay differ from the existing standards of financial reporting in Paraguay, mainly in 
the following aspects:

a. They do not require the issuance of the statement of cash flows and the comparative financial statements.
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b. The adjustments to accumulated results are recorded as income (expense) for the year without affecting the Bank’s net equity accounts.
c. The accounting record of the deferred tax is not contemplated.
d. Earnings per share do not need to be calculated or disclosed.
e. There are specific criteria for the classification and valuation of the loan portfolio, the accrual recognition of interest and gains from 
valuation is suspended, as mentioned in note c.6.
f. Banks are required to set allowances for loan losses, allowances for contingent risks and assets in general based on the parameters set 
forth in Resolution 1, Record No. 60, of the Board of Directors of the Central Bank of Paraguay dated September 28, 2007 and subsequent 
amendments.
g. No disclosure is required of PP&E movements.
h. No disclosure is required of the concentration of liabilities by numbers of depositors.
i. No disclosure is required of the average interest rates or of the average assets and liabilities that have accrued interest.
j. No opening movement of deferred charges is required.
k. No disclosure of the base is required to identify the general risks of the banking industry and the accounting treatment of such risks, and
l.Permanent investments in shares of other companies are valued at cost and,
m. Allows accounting treatments for specific situations or circumstances approved by the Superintendency of Banks.

Disclosure and / or quantification of these differences are not required by the Central Bank of Paraguay.

The preparation of these financial statements requires that the Board of Directors and Management of the Bank make certain estimates and 
assumptions that affect asset and liability balances, the disclosures of contingencies and the recognition of income and expenses. Assets 
and liabilities are recognized in the financial statements when it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to or from the Bank and the 
different items have a cost or value that can be reliably measured. If in the future these estimates and assumptions, which are based on 
Management’s best judgment as of the date of these financial statements, change with regard to the current circumstances, the original 
estimates and assumptions will be appropriately amended on the date on which those changes take place. The main estimates related to the 
financial statements refer to the allowances for doubtful accounts, PP&E depreciations, the amortization of deferred charges and allowances 
to cover other contingencies and eventual legal litigation initiated against the Entity.

In this context, and given the economic sector to which the bank’s main credit facilities are provided, the Management has been observing 
certain specific cases on which has drawn up actions and plans that are expected to be completed in the first half of 2018. In line with said 
plans it have been established allowances according to the results tat is estimated to obtain form each negotiation.

b.3 Foreign branches
The Bank has no foreign branches.

b.4 Shareholdings in other companies
Interest in capital stock in other companies at December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

December 31, 2017

Bancard S.A. - Paraguay Affiliate PYG.    9,675,000,000 6,67%      10,482,846,968 

VISA INC - USA Non-Affiliate  US$                            1 Minority                      6,150 

SWIFT Non-Affiliate  EUR                   19,800 Minority           111,035,560 

Total   10,593,888,678

December 31, 2016

Bancard S.A. - Paraguay Affiliate PYG.     
7,995,000,000 

6,67%        8,802,846,968 

VISA INC - USA Non-Affiliate  US$                            1 Minority                      6,344 

SWIFT Non-Affiliate  EUR                   19,800 Minority           111,035,560 

Total     8,913,888,872

The abovementioned investments are recorded in the “Investments in securities issued by the private sector”. See note c.8. 

b.5  Capital structure and characteristics of the shares

The paid in capital at December 31, 2017 and 2016, by type of share, is as follows:

December 31, 2017

Common, suscribed and paid in shares
Votes per share PYG

Type Number
Founder Class “A” common shares              135,809                              5           13,580,900,000 

Common Class “A” common shares           4,507,578                              1         450,757,800,000 

Multiple Class “B” common shares                90,539                              5             9,053,900,000 

Common Class “B” common shares           2,780,154                              1          278,015,400,000 

Preferred shares           2,500,000                               -          250,000,000,000 

Total 10,014,080         1,001,408,000,000

December 31, 2016

Common, suscribed and paid in shares
Votes per share PYG

Type Number
Founder Class “A” common shares 135,809 5 13,580,900,000

Common Class “A” common shares 3,927,116 1 392,711,600,000

Multiple Class “B” common shares 90,539 5 9,053,900,000

Common Class “B” common shares 2,426,823 1 242,682,300,000

Preferred shares 2,500,000 - 250,000,000,000

Total 9.080.287 908,028,700,000

The shareholder structure is as follows:

As of December 31, 2017

Shareholders Shares PYG % Share % Of votes Country
Other resident minority shareholders      539,478,700,000 53,86% 51,43% Paraguay

Raatz Group          74,860,000,000 7,49% 10,17% Paraguay

Rabo Development (*)        387,069,300,000 38,65% 38,40% Netherlands

Total   1,001,408,000,000 100% 100%
(*) 100% owned by Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A. from Netherlands.

As of December 31, 2016

Shareholders Shares PYG % Share % Of votes Country
Other resident minority shareholders     556,292,500,000 61,26% 61,53% Paraguay

Rabo Development B.V. (*)     351,736,200,000 38,74% 38,47% Netherlands

Total  908,028,700.000 100% 100%

(*) 100% owned by Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A. from Netherlands.

As mentioned in note c.12 d), “Monetary correction of capital stock”, the Bank’s current level of paid in capital is above the legal minimum 
required by the Central Bank of Paraguay for this fiscal year.

b.6 Board of Directors and Executive Officers

At December 31, 2017, the Board of Directors and Executive Officers are as follows: 

Board of Directors
President: Raúl Vera Bogado

Vice-President: Cornelis J. Beijer

Directors: Alfredo Ricardo Raatz 

Petrus van Jaarsveld

Wolfgang Brönstrup 

Alternate directors: Irene Memmel de Matiauda

Erik Heyl

Francisco Yanagida 

Adrian Lorenzutti

Mirian Raatz de Soley

Syndic: Roland Wolff

Alternate Syndic: Sandra Yshizuka

Plana Ejecutiva
General Manager Eugenio Oze de Morvil

C.O.O. Matheus den Exter

Corporate Banking Acting Manager Walter Duarte Kallus

Finance Manager Oscar Godoy Silvero

Internal Audit Manager Juan Carlos Meza

Compliance Manager Antonio Giménez

Corporate Risks Manager and Business Jorge Sienkawiec

Manager Risk Individuals and SMEs Mats Hernegard

Branch Manager Cynthia Sotelo

Private Banking Manager Anahí Heisecke

Treasury Manager Daniel Cibils

Correspondent and Foreing Trade Manager María Fernanda Carrón

Human Resources Manager Katya Spiridonoff

Operations Manager Isabel Galiano de Ayala 

Legal Affairs Manager Marcos Dalla Fontana

Information Technology Manager Mirta González

Administrative Manager Fabio Sitzmann Hein

Operational Risk Manager Erica Werner

Regular Notary Leticia Pérez Domínguez

General Accountant Francisco Furman Silva
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C. INFORMATION REGARDING MAIN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

c.1 Valuation of foreign currency

The assets and liabilities stated in foreign currency are valued at the exchange rates prevailing at December 31, 2017 and 2016 respectively, 
provided by the Foreign Exchange Desk of the International Transactions Department at the Central Bank of Paraguay, and do not differ mate-
rially from the exchange rates in effect on the free foreign exchange market:

Currency
Exchange Rate at December 31, 2017 Exchange Rate at December 31, 2016

PYG per foreing currency unit
1 US Dollar           5,590.47           5,766.93 

1 Euro           6,680.05           6,033.94 

1 Yen                49.54                49.41 

1 Real           1,692.08           1,768.78 

1 Argentine Peso              299.36              366.54 

1 Pound Sterling           7,518.62           7,055.84 

1 Swiss Franc           5,712.14           5,626.82 

1 Swedish Krona              678.70              631.99 

1 Chinese Yuan              855.66              829.20 

1 Australian Dollar           4,358.33           4,149.88 

1 Canadian Dollar           4,437.59           4,259.18 

The foreign exchange differences resulting from fluctuations in the exchange rates between the date on which a transaction is closed and 
the date on which it is settled or valued at the end of each period, are recognized in the income (loss) for the period, with the exceptions 
indicated in note f.1.

c.2 Position in foreign currency

The foreign exchange position at December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Concept
December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Arbitrated amount to 
US$

Equivalent amount to PYG Arbitrated amount to 
US$

Equivalent amount to PYG

Total assets in foreing 
currency

1,545,992,368 8,642,823,952,368 1,564,605,929 9,022,972,872,239

Total liabilities in 
foreing currency

(1,539,515,177) (8,606,613,412,359) (1,557,710,509) (8,983,207,464,850)

Net position in foreing 
currency

6,477,191 36,210,540,009 6,895,421 39,765,407,389

At December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the foreign currency position did not exceed the limit set by the Bank position paper presented 
to the Central Bank of Paraguay, on January 3, 2013, pursuant to Resolution No. 25 Act No. 77 dated December 28, 2011 which establishes the 
free choice of position range depending on the category established in the Resolution that financial institutions chosen for their net position 
for each year.

Market risk management: Market risk is the risk that the changes in market prices, for instance, interest rates, changes in foreign currency, 
etc., will affect the Bank’s equity and/or results depending on the positions taken on the financial market. The Bank controls market risk by 
monitoring the limits established in the Market Risk Policies approved by the Assets and Liabilities Committee and the Board of Directors.

c.3 Deposits in the Central Bank of Paraguay

The deposits in the Central Bank of Paraguay at December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Item
December 31, 2017

PYG
December 31, 2016

PYG
Minimum cash requirements in PYG        411,297,381,697      410,206,331,375 

Minimum cash requirements in USD        802,687,162,481      921,755,200,812 

Minimum cash requirements in EUR            6,205,209,000        10,226,306,729 

Special cash requirements in PYG                 67,792,078             743,992,078 

Special cash requirements in USD                                 -             847,738,710 

Monetary Transactions Operations        336,798,000,000      372,505,000,000 

Current accounts in PYG                      127,212                    622,498 

Current accounts in USD        150,342,557,909      157,553,445,292 

Current accounts in EUR            5,322,173,057          4,753,493,039 

Total     1,712,720,403,434   1,878,592,130,533 

See aditionally paragraph a), of note c.12

Government and private securities
Issuance 
currency

Amount in issuance 
currency

Amount in Paraguayan Guaranies

Face value Book value
Paraguayan Treasury Bonds (a) PYG 80,442,744,521 80,442,744,521 70,398,611,695

Monetary Policy Instruments PYG 663,800,000,000 663,800,000,000 639,563,033,951

Accrued interest 19,012,980,021

Total 744,242,744,521 728,974,625,667

 As of December 31, 2016

Government and private securities
Issuance
currency

Amount in issuance 
currency

Amount in Paraguayan Guaranies

Face value Book value
Paraguayan Treasury Bonds (a) and (b) PYG 271,706,749,744 271,706,749,744 240,022,764,393

Monetary Policy Instruments (b) PYG 702,000,000,000 702,000,000,000 668,398,231,781

Bonds in Private Companies PYG 5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 5,243,709,867

Accrued interest 38,036,454,383

Total 978,706,749,744 951,701,160,424

(a) As December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Bank has granted Paraguayan Treasury Bonds for a total amount of PYG 13,15,712,906 
PYG 15,070,361,325 respectively, as minimum guarantees required by the BCP, under general regulations of the SIPAP (See also note c.12.b).

c.4 Government and private securities

The government and private securities acquired by Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. involve Paraguayan Treasury Bonds and Monetary Policy Instru-
ments. The Paraguayan Treasury Bonds at face value plus accrued income at December 31, 2017 and 2016 and the Monetary Policy Instru-
ments at face value plus total incomes minus incomes to be accrued as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

As of December 31, 2017

b.7  English translation of statutory financial statements

These financial statements have been translated into English for the convenience of English-speaking readers. The financial statements are the English 
translation of those originally prepared by the Entity in Spanish, expressed in local currency (Guaranies) and presented in accordance with accounting 
rules, regulations and instructions established by the Central Bank of Paraguay and, in issues not covered by them, with the financial reporting stan-
dards in force in Paraguay. The effects of the differences between these standards and the accounting principles generally accepted in the countries 
in which the financial statements are to be used have not been quantified. Accordingly, the accompanying financial statements are not intended to 
present the financial position, results of operations, shareholder’s equity or cash flows in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the countries of users of the financial statements, other than Paraguay.
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c.5 Assets and liabilities with adjustment clauses

Except for the loans obtained (liabilities) from the “Agencia Financiera de Desarrollo” and the loans granted (assets) with funds obtained 
from “Agencia Financiera de Desarrollo” and certain loans granted using the Bank’s own funds which involve contractual clauses for 
potential adjustments to the annual interest rates at December 31, 2017 and 2016 respectively, there were no other assets or liabilities with 
adjustment clauses.

c.6 Loan portfolio

Management of credit risk: 

Credit risk is controlled by the Bank’s Board of Directors and Management, mainly through the evaluation and analysis of individual 
transactions, for which certain clearly-defined aspects in the Bank’s credit policies are taken into consideration, such as: the proven payment 
ability and indebtedness of the debtors, the credit concentration of groups of companies, individual credit-granting limits, evaluation of 
economic sectors, preferred securities and the working capital requirement, depending on the market risks.

Criteria for classification and valuation: 

The loan portfolio has been stated at face value plus accrued interest the end of the year, net of allowances, which were calculated according 
to the Bank’s internal credit valuation policies and the allowances set forth by the Central Bank of Paraguay Board of Director’s in the 
Resolution No. 1, Record No. 60 dated September 28, 2007, and subsequent amendments; for which:

a) Debtors have been classified into the following segments: i) Large debtors; ii) Medium and small debtors; iii) Personal debtors of consumer 
or mortgage loans and iv) Microcredits;

b) The debtors have been classified into 6 categories of risk, based on the evaluation and qualification of the payment capacity of a debtor or 
group of related debtors, with respect to all of their obligations. A rule amending Resolution No. 1/2007 requires Category 1 disintegrates into 
three sub-categories for the purpose of determination of allowances (1, 1.a y 1.b);

c) Accrued interest on performing loans ranked on category “1” and category “2” according to subjective analysis, are recognized as revenue. 
Accrued interest receivable at the reporting date on nonperforming loans and/or performing loans ranked on category “2” and higher, which 
have been recognized as revenue until its entry into arrears, have an allowances that covers the total amount of such accrued interest;

d) The accrual of interest and the recognition of gains from the valuation of nonperforming loans and performing loans classified in risk 
categories “2” or higher since its entry into arrears, have been suspended, and are recognized as revenue when are collected, as mentioned in 
note f.1;
e) Amortized loans are considered nonperforming after 61 days of default on any of their installments, and fixed term loans or single maturity 
loans, on the day after maturity;
f) Specific allowances have been set which are required to cover potential losses that may arise if the portfolio is not recovered  according 
to the criteria and parameters established by Resolution of the Board of the Central Bank of Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 60 September 28, 2007, 
amendments and all supplemental;
g) Generic allowances have been made of net loan portfolio of specific allowances according to the criteria and parameters established by 
Resolution of the Board of the Central Bank of Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 60 September 28, 2007, and
h) Bad debts that are written off, under the conditions established in the applicable regulation of the BCP, are recorded and reported in 
memorandum accounts.

c.6.1 Performing loans to the financial sector

According to the valuation standards for credit risks and assets set forth by the Banks Regulatory Authority of the Central Bank of Paraguay, 
the Bank’s performing loan portfolio for the financial sector is classified by risk as follows:

As of december 31, 2017

Risk Catergory
Book balance before 

allowances(a) 
Guaranties 
computable

Allowances
Book balances 

after allowancesMinimum % (b) Booked (c)

1     508,783,513,524   151,680,609,916 0%                        -     508,783,513,524 

1a            218,783,574          217,000,012 0,5%             (550,051)          218,233,523 

2         1,877,265,860       1,336,662,007 5%        (59,367,035)       1,817,898,825 

Total     510,879,562,958   153,234,271,935        (59,917,086)   510,819,645,872 

As of December 31, 2016

Risk Catergory
Book balance before 

allowances (a)
Guaranties 
computable

Allowances
Book balance after 

allowancesMinimum % (b) Booked (c)

1     584,914,171,240   149,747,349,334 0%                        -     584,914,171,240 

2         2,016,048,377          846,824,957 5%        (78,824,666)       1,937,223,711 

Total     586,930,219,617   150,594,174,291        (78,824,666)   586,851,394,951 

References:

 (a) Includes capital and interest and forward contracts (net of valuation earnings not accrued);
 (b) The percentages of allowances and risk categories defined for classification and constitution of allowances in the loan portfolio, 
are based on the criteria established for this purpose in Resolution of the Central Bank of Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 60 dated September 28, 
2007 and subsequent amendments; and
 (c) Allowances are set considering additional risk contingent balances. For those borrowers who do not have computable guaran-
tees, the allowance is calculated on the total risk (including contingent and monetary debt). For the rest of debtors, the allowance is calcula-
ted in two phases, computing guarantees for the second one.

c.6.2 Performing loans to the nonfinancial sector 

The performing loans portfolio of the nonfinancial sector is comprised as follows:

Concept December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Fixed terms loans, not subject to adjustment  3,206,268,001,098  3,247,847,463,005 

Installments loans, not subject to adjustment  5,878,597,922,242  5,524,965,052,216 

Checks acquired in Paraguay  373,486,645  976,248,966 

Loans for overdraft  84,056,016,523  90,697,782,556 

Receivables from deferred credit documents  151,039,186,814  129,057,260,831 

Receivables from use of credit documents  162,770,714,890  149,429,682,055 

Loans with managed founds  521,956,256,757  463,367,765,501 

Bills discounted  110,922,240,031  74,965,710,046 

Deferred checks discounted  227,656,099,098  191,860,860,195 

Porfolio purchase  80,274,920,636  236,157,035,538 

Transactions pending settlement  14,558,048,816  41,446,866,640 

Loans to the public sector  19,416,086,539  19,736,800,859 

Receivables from accrued financial products  169,867,942,560  200,558,816,697 

(-) Valuation gains recognition suspended  (878,680,247)  (7,371,657,027)

(-) Allowances  (154,881,735,630)  (177,913,081,221)

Total  10,471,996,506,772  10,185,782,606,857 
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According to the valuation standards for credit risks and assets set forth by the Central Bank of Paraguay, the portfolio of performing loan 
portfolio to the nonfinancial sector is classified by risk as follows:

As of December 31, 2017

Risks Category
Book balance before 

allowances (a)
Guaranties 
computable

Allowances
Book balance after 

allowancesMinimum % (b) Booked (d)

1 9,538,190,355,063 4,754,484,860,349 0% (2,283,124,425) 9,535,907,230,638

1a 195,711,138,008 107,840,825,389 0,5% (735,882,704) 194,975,255,304

1b 66,213,654,171 42,285,833,724 1,5% (677,753,123) 65,535,901,048

2 617,391,340,151 312,030,040.873 5% (22,843,258,670) 594,548,081,481

3 166.689.873,586 75,710,328,429 25% (30,187,866,715) 136,502,006,871

4 19,735,265,197 4,836,548,945 50% (8,888,450,302) 10,846,814,895

5 17,730,266,695 5,796,332,952 75% (9,341,485,688) 8,388,781,007

6 5,216,349,531 1,385,125,228 100% (3,935,267,297) 1,281,082,234

Generic allowances (c) (75,988,646,706) (75,988,646,706)

Total 10.626.878.242.402 5.304.369.895.889 (154,881,735,630) 10,471,996,506,772

As of December 31, 2016

Risks 
Category

Book balance before 
allowances (a)

Guaranties 
computable

Allowances
Book balance after 

allowancesMinimum % (b)
Booked (d)

1      8,636,339,200,156   4,546,203,860,634 0%                              -       8,636,339,200,156 

1a         280,509,063,427         142,629,307,131 0,5%         (1,292,625,601)           279,216,437,826 

1b           69,555,863,475           36,339,665,175 1,5%            (770,388,799)             68,785,474,676 

2         959,424,475,830         591,431,155,400 5%       (32,790,098,420)         926,634,377,410 

3         326,756,537,153         175,763,325,463 25%       (58,934,697,747)         267,821,839,406 

4           82,990,861,257           41,122,764,262 50%       (28,642,518,967)           54,348,342,290 

5             6,666,019,982             3,512,717,287 75%         (2,902,372,569)               3,763,647,413 

6             1,453,666,798                584,222,464 100%            (873,636,791)                 580,030,007 

Generic allowances (c)       (51,706,742,327)        (51,706,742,327)

Total    10,363,695,688,078      5,537,587,017,816     (177,913,081,221)    10,185,782,606,857 

References:

 (a) Includes capital and interest and forward contracts (net of valuation earnings not accrued);
 (b) The percentages of allowances and risk categories defined for classification and constitution of allowances in the 
loan portfolio, are based on the criteria established for this purpose in Resolution of the Central Bank of Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 60 
dated September 28, 2007 and subsequent amendments;
 (c) Generic allowances established by the Bank in accordance with the requirements of Resolution of the Central Bank 
of Paraguay N° 1, Act No. 60 dated September 28, 2007 and subsequent amendments; and additional generic allowances defined 
by the Board of Directors of the Entity; and
 (d) Allowances are set considering additional risk contingent balances. For those borrowers who do not have computa-
ble guarantees, the allowance is calculated on the total risk (including contingent and monetary debt). For the rest of debtors, the 
allowance is calculated in two phases, computing guarantees for the second one.

c.6.3 Nonperforming loans

The nonperforming loans portfolio is comprised as follows:

Concept December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Nonperforming loans - Status: past due - 
nonfinancial sector

     10,982,112,066      24,976,395,234 

Nonperforming loans - Status: undergoing proceedings      40,628,149,656      38,915,541,704 

Nonperforming loans - Status: delinquent    182,341,089,867    130,159,759,037 

Nonperforming loans - Status: past due - financial sector                           -      32,238,564,112 

Accrued interests       9,698,059,513      11,319,026,332 

(-) Unrealized valuation earnings      (2,260,883,653)      (3,891,500,844)

(-) Allowances  (139,207,298,774)   (100,391,975,349)

Total    102,181,228,675    133,325,810,226 

According to the valuation standards for credit risks and assets set forth by the Central Bank of Paraguay, the portfolio of nonperforming loan 
is classified by risk as follows:

As of december 31, 2017

Risk Category
Book balance before 

allowances (a)
Guaranties 
computable

Allowances
Book balance after 

allowancesMinimum % (b) Booked (c)

1b 1,894,466,797 1,417,600,462 1,5% (133,092,803) 1,761,373,994

2 5,477,319,920 3,230,743,156 5% (568,896,657) 4,908,423,263

3 16,775,998,699 893,096,458 25% (4,484,575,610) 12,291,423,089

4 22,635,507,225 3,720,920,954 50% (10,241,980,811) 12,393,526,414

5 28,295,128,694 10,850,750,473 75% (14,867,129,283) 13,427,999,411

6 166,310,106,114 57,398,482,504 100% (108,911,623,610) 57,398,482,504

Total 241,388,527,449 77,511,594,007 (139,207,298,774) 102,181,228,675

 As of December 31, 2016

Risk Category
Book balance before 

allowances (a)

Guarantees compu-
table for allowan-

ces

Allowances
Book balance after 

allowancesMinimum % (b) Booked (c)

1a 2,364,961 - 0,5% (11,825) 2,353,136

1b 1,442,228,762 75,206,584 1,5% (46,908,159) 1,395,320,603

2 9,326,340,352 6,683,520,221 5% (883,612,949) 8,442,727,403

3 19,534,904,547 7,462,729,394 25% (4,353,608,263) 15,181,296,284

4 74,232,106,153 48,401,935,339 50% (23,040,464,007) 51,191,642,146

5 29,509,202,721 10,986,651,050 75% (15,241,696,382) 14,267,506,339

6 99,670,638,079 43,206,865,307 100% (56,825,673,764) 42,844,964,315

Total 233,717,785,575 116,816,907,895 (100,391,975,349) 133,325,810,226

References:

 (a) Includes principal and interest and forward contracts (net of valuation earnings not accrued);
 (b) The percentages of allowances and risk categories defined for classification and constitution of allowances in the loan portfolio, 
are based on the criteria established for this purpose in Resolution of the Central Bank of Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 60 dated September 28, 
2007 and subsequent amendments; and
 (c) Allowances are set considering additional risk contingent balances. For those borrowers who do not have computable 
guarantees, the allowance is calculated on the total risk (including contingent and monetary debt). For the rest of debtors, the allowance is 
calculated in two phases, computing guarantees only for the second one.
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c.6.4 Other receivables

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, are composed as follows:

Item December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Prepaid expenses         3,754,630,395          2,077,192,281 

Deferred changes related bound issuance 
abroad

        6,997,588,823         13,024,748,659 

Prepaid income tax (a)       25,348,311,190         20,700,868,320 

Prepayment of goods and services purchases         3,953,761,023          4,066,998,759 

Lawsuit expenses recoverable         8,866,985,135          6,002,028,960 

Tax credits certificates       40,651,418,010         17,947,607,772 

Value-added tax deductible         3,139,337,309          2,631,545,004 

Uncollected acrued interest         5,601,716,041          2,511,060,127 

Advanced to suppliers         2,936,885,268          2,183,329,482 

Other         1,651,447,320          1,084,483,360 

Receivables from sale of property         2,152,725,372          2,747,121,659 

Expenses to be recovered         1,880,560,238          1,997,008,392 

(Valuation gains to be realized)            (11,788,200)             (47,822,000)

Allowances (Note c.7)       (7,937,838,570)         (4,337,656,206)

 Total    98,985,739,354      72,588,514,569 

a) The accrual for income tax liabilities included in the “Accruals” as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 was approximately PYG 18,198,704,353 
and PYG 23,079,517,948, respectively.

Concept
Balance at beginning 

of the year
Additions

Application of 
allowances

Reversal of 
allowances for 

the year

Changes from 
valuation 
in foreing 
currency

Balance at the end 
of the year

Cash and Bank (3,082,878) (314,831,916) - 94,171,986 998,337 (222,744,471)

Performing 
Loans - Financial 
sector

(78,824,666) (388,312,184) - 407,327,461 (107,697) (59,917,086)

Performing
loans - Nonfinan-
cial sector

(177,913,081,221) (371,512,643,032) 12,995,682,883 378,209,081,039 3,339,224,701 (154,881,735,630)

Other receivables (4,337,656,206) (3,952,949,781) 142,182,619 151,326,347 59,258,451 (7,937,838,570)

Nonperforming 
loans

(100,391,975,349) (314,549,549,850) 154,165,544,424 120,268,864,128 1,299,817,873 (139,207,298,774)

Investments (10,130,439,984) (2,766,197,261) - 1,000,094,748 - (11,896,542,497)

 Total (292,855,060,304) (693,484,484,024) 167,303,409,926 500,130,865,709 4,699,191,665 (314,206,077,028)

c.7 Allowances for direct and contingent risks

Allowances for loan losses and other assets are determined at the end of each period based on the examination to determine the portion of those 
portfolios that are not recoverable and considering the established, for each type of credit risk, laid down in the Resolution of the Central Bank of 
Paraguay No. 1, Act. No. 60 dated September 28, 2007, and its amendments and/or further extensions.

On a regular basis, Bank Management reviews and analyzes the loan portfolio pursuant to credit valuation standards established by the Central 
Bank of Paraguay, so as to adjust the allowances for loan losses. All allowances necessary to cover potential losses on direct and contingent 
risks have been set, pursuant to the criteria of Bank Management and the requirements of Central Bank of Paraguay Board of  Directors’ Reso-
lution No. 1, Act. No. 60, dated September 28, 2007, Resolution No. 37, Act. No. 72, dated November 29, 2011 and Resolution No. 13, Act. No. 28, 
dated April 24, 2014.

The movement recorded during the years ended December 31, 2017, and 2016, in the allowance accounts is summarized as follows:

As of December 31, 2017

c.8 Investments

The investments accounts includes:

Assets received in credit recovery:

These assets are valued at the lowest of the following three values: Appraisal value, allocation value and balance of the receivable 
immediately before allocation, pursuant to the provisions of the Central Bank of Paraguay in this regard. Additionally, for assets exceeding the 
terms established by the Central Bank of Paraguay for their possession, allowances are set forth pursuant to the provisions in Resolution No. 
1, Act. No. 60 dated September 28, 2007, issued by the Board of Directors of the Central Bank of Paraguay. After three years of possession, an 
allowance is set for 100% of these assets. 

Private securities: 

Long-term investments in interests in companies, which have been valued at acquisition value as they represent a minority interest of the 
Bank. This value does not exceed their market value, calculated based on the equity method value of those investments.

Other investments:

They are related to works of art that are valued at acquisition cost, which does not exceed their recoverable value.

The investments as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 is comprised as follows:

As of December 31, 2016

Concept
Balance al beginning 

of the year
Additions

Application of 
allowances

Reversal of 
allowances for 

the year

Changes from 
valuation 
in foreing 
currency

Balance at the end 
of the year

Cash and Bank (2,750,353) (708,307,265) - 707,812,785 161,955 (3,082,878)

Performing Loans 
- Financial sector

(902,883,770) (528,821,448) 6,270 1,311,976,210 40,898,072 (78,824,666)

Performing loans 
- nonfinancial 
sector

(180,192,370,436) (412,245,224,022) 5,172,854,821 409,496,730,849 (145,072,433) (177,913,081,221)

Other receivables (2,653,420,957) (1,869,822,327) - 177,398,658 8,188,420 (4,337,656,206)

Nonperforming 
loans

(158,612,502,451) (451,036,227,822) 248,979,691,161 258,910,467,453 1,366,596,310 (100,391,975,349)

Investments (8,769,240,392) (7,308,314,661) - 5,947,115,069 - (10,130,439,984)

 Total (351,133,168,359) (873,696,717,545) 254,152,552,252 676,551,501,024 1,270,772,324 (292,855,060,304)

As of december 31, 2017

Item
Book balance before 

allowances PYG
Allowances

PYG
Book balance after 

allowances PYG
Assets

Assets acquired in credit recovery            177,964,191,124     (11,896,542,497)      166,067,648,627 

Other investments                      3,633,806 -                3,633,806 

Investments in securities issued by private sector              38,450,888,678 -        38,450,888,678 

Permanent investments - incorporate companies (a)              10,000,000,000                            -        10,000,000,000 

Investment income in the private sector                   752,111,488                            -            752,111,488 

Total         227,170,825,096   (11,896,542,497)   215,274,282,599 
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As of december 31, 2016

Concept
Book balance before 

allowances PYG
Allowances

PYG
Book balance after 

allowances PYG
Assets

Assets acquired in credit recovery            249,932,949,725     (10,130,439,984)      239,802,509,741 

Other investments                      3,748,504 -                3,748,504 

Investments in securities issued by private sector                8,913,888,872 -         8,913,888,872 

Permanent investments - subordinated bonds (a)              10,000,000,000                            -        10,000,000,000 

Investment income in the private sector                   535,890,438                            -            535,890,438 

Total         269,386,477,539   (10,130,439,984)   259,256,037,555 

(a) Subordinated bonds acquired through the stock exchange at the rate of 12% and a five-year term.

c.9 Property, plant and equipment

The original values of property, plant and equipment and their accumulated depreciations are revalued up to the end of each year, pursuant to 
the change in the Consumer Price Index published by the Central Bank of Paraguay. According to this index, accumulated inflation of the years 
ended at December, 2017, and 2016, was 4.5% and 3.9%, respectively. The net increase of the revaluation reserve at the end of each the year is 
disclosed in the “Revaluation reserve” account of the Bank’s shareholders’ equity.

The cost of improvements or additions are recorded as assets, while maintenance and repairs that do not increase the value of the assets or 
their useful life are expensed in the year they occur.

Depreciations are computed as from the month after their addition to the Bank’s assets, through monthly charges to the results based on a 
straight-line basis, in the estimated years of useful life, except for the assets acquired in the merger process of Banco ABN AMRO Paraguay 
S.A., which continue with their original method and are computed as from the year after their addition. The residual value of revalued assets, 
taken as a whole, does not exceed the recoverable value thereof as of December 31, 2017, and 2016.
          
The composition of Property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2017, and 2016 is as follows:

Concept

ORIGINAL VALUE 

Balance at the 
beginning of the 

year
Additions Disposals Revaluation

Balance at the end 
of the year

Bank owned:

Real estate - Land 10,510,083,114 6,104,328,065 (2,905,565,412) 351,312,260 14.060.158.027

Real estate - Buildings 42,995,851,956 49,575,797,254 (16,183,927,899) 1,771,517,177 78.159.238.488

Furniture and office supplies 39,468,573,614 2,510,451,343 (2,556,554,720) 1,469,539,709 40,892,009,946

Computer hardware 59,185,005,881 6,007,961,934 (2,890,618,008) 1,557,065,183 63,859,414,990

Bank safe-deposit boxes 2,057,126,844 - (82,385,353) 61,717,433 2,036,458,924

Transport materials 1,856,857,737 - - 85,391,937 1,942,249,674

Taken leasing

Computer hardware 212,031,727 - (212,031,727) - -

As of December 31, 2017 156,285,530,873 64,198,538,596 (24,831,083,119) 5,296,543,699 200,949,530,049

As of December 31, 2016 149,004,768,473 9,568,276,221 (6,693,950,893) 4,406,437,072 156,285,530,873

Concept
Percentage 
of annual 

depreciation%

ACCRUED DEPRECIATION
Net amount at 
the end of the 

year

Balance al the 
beginning of the 

year
Additions Disposals Revaluation

Balance at the 
end of the year

Bank owned

Real estate - 
Land

0% - - - - - 14,060,158,027

Real estate - 
Buildings

2,50% (17,591,886,889) (1,025,697,473) 7,262,127,507 (715,006,298) (12,070,463,153) 66,088,775,335

Furniture and 
office supplies

10% (25,300,128,581) (4,280,454,573) 1,781,738,379 (854,464,974) (28,653,309,749) 12,238,700,197

Computer 
hardware

25% (44,438,778,477) (7,896,682,294) 2,874,548,418 (755,059,249) (50,215,971,602) 13,643,443,388

Bank safe - 
deposit boxes

10% (1,559,727,086) (137,646,344) 81,522,403 (41,718,851) (1,657,569,878) 378,889,046

Transport 
materials

20% (185,685,765) (380,335,315) - (16,653,780) (582,674,860) 1,359,574,814

Taken leasing

Computer 
hardware

25% (88,346,551) (53,007,936) 141,354,487 - - -

As of december 31, 2017 (89,164,553,349) (13,773,823,935) 12,141,291,194 (2,382,903,152) (93,179,989,242) 107,769,540,807

As of december 31, 2016 (78,116,107,075) (13,668,763,234) 4,388,270,114 (1,767,953,154) (89,164,553,349) 67,120,977,524

According to banking legislation, financial institutions operating in Paraguay are forbidden to pledge of PP&E, except for those affected to 
support of financial leasing operations and to the Central Bank of Paraguay.

The banking law sets a limit for investment in PP&E, which is 50% of effective equity. The book value of fixed assets of the Bank at December 
31, 2017 is within such limit.

c.10 Deferred charges

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, this account is comprised as follows:

Concept
Balance at the 

beginning of the 
year

Increases
Amortization for 

the year
Balance at the 
end of the year

As of December 31, 2017

Improvements and facilities in leased real estate(*) 4,730,685,577 - (2,031,034,217) 2,699,651,360

Office supplies and others 2,469,486,603 2,280,411,799 (2,947,741,342) 1,802,157,060

Total 7,200,172,180 2,280,411,799 (4,978,775,559) 4,501,808,420

As of December 31, 2016

Improvements and facilities in leased real estate(*) 6,461,089,632 1,244,423,664 (2,974,827,719) 4,730,685,577

Office supplies and others 2,301,959,009 3,219,336,411 (3,051,808,817) 2,469,486,603

Total 8,763,048,641 4,463,760,075 (6,026,636,536) 7,200,172,180

(*)  The Bank amortizes improvements and facilities in leased real property on a straight-line basis considering a useful life of 5 years.
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c.11 Bonds, debentures and bonds in circulation
a) Issued in local market

The chapter “Bonds, debentures and bonds issued into circulation” included in the items “Liabilities from financial transactions - not financial 
sector” of the balance sheet include subordinated bonds whose balance and detail of emissions to December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Autorization resolution 
issued by the Central 
Bank of Paraguay

Issuance 
currency

Issuance amount 
(*)

Maturity
Amount in issuance 

currency

Accounting 
balance at 

December 31, 
2017

Accounting balan-
ce at December 

31, 2016

00196/2010 PYG 25,000,000,000  1463 days 25,000,000,000                             -                              - 

00196/2010 PYG 25,000,000,000  1827 days 25,000,000,000                             -                              - 

00196/2010 PYG 20,000,000,000  1827 days 20,000,000,000                             -                              - 

00196/2010 PYG 20,000,000,000  1820 days 20,000,000,000                             - 20,000,000,000 

00196/2010 PYG  20,000,000,000  2002 days 20,000,000,000                             - 20,000,000,000 

Total PYG  (a) 110,000,000,000 110,000,000,000 

00196/2010  USD           5,000,000,00  1820 days 1,550,000                             -      8,938,741,500 

00196/2010  USD           5,000,000,00  2184 days                  428,000   2,392,721,160      2,468,246,040 

00027/2016  USD         10,000,000,00  2555 days              10,000,000  55,904,700,000    57,669,300,000 

00027/2016  USD           8,630,000,00  2555 days               8,630,000     48,245,756,100    49,768,605,900 

Total US$  (b)         28,630,000,00              20,608,000 

PYG equivalent total 106,543,177,260 158,844,893,440 

(a) The Central Bank of Paraguay has authorized, and the Bank has issued subordinated bonds in foreign currency up to an amount of USD 
10.000.000, and in local currency up to an amount of PYG 110.000.000.000 according to Resolution SB. SG. N° 00196/2010.

(b) Through Resolution SB. SG. N° 00027/2016, the Central Bank of Paraguay has authorized and the Bank has issued subordinated bond in 
foreign currency up to an amount of USD 18.630.000. In the resolution, The Central Bank of Paraguay also authorized the issue of subordina-
ted bonds in local currency up to an amount of PYG 50.000.000.000. At the end of the year, the Bank has not performed the issue of bonds in 
local currency.

Subordinated bonds will be convertible into shares, in the event the Bank needs to cover the minimum capital requirements set forth by law or 
to replace capital losses (Law 861/96). The subordinated bonds do not have the deposit guarantee protection provided in Law No. 2334/03.

b) Bonds issued abroad

The Extraordinary General Meeting Nº 39 dated April 26, 2013 approved the issue of bonds abroad for up to USD 300.000.000. On January 
16, 2014, the Bank issued bonds for an amount of USD 300 million. The titles were listed in Luxembourg and have a term of five years and an 
interest rate of 8.125% per annum (interest payable semiannually).
 
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the capital was included in the chapter of “Outstanding Bonds”, in the items “Bonds issued abroad - 
Financial Sector” for an amount of PYG 1,677,141,000,000 and PYG 1,730,079,000,000, respectively.

Additionally, the Bank is committed to comply with certain positive and negative covenants according to the offering memorandum, which are 
monitored by the Board and management of the Bank. As of December 31, 2017, there were no breaches of these clauses.

c.12 Limitations on available Assets or Equity and any other restrictions on property rights.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the following restrictions are over Assets and Equity:

a) Minimum and special cash requirement

The Central Bank of Paraguay account as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, includes PYG 1,220,257,545,256 and PYG 1,343,779,569,704, 
respectively, wich are restricted accounts held by the Bank as the minimum and special cash requirement. (See note c.3) 

b) Government Securities

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Bank has given Paraguayan treasury bonds for a total of PYG 

13,915,712,906 and PYG 15,070,361,325, respectively, as guarantees required by the Central Bank of Paraguay, under general regulations of 
the SIPAP. (See note c.4)

c) Legal reserve

According to Articule 27 of Law 861/96, financial institutions must have a reserve of not less than the equivalent of one hundred percent 
(100%) of its capital, which will be transferred annually not less than twenty percent (20%) of net profits of each financial year.

Also Article 28 of the Law 861/96 sets that the legal reserve resources are automatically applied to cover losses in the financial year. In the fo-
llowing years, the total profits must be allocated to the legal reserve until the minimum amount thereof, or the highest that has been obtained 
in the process of its formation is reached again.

At any time, the amount of the reserve could be further increased with cash contributions.

d) Indexation of capital stock:

According to Article 11 of the Law 861/96, financial institutions must update their capital annually according to Consume Prince Index 
(IPC) calculated by the Central Bank of Paraguay. The present value of the minimum capital requirement of the year 2017 and 2016 is PYG 
50,000,000,000 and PYG 46,552,000,000, respectively, according to Circular SB. SG. No. 005/2017 and Circular SB. SG. No. 006/2016 respec-
tively.
 
The integrated capital (common and preferred shares) of the Bank as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, is PYG 1,001,408,000,000 and PYG 
908,028,700,000 respectively; (See note b.5), which exceeds the minimum capital requirement. 

e) Distribution of earnings:

According to provisions of Law No. 861/96 “General Law on Banks, Financial and Other Credit Institutions”, financial institutions can distribute 
their earnings after the approval of their audited annual financial statements by the Banks Regulatory Authority, provided it grants its appro-
val within a period of one hundred and twenty days after year-end. After this term has elapsed without any findings by the Banks Regulatory 
Authority, earnings can be distributed.

The Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on April 28, 2017 approved the distribution of earnings of 2016 fiscal year as follows:

Item Currency Amounts
Booking of legal reserve PYG      51,819,939,278 

Capitalization of earnings  PYG      92,485,000,000 

Reserve Accumulated results  PYG      12,078,865,133 

Cash dividends - preferred shares  PYG      40,000,000,000 

Cash dividends - common shares  PYG      39,636,374,032 

 Total    236,020,178,443 

The Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on April 29, 2016 approved the distribution of earnings of 2015 fiscal year as follows:

Item Currency Amounts
Booking of legal reserve  PYG      45,975,151,811 

Capitalization of earnings  PYG    123,082,300,000 

Cash dividends - preferred shares  PYG      40,000,000,000 

Cash dividends - common shares  PYG        2,396,684,495 

 Total      211,454,136,306
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f) Preferred share dividends

According with the original terms of the issuance of preferred shares, the shareholders will grant them a preferred dividend of 18% 
of the net profits for the year. The Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting held on October 18, 2013 resolved to set the preferred 
dividend rate of 16% for the following five years (2014 to 2018).

g) Additional income tax for dividend distribution:

According to the provisions of Law 125/91, as amended by Law 2421/04, the distribution of cash earnings are taxed at the rate of 5%. 
The Entity records the additional charge of income tax in the year in which the Shareholders decides the distribution.

Moreover, according to the tax regime established by those laws, profits remitted to foreign shareholders are subject to a withholding 
tax of 15% for income tax.
 
h) Guarantees given in favor of Bancard S.A.:

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Bank has provided Bancard S.A. portfolio of credit card affinity Classical Mastercard up 
to the total of PYG 17,579,935,763 which guarantee the operations that result from the transactions of users in ATMs or points of 
sale (POS’s) of the Infonet Network, as well as the obligations that may arise as a result of the operations of credit cards of the 
MasterCard, VISA and Bancard Check brands.

c.13 Guarantees granted with respect to liabilities

As of December 31, 2017, the loans borrowed from GOVCO LLC, under an agreement with Citibank N.A. New York, and secured by 
Overseas Private Investment Corporation (OPIC), with a balance of USD 6,513,161 are guaranteed through customer promissory 
notes for a total value of USD 14,403,192.92

As of December 31, 2016, the loans borrowed from GOVCO LLC, under an agreement with Citibank N.A. New York, and secured by 
Overseas Private Investment Corporation (OPIC), with a balance of USD 10,065,792 are guaranteed through customer promissory 
notes for a total value of USD 18,473,335.55

Aditionally, the Bank is committed to comply certain financial, positive and negative covenants according to the contracts and 
agreements with multilateral credit institutions, and according to the offering memorandum, which are monitored by the Board and 
Management of the Bank. As of December 31, 2016 the financial covenants that are out of range have the approved waivers of the 
borrowers that support the validity of the terms originally agreed upon by said operations.

There are no other limitations to the free disposal of assets or equity nor other restrictions on property rights.

c.14 Distribution of performing loans and financial liabilities according to their maturity dates

Below are the placements and deposits as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, classified according to remaining maturity:

The balances includes interest accrued, forward contracts/repo and loan before allowances.

As of December 31, 2017

Item

Terms remaining to maturity

Up to 30 days
From to 31 days 
up to 180 days

From 181 days 
up to 1 year

Over 1 year up 
to 3 years

Over 3 years Total

Performing loans 

financial sector
144,378,794,317 227,380,516,290 43,465,140,219 56,723,006,028 38,932,106,104 510,879,562,958

Performing loans 

nonfinancial sector
963,648,917,713 3,486,440,176,275 1,258,464,137,778 1,992,110,505,695 2,926,214,504,941 10,626,878,242,402

Total Performing 
loans

1,108,027,712,030 3,713,820,692,565 1,301,929,277,997 2,048,833,511,723 2,965,146,611,045 11,137,757,805,360

Obligations finan-

cial sector
426,614,516,388 788,349,610,418 189,786,776,683 2,164,554,931,787 386,437,728,304 3,955,743,563,580

Obligations nonfi-

nancial sector
4,622,636,234,873 1,238,316,515,056 1,288,434,268,617 1,525,133,746,750 295.360,389,018 8,969,881,154,314

Total Obligations 5,049,250,751,261 2,026,666,125,474 1,478,221,045,300 3,689,688,678,537 681,798,117,322 12,925,624,717,894

As of December 31, 2016

Item

Terms remaining to maturity

Up to 30 days
From to 31 days 
up to 180 days

From 181 days 
up to 1 year

Over 1 year up 
to 3 years

Over 3 years Total

Performing loans 

financial sector
149,156,853,714 304,183,353,177 45,667,649,362 41,443,897,081 46,478,466,283 586,930,219,617

Performing loans 

nonfinancial sector
1,126,201,935,403 3,708,522,541,525 1,248,274,199,545 1,880,014,854,857 2,400,682,156,748 10,363,695,688,078

Total Performing
loans

1,275,358,789,117 4,012,705,894,702 1,293,941,848,907 1,921,458,751,938 2,447,160,623,031 10,950,625,907,695

Obligations financial 

sector
486,117,421,888 192,766,000,952 341,677,865,278 2,240,354,862,222 405,850,876,237 3,666,767,026,577

Obligations nonfi-

nancial sector
4,905,341,358,757 1,436,972,393,807 1,508,106,342,038 1,646,909,473,178 342,059,688,771 9,839,389,256,551

Total Obligations 5,391,458,780,645 1,629,738,394,759 1,849,784,207,316 3,887,264,335,400 747,910,565,008 13,506,156,283,128

Liquidity risk management: 

Liquidity risk, is the risk that a bank may encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations related to financial commitments that are settled 
with a delivery of cash or other financial asset. The Bank`s Board of Directors and Management control its liquidity mainly by matching the 
maturities of its assets and liabilities, pursuant to the short, medium and long term strategies in place and monitored on ongoing basis, for 
both assets and liabilities.

Additionally, the Bank has defined contingency plans for situations requiring temporary liquidity. The liquidity position is monitored and the 
liquidity stress tests are conducted on a regular basis in a variety of different scenarios that cover both normal market conditions and more 
severe ones. All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to the review and approval of the Assets and liabilities Committee and Board of 
Directors.
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c.15 Concentration of the loan and deposit portfolio

The concentration of portfolio held by the Bank as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, with the financial sector (SF) and nonfinan-
cial (SNF), is exposed both in its portfolio of performing loans and nonperforming loans as on its obligations intermediation financial.

a) Loans Portfolio 

Numbers of 
costumers

Amount and percentage of the Financial Sector 
loan portfolio

Amount and percentage of the Nonfinancial Sector loan 
portfolio

Performing PYG  
(*)

%
Nonperfor-

ming (*)
%

Performing PYG 
(*)

%
Nonperforming 

PYG (*)
%

As of december 31, 2017

10 largest borrowers 385,986,692,453 76% - 0% 905,234,810,922 9% 123,758,963,543 51%

50 next largest borrowers
124,892,870,505 24% - 0% 2,405,917,324,327 23% 90,747,891,637 38%

100 next largest 
borrowers

- 0% - 0% 2,158,131,608,878 20% 18,663,295,471 8%

Other largest borrowers - 0% - 0% 5,157,594,498,275 49% 8,218,376,798 3%

Total 510,879,562,958 100% - 0% 10,626,878,242,402 100% 241,388,527,449 100%

As of december 31, 2016

10 largest borrowers 354,790,372,520 60% 33,847,114,520 100% 924,181,085,312 9% 107,016,825,476 54%

50 next largest 
borrowers

232,139,847,097 40% - 0% 2,341,185,210,406 23% 65,510,071,367 33%

100 next largest 
borrowers

- 0% - 0% 1,900,673,594,802 18% 16,968,964,218 8%

Other largest borrowers - 0% - 0% 5,197,655,797,558 50% 10,374,809,994 5%

Total 586,930,219,617 100% 33,847,114,520 100% 10,363,695,688,078 100% 199,870,671,055 100%

(*) Includes interest, valuation earnings not accrued and forward contracts/repo, before allowances.

b) Deposits portfolio

 Numbers of 
costumers

Amount and percentage of deposit portfolio

Financial Sector
%

Nonfinancial Sector

Private Sector
%

Public Sector
%

PYG PYG PYG

As of december 31, 2017

10 largest depositors 291,507,070,185 54% 633,844,836,216 8% 950,100,534,731 97%

50 next largest depositors 214,818,659,762 40% 1,092,942,495,912 14% 25,998,328,530 3%

100 next largest depositors 31,518,761,585 6% 992,341,737,060 13% - 0%

Other depositors - 0% 5,044,108,176,916 65% - 0%

Total 537,844,491,532 100% 7,763,237,246,104 100% 976,098,863,261 100%

As of december 31, 2016

10 largest depositors 298,042,137,737 59% 721,712,324,614 9% 1,288,633,682,719 97%

50 next largest depositors 175,662,745,710 35% 1,225,330,740,468 15% 33,410,178,382 3%

100 next largest depositors 27,927,731,960 6% 1,053,082,278,322 13% - 0%

Other depositors - 0% 5,192,501,196,112 63% - 0%

Total 501,632,615,407 100% 8,192,626,539,516 100% 1,322,043,861,101 100%

 (*) Include amounts of current account and time deposits, without accrued interests at the end of the year.

c.15.2 Concentration by geographic area and currency

a) Loans portfolio

Item Loans to Financial Sector PYG(*) % Loans to Nonfinancial Sector PYG(*) %
As of December 31, 2017

Residents in Paraguay        510,032,814,943 100%      10,626,878,242,402 100%

Nonresidents in Paraguay               846,748,015 0%                                  -   0%

Sub-Total        510,879,562,958 100%      10,626,878,242,402 100%

Allowances               (59,917,086)         (154,881,735,631)

TOTAL 510,819,645,872 10,471,996,506,772

In local currency        286,188,979,016 56%        3,550,707,203,282 33%

In foreing currency        224,690,583,942 44%        7,076,171,039,120 67%

Sub-Total        510,879,562,958 100%      10,626,878,242,402 100%

Allowances               (59,917,086)         (154,881,735,630)

TOTAL 510,819,645,872 10,471,996,506,772

As of December 31, 2016

Residents in Paraguay        586,930,219,617 100%      10,363,695,688,078 100%

Nonresidents in Paraguay                                -   0%                                  -   0%

Sub-Total        586,930,219,617 100%      10,363,695,688,078 100%

Allowances               (78,824,666)         (177,913,081,221)

TOTAL 586,851,394,951 10,185,782,606,857

In local currency        321,919,077,128 55%        3,324,960,250,666 32%

In foreing currency        265,011,142,489 45%        7,038,735,437,412 68%

Sub-Total        586,930,219,617 100%      10,363,695,688,078 100%

Allowances               (78,824,666)         (177,913,081,221)

TOTAL 586,851,394,951 10,185,782,606,857

(*) Include accrued interest, valuation earnings not accrued and forward contracts/repo, before allowances.

b) Liabilities

As of December 31, 2017

Item Financial Sector PYG % Nonfinancial Sector PYG %
Residents in Paraguay 1,124,670,017,278 29% 8,751,326,394,674 98%

Nonresidents in Paraguay 2,731,699,590,649 71%          140,921,679,167 2%

Sub-Total (*)     3,856,369,607,927 100%   8,892,248,073,841 100%

Other liabilities(**)          99,373,955,653            77,633,080,473 

TOTAL     3,955,743,563,580       8,969,881,154,314 

In local currency 529,234,745,506 14% 3,775,171,992,503 42%

In foreing currency 3,327,134,862,421 86% 5,117,076,081,338 58%

Sub-Total (*)     3,856,369,607,927 100%    8,892,248,073,841 100%

Other liabilities (**)          99,373,955,653            77,633,080,473 

TOTAL     3,955,743,563,580       8,969,881,154,314 
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As of December 31, 2016

Item Financial Sector PYG % Nonfinancial Sector PYG %
Residents in Paraguay 996,807,750,496 29% 9,573,929,270,398 98%

Nonresidents in Paraguay 2,474,744,780,707 71%          147,187,267,083 2%

Sub-Total (*)     3,471,552,531,203 100%       9,721,116,537,481 100%

Other liabilities(**)        195,214,495,374          118,272,719,070 

TOTAL     3,666,767,026,577       9,839,389,256,551 

In local currency 424,037,980,556 12% 3,959,526,290,276 41%

In foreing currency 3,047,514,550,647 88% 5,761,590,247,205 59%

Sub-Total (*)     3,471,552,531,203 100%       9,721,116,537,481 100%

Other liabilities (**)        195,214,495,374          118,272,719,070 

TOTAL     3,666,767,026,577       9,839,389,256,551 

(*) Include amounts of demand deposits and time deposits without interest accrued to the closing date, direct loans from financial 
institutions, bonds outstanding and deferred documentary credits.
(**) Other liabilities include accrued interest not considered deposits and ATM transactions pending financial derivative.

c.15.3 Loan portfolio nonfinancial sector distributed by economic sector 

As of December 31, 2017

Economic Sector 
(**)

Loans to nonfinancial sector (*)
As of December 31, 2017

PYG %
Agriculture  2,452,910,168,605 23% 

Livestock activities  928,265,082,417 9% 

Industries  942,296,559,531 9% 

Retail trade  1,959,093,822,496 18% 

Wholesale business  687,977,349,861 6% 

Services  214,428,912,924 2% 

Consumer  390,799,486,932 4% 

Construction  119,885,584,025 1% 

Consumption-Housing  160,020,106,361 2% 

financial Intermediation  75,369,241,191 1% 

Government sector  19,865,126,311 0% 

Agribusiness  1,815,892,910,077 17% 

Sale, Maintenance and Repair of Vehicles  272,231,213,461 3% 

Personal services  422,044,675,641 4% 

Others  165,798,002,569 2% 

Total  10,626,878,242,402 100% 

(*) Includes interest income, unrealized valuations earnings and fordward contracts/repo, before allowances.
(**)Corresponds to the new classification for the new CIIU activities, modified by the Information Center in force this year 2017

As of December 31, 2016

Economic Sector
Loans to nonfinancial sector (*)

As of December 31, 2016

PYG %
Agriculture         4,463,524,317,711 43% 

Livestock activities            797,190,143,057 8% 

Industry            923,167,263,131 9% 

Retail trade         1,183,898,645,674 11% 

Wholesale business            776,596,721,727 7% 

Services            970,089,268,388 9% 

Consumer            412,365,264,739 4% 

Export            623,843,705,492 6% 

Consumption - housing            159,781,413,157 2% 

Government sector              19,781,400,144 0% 

Others              33,457,544,858 0% 

Total       10,363,695,688,078 100% 

(*) Includes interest income, unrealized valuations earnings and fordward contracts/repo, before allowances.

c.16 Credits and contingencies involving related parties

The balances with related parties each year end are as follows:

As of December 31, 2017

Item Book balance before 
allowances (*)

Allowances PYG Book balance net of 
allowances

Assets

Deposits in Financial Entities                   6,057,377,488                        -           6,057,377,488 

Performing loans (a)               204,771,539,416      (28,618,736)       204,742,920,680 

Credit-related contingencies                   7,732,939,708                        -           7,732,939,708 

Total           218,561,856,612   (28,618,736)   218,533,237,876 

Liabilities

Deposits                 53,852,893,091                        -         53,852,893,091 

Total             53,852,893,091                        -      53,852,893,091 

As of December 31, 2016

Item Book balance before 
allowances (*)

Allowances Book balance net of 
allowances

Assets

Deposits in Financial Entities                 1,837,979,621                       -                  1,837,979,621 

Performing loans (a)             200,408,269,296                       -              200,408,269,296 

Credit-related contigencies                 4,463,889,831                       -                  4,463,889,831 

Total         206,710,138,748                       -          206,710,138,748 

Liabilities

Deposits               44,502,378,031                       -                44,502,378,031 

Total           44,502,378,031                       -            44,502,378,031 

(a) The performing credits do not include accrued interest.
(b) Law 861/96 establishes limits for lending to related parties, which may not exceed an amount equivalent to 20% of the effective equity of 
the Bank.
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c.17 Other liabilities

This account as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Item December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Taxes payables     13,498,791,956   11,985,989,298 

Social security payables         566,085,385     1,078,608,556 

Dividends payable         520,684,140       188,490,857 

Financial lease payables                          -       124,382,876 

Accounts payable     40,707,021,022     1,768,555,015 

Cashier’s check issued     47,471,371,244   20,029,724,223 

Other liabilities       4,613,341,427     4,006,997,980 

Uncollected Perceived Income       2,308,791,577                        - 

Total   109,686,086,751   39,182,748,805 

c.18 Financial derivative

This chapter records the balance of the following transactions:

a) Forward Operations
Contracts are compulsory exchange of currencies in the future at a rate previously agreed between the parties (Foreing currency forwards) 
that are initially recognized at fair value conclusion. Thereafter, any change in that amount is credited to income, valuing at nominal value 
converted at spot prices start; and all contracts denominated in foreign currency are updated at the spot rate on each closing date of the 
financial statements.

b) Repo Operations

A repo operation occurs when the Bank acquires or transfers securities in exchange for the delivery of an amount of cash, assuming in the act 
a time commitment to transfer or acquire back the property of such securities to its “counterpart” values   of the same species and Features 
the same day or at a later date at a specified price.

Under regulations of the Central Bank of Paraguay repo transactions are recorded as part of “Financial derivative” in the chapter Performing 
loans and financial liabilities.

The amounts recorded in the interbank liquidity (Operations VLI) - Offer transactions are comprised of the amounts granted to BCP plus 
the agreed premiums. Also, the VLI - Demand Transactions refer to the irrevocable commitment to sell securities obtained by virtue of the 
transaction, which are in custody in BCP, at the nominal value of the securities to be transferred.

FINANCIAL SECTOR

a) Repo Operations  

Through VLI December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Debtors for future sale of purchased securities                               -          100,398,567,489 

Creditors for future sale of securities                               -         (107,497,360,949)

 b) Forward Operations

Forward purchases of foreing currency - Financial Sector December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Receivables from foreing currency forward transactions           8,088,258,830            6,037,688,301 

Creditors for foreign currency forward transactions         (8,391,068,489)           (6,025,000,000)

Forward sales of foreing currency - Nonfinancial Sector December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Receivables form sales transactions forward foreing currency           7,623,150,000                                -   

Creditors for operations through forward foreing currency         (7,379,420,400)                                -   

Total Forward contracts - Assets     15,711,408,830    106,436,255,790 

Total Forward contracts - Liabilities    (15,770,488,889)   (113,522,360,949)

Nonfinancial Sector

b)Forward Operations

Forward purchases of foreing currency-Nonfinancial Sector December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Debitors for purchase transactions forward foreing currency           3,370,048,816             3,479,866,640 

Creditors for purchase transactions forward foreing currency          (3,443,700,000)           (3,420,450,000)

Forward sales of foreing currency-Nonfinancial Sector December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Receivables from sales transactions forward foreing currency         11,188,000,000           37,967,000,000 

Creditors for operations through forward foreing currency        (11,188,915,446)         (37,905,864,055)

Total Forward contracts - Assets         14,558,048,816           41,446,866,640 

Total Forward contracts - Liabilities        (14,632,615,446)         (41,326,314,055)

c.19 Relevant information for the year

a) Issued subordinated bonds:

Given the need to strengthen the Bank’s effective assets and as a result of the constant and gradual increase in assets, on April 26, 2013, 
the Extraordinary General Assembly granted the Board the authority to issue subordinated bonds in Paraguayan Guaranies and USD, up to a 
Maximum equivalent to PYG 150,000,000,000.

The Board of Directors approve, in Acts No. 008/2015 dated August 18, 2015 and No. 010/2015 dated November 25, 2015, the issue of 
subordinated bonds under the schedules of the Global Issuance denominated G2 and USD2, by PYG 50,000,000,000 and USD 18,630,000 
respectively.

According the resolution SB. SG. No. 00027/2016 of February 26, 2016, the Superintendence of Banks has authorized the issuance of 
Subordinated Bonds in local and foreign currency up to a maximum equivalent amount of PYG 150,000,000,000.

Below the emission, data are displayed:

Serie Issue currency Issue amount Date of issue Due Date Expiry date
1 US$ 10,000,000 4/25/2016 4/24/2023 2555 days

2 US$ 8,630,000 5/26/2016 5/25/2023 2555 days

Total 18,630,000

With respect to subordinated bonds in Guaranies, as of the date of issuance of these financial statements, the Bank has not yet offered in 
the market.
 b) Agricultural Sector Situation:

During the years 2014 and 2015 the international prices of cereals have suffered a significant decrease that has affected the agricultural 
producers of the region and that could extend to the whole chain production and commercialization of these products. The fall in the price of 
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commodities had a direct and indirect impact on the income of a large number of national producers and collectors, generating during the 
current year an increase in arrears throughout the system and, consequently, in the allowances. The measures taken by the Bank, since 
mid-2015, have made it possible to correct the situation and mitigate the impact, with the year closed with a controlled level of arrears. The 
increase in expenditure on allowances confirms that the Bank have the ability to successfully cope with a slowdown economic cycle, and 
even maintain positive growth rates in the portfolio and profits. Some of these measures have been based on refinancing or restructurings 
of the portfolio, and constitution of generic and specific allowances, application of guarantees and adjudication of guarantees in certain 
cases.

c) Bank Law:

On December 19, 2016, the Executive Power put in force Law No. 5.787/16. This Law modifies several articles of the Law 861/96 of 
Banks, Financial and Other Credit Entities. The new Law in force allows greater powers to the Central Bank of Paraguay to provide, through 
resolutions, modifications on the required minimum capital, calculation of the effective equity and risk weights, among others. 

It also applies greater requirements in the provision of information on shareholders, regardless of the percentage of participation in 
regulated entities, and communication on change in the directive board of the regulated entity. The financial entities operating in Paraguay 
must comply with the new regulatory environment insofar as the Central Bank of Paraguay issues the regulations of the Law.

D. EQUITY

d.1. Effective equity

The effective equity is used for determining limits and operational restrictions established by the Superintendence of Banks of the Central 
Bank of Paraguay, for financial entities operating in Paraguay.

The Bank’s effective equity as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, is PYG 1,606,129,000,000 and PYG 1,438,346,000,000, respectively.

Law 5787 dated December 19, 2016 establishes the composition of the principal capital (Level 1) and of the complementary capital (Level 
2) of the financial entities, for the purpose of calculating their equity solvency. This Law also establishes the minimum proportion that must 
always exist between the principal capital and the amount of risk-weighted assets and contingents, in national or foreign currency, including 
its branches in the country and abroad, which do not may be less than 8% In the case of the minimum proportion between the principal capital 
(Level 1) and the complementary capital (Level 2) jointly and the total amount of the assets and contingencies of a financial institution 
weighted by their risk, in national or foreign currency, including its branches in the country and abroad, may not be less than 12% nor required 
greater than 14%.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Bank effective equity is as follows:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Tier 1 - Main capital 14,63% 13,82%

Tier 2 - Main capital + Supplementary capital 17,70% 17,32%

d.2. Minimum Capital

The minimum capital indexed for inflation in 2016, according to Central Bank of Paraguay provisions on this matter, is mandatory for banks 
operating in the Paraguayan financial system to hold as paid in capital at least an amount of PYG 50,000,000,000 as of December 31, 2017 
and PYG 46,552,000,000 as of December 31, 2016. The eventual deficit of capital with regard to the minimum capital required annually must 
be canceled prior to the end of the first six months of each year.

As of December 31, 2017, and 2016, the Bank had a paid in capital in common and preferred shares of PYG 1,001,408,000,000 and PYG 
908,028,700,000, respectively, which exceeded the minimum amount required by Central Bank of Paraguay regulations as of such dates.

d.3.Prior year adjustments

The Plan and Manual of Accounts of Central Bank of Paraguay sets that prior year’s adjustments must be record in the income statement. 
At December 31, 2017, the net prior year adjustment is a profit of PYG. 3,843,791,219 included in the chapter “Prior year adjustments” (at 
December 31, 2016 profit of PYG. 527,424,229).

E.  CONCERNING THE CONTINGENCIES AND MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS

a) Contingency accounts 

The balance of contingency accounts as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 corresponds to credit lines approved to debtors for credit card tran-
sactions, loans granted in current accounts, and other approved credit lines pending of utilization. These credit lines as a whole do not exceed 
10% of total assets.

The Bank has recorded in contingency accounts the following balances related to commitments or responsibilities:

Items December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Guarantees provided 220,331,893,493 159,046,344,789

Documentary letters of credits to be 
negotiated

139,396,169,326 111,178,079,997

Lines of credit to be used in current accounts 270,572,287,784 237,293,592,305

Lines of credit to be used through credit 
cards

294,928,774,947 269,762,375,368

Total 925,229,125,550 777,280,392,459

b) Memorandum accounts

The accounts are comprised as follows:

Items December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Guarantees received 11,861,944,246,667 11,553,384,907,068

Administration of securities and deposits 876,886,644,838 1,206,112,236,436

Documentary collection 28,883,903,614 44,308,599,872

Sale and transfer of portfolio 540,266,487,258 375,309,639,817

Other memorandum accounts 616,325,933,654 558,167,173,426

Total           13,924,307,216,031           13,737,282,556,619 

F.  INFORMATION REGARDING INCOME STATEMENT

f.1 Recognition of income and loss

The Bank applied the accrual method in recognizing income and allocating expenses and costs incurred, with the following exceptions 
referred to the fact that income is recognized as profit upon collection, as set forth by Resolution No. 1, Record No. 60 issued by the Central 
Bank of Paraguay on September 28, 2007, and its subsequent amendments and additions:

a) Interest accrued and not collected from borrowers with nonperforming loans and valuation earnings not accrued;
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f.2 Foreing Exchange difference

Foreign exchange differences related to assets and liabilities in foreign currency are shown as net amounts in the “Valuation of assets and 
liabilities in foreign currency” line of the statement of income, and their breakdown is as follows:

Item December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

Income from valuation of financial assets and liabilities in foreing currency 4,407,229,100,116 5,976,102,393,434

Loss from valuation of financial assets and liabilities in foreing currency (4,403,881,591,308) (5,982,893,420,901)

Net foreing exchange differences on financial assets and liabilities in foreing currency 3,347,508,808 (6,791,027,467)

Income form valuation of other assets and liabilities in foreing currency 17,778,452,253 25,061,501,228

Loss from valuation of other assets and liabilities in foreing currency (15,389,721,153) (21,984,879,127)

Net foreing exchange differences on other assets and liabilities in foreing 
currency - profit

2,388,731,100 3,076,622,101

Net foreing exchange differences on total assets and liabilities in foreing currency - 
profit (loss)

5,736,239,908 (3,714,405,366)

As described in point (c) of note f.1 above, the foreign exchange differences related to loans in foreign currency that are nonperforming 
and/or performing and classified in categories “3”, “4”, “5” and “6”, are recognized as income when they are collected.

The net foreign exchange differences from foreign exchange and arbitrage transactions are disclosed in the lines of the statement of 
income called “Other operating income - Gains for exchange and arbitrage operations”. 

f.3 Contributions to the Deposit Guarantee Fund (FGD)

Under the provisions of Law No. 2334 dated December 12, 2003, financial institutions provide mandatory funds to the FGD administered 
by the Central Bank of Paraguay an amount equivalent to the 0.12% of the quarterly average balances of its portfolio of deposits in local 
and foreign currency, on a quarterly basis.

The amount contributed by the company to FGD for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 amounted to PYG 48,004,132,710 
and PYG 49,347,928,520, respectively. The amounts contributed by the Bank to the DGF, are not recoverable and are included in the line 
“General Expenses” of the chapter “Other operating expenses” of the Statement of Income.

f.4 Income tax

Income tax which is charged to the results for the year at a rate of 10% is based on book income before tax, adjusted by the items that the 
law and its regulations include or exclude for the determination of net taxable income.

The income tax charger to results of the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, amounts to total PYG 18,198,704,353 and PYG 
23,079,517,948, respectively. This amount does not include the accrual of the additional 5% rate related to the distribution of earnings 
mentioned in note c.12.g). The Bank books this additional income tax charge in the year in which the Shareholders’ Meeting decides the 

b) Interest accrued and not collected related to borrowers and credits classified in categories 2 (not by subjective criteria), 3, 4, 5 and 6. 
Which are recognized as profit upon collection.

c) Valuation earnings not accrued not accrued of performing and nonperforming loans in foreign currency, which are classified in categories 2 
(not by subjective criteria), 3, 4, 5 and 6.  Which are recognized as profit upon collection.

d) Deferred income from sale of assets in installments, which are recognized as revenue when the loans are collected;

e) Valuation earnings not accrued from sale of assets in installments.

f) Certain fees for banking services.

distribution. The charge is recorded in the chapter “Other operating expenses” of the Statement of Income.

f.5  Recognition of the effects of inflation

No adjustment for inflation procedures have been applied, except as mentioned in note c.9.

G. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On March 16, 2018, the Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting approved the audited financial statements as of December 31, 2017. In addi-
tion, and in virtue of Note SB. SG. N ° 395/2018 dated 03/14/2018 issued by the Superintendency of Banks of the Central Bank of Paraguay, 
requesting certain accounting adjustments below the materiality thresholds established in its own technical standards, the Ordinary Share-
holders’ Assembly took notice and accepted the terms of the aforementioned Note SB.SG N ° 395/2018 with the respective accounting effects 
on the aforementioned approved financial statements.

In order to formalize the accounting effects derived from Note SB.SG N ° 395/2018, which were accepted by the Ordinary General Shareholders’ 
Meeting on March 16, 2018, the Board of Directors of the Entity, voluntarily, resolved to proceed to the restatement of the financial statements 
as of December 31, 2017.

Francisco Furman S.
General  Accountant

Roland Wolf
Syndic

Eugenio Oze de Morvil
General Manager 

Raúl Vera Bogado
President
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OPINIONS AND 
RISK RATING

4.4.

4.4.1. EXTERNAL AUDIT OPINION
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Encarnación, March 5, 2018

Messrs. 

S H A R E H O L D E R S  o f  B A N C O  R E G I O N A L  S . A . E . C . A . 

In compliance with provisions in Article No. 1124, paragraph e) of the Paraguayan Civil Code, I hereby present 

to the Regular General Meeting of Shareholders of Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A., called for March 16 of this year, my 

written report and opinion on the report, inventory, balance sheet and income statement for the year 2017. 

I have learnt of the opinion of independent auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers on the financial statements of 

Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. corresponding to the year ended December 31, 2017, that was issued without objections 

on February 28, 2018; likewise, I have received the information needed on the operations of the Company and I 

have complied with all applicable aspects according to the Article No. 1124 of the Paraguayan Civil Code. 

In my opinion, based on the analysis of these documents, I consider that the economic and financial situation 

exposed in them reasonably reflect the legal and financial standing of the Company in all regards. 

Therefore, I advise the Regular General Meeting of Shareholders to approve the report of the Board, the inventory, 

the balance sheet and the corresponding income statement of Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A., presented as of 

December 31, 2017. 

It is my opinion. 

Roland Wolff

Regular Trustee

4.4.2. trustee’s opinion 4.4.3. RISK RATING

International Agencies Perspectiva

MOODY’S – Foreign Currency LT Ba2/Not Prime Stable

MOODY’S – Local Currency LT Ba1/Not Prime Stable

S&P Global BB Stable

Agencias Locales
FELLER RATE Aapy Strong (+)
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